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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 

Mon, 5 Apr 202116:28:49 +0000 
l(b)(6) I 
McVicker, Carrie A .... f b_)(6_> _______________ ____, 

Subject: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
Attachments: 04890714 - 2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 

Per conversation with l(b);~JIJm re-assigning tol<t>Jta> ~he Case number is 4890714 and 
I made this sensitive in WS. Also note, this wi ll not be sent out at 3pm today. 

Respectfully 

Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20420-0001 

Office Cell 

l
(b)(6i I 
~---~Desk (Wed/Thurs) 

"No mission too difficult, no sacrifice too great." 

OTC Helpdesk 
VIEWS CCM WEB-BASED TRAINING 
VIEWS Resource Center 

From: McVicker, Carrie AJ(b){6) @va.gov> 

To ~bl(5) @va.gov> 
Se1t· Monday Amil S 2021 8·14 AM 

Cc bJ(6) l@va.gov>; ._fb_)<6_) _________ ~@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

l(b){B) ~ I am thinking because of the names in the letter -we should not put this out at 3ptn today. Lets 

figure out who the writer is and thenfb1(6) ~nd I can work with her directly on how to get the right offices 
in on this. 

Thanks! 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 

(bJ(ffl 
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From: McVicker, Carrie A. 

Sent: Saturday, April 3, 202110:19 AM 

To:rb)(6) gya.gov> 

Cc: l@va .gov>JLb_H_6) _________ --1'~--'-'va= . ..,.go-=c...c.v> 
Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

For early Monday. Lets quickly identify a writer. This will be LEAN. We will need an interim for Monday 

as well. 

Thanks! 

l(b){6) I 
I he Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 

Department of Veterans Affairs 

r )(6) p va.gov 

Fromf b){B) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: 1,,..Fr-id~a _____________ _r-~ ~ 

To b)(6) 

o nson, enn 

McClain, Kimberly A. 
(b)/6) va. av> 

Subject: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Please see attached letter from Senator Grassley in his role as Ranking Member of the Committee on the 

Judiciary- he is requesting a response by APRIL 16 

Respectfully, 

l(b)(6) 

Congressional Relations Officer I Department of Veterans Affairs 

2026 Rayburn House Ofc. Bldg., Washington, DC 20515 
Desk:l(b){6) l Mobile:fb)(B) I 
https:/f,_~_)f6_l _____________________ ___, 

From1..fb_)(6_l ________________ .i-~~j_u_di_c_ia_ry--_re~p,_._se_n_a_t_e~.g,_o_v> 

Sent: Friday, April 2, 20215:02 PM 
To b)(6) 

Cc (bJ(6) 

av> 

.senate. ov>; CEG (Judiciary-Rep) 
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bl(6J ·udiciar -re .senate. ov> 

u Ject: [EXTERNAL] 2021-04-02 CEG to VA 

Hell1 .... b_Jf6_> __ _. 

Please find the attached letter from Senator Grassley to the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. 

Please confirm receipt of this letter. Thank you. 

Best Regards, 

rb)(6} i 
lavestigative Couosel 

Ranking Member Charles E. Grassley 

U.S. Senate Committee 011 the Judicia1y 
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6~~~~\~1~:~t,;,,1:~~i~IA fi::~i: J ;::,~~U:~h9~,1 r.~•IOl!~ 
IU◄f ln(1N WHl1't tlf)4,l';I , t\l ltlllf' 1,1 Af',jtl .IOUN (l(illN'fN, n,A., 
~Mnl.Otli!Cttl\~. MINNU<n" Mtr~AII • LE( illAM 
UdUt. IOflttlA A. «)QNS, OE~WA.Ae H·U tmuz. It )(AS 
t<IUtARl:)MLUMf:NlHAl CONN£Cll lf.\J1 tJlN~~r1 ~u~,t~S..:I\ 
W\Jlfs !o! ,Hl~QNO, W\WAll JOSklJAO. HAWLEY. MISSOUN 
C:O"'IAUO(Jli'..Crt,Nl\'\"..ltRaE't' TOMCOTlt)N AfU~N~O 
Al_l:"I PAOILLA,('ALJFOON1A ,JQMN ~fNNf OV ll1UIStANI\ ,o~ouo,, cH·o-.olA 1140 .., t11 11,,Nrnc 1HcJARt>1 1NA 

Mo\Jl''nll,,, OJA~lt~l.14lN llNNtt)~ I 

April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.1 Page 1 of 19 

1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 000666

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.4 Page 4 of 19 

1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RE LIEF 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 19 

Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: .... l(b_}f6_l ___ ___. 
Sent: Mon, 5 Apr 202117:05:22 +0000 
To: (b)(S) (OGct b)(6) to1G) ;tb)(6) 

L-(b_}(6_) -----=::-----------c:-:'.~-----...(OAWPf b)(S} I 
(OAWP (b)(S) OAWP b)(B} (OIG);Hogan, Michael R. (OGC);Barrans, ~------~ 
David (OGC) 

r,t"t::;;-------,__-;,::-;-;;;;-----,,.JOGC);OGC Personnel Law Group Supervisor (b)(6) 
._<b_)<S_J _.,....,,.,. ___ ____. ..... o_G_c_,,_(b_)<_s) __ __,oGC)i(b)f6) IOGC)~b-)f6_l ----~ 
(OGC) (b)f6} OGC) ...._ ______ __,. 

Subject: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
Attachments: 2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 
Importance: High 

Good afternoon OGC, OAWP, OIG, OCLA and OSC Liaisons: 

This is an invitation for the appropriate subject matter experts (SMEs)from your respective organizations 
to attend an urgent collaboration call to discuss and develop the Department's response to the attached 
incoming letter. This is a sensitive close hold matter and, therefore, it is requested that you and your 

organization's SM Es limit the circulation of this and future communications about this issue to only 

the SMES who have a need to know. 

Please let me know if you have any questions 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or m obile app 

Click here to ioin the meeting 

Or call in (audio only) 

+1 872-70"1 ~0785J .... b-)(B-)-----.I United States, Chicago 

Phone Conference 1cf..,.b_)(B_J_ -,-__ ~ 
Find a local number I Reset PIN 

Learn More I Meeting options 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
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Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 19 

Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 
0517:00:00 
Attachments: 
VA (1).pdf 

Forwarding for review 

Program Analyst 

Mon, 5 Apr 202119:20:45 +0000 
j<bl(6) I 
(b)(6) 

FW: Provide Concurrence - VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-

4890714 - Interim Response (1).docx, 4890714 - INCOMING 2021-04-02 CEG to 

Office of Congressional and Legislative Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave1 NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

l(b)(6) I 

Fromj<b1(6"J ~va.gov> 
Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 2:26M 

To~bj(6) ~va.gov> 
Su Ject: Provide Concurrence- VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-05 17:00:00 

A new case task was created on: 2021-04-05 14:15:15 and assigned to OCLA. 

Please see details below. 
Case Subject: Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Primary MOC: 

Signature Level: SECVA 

Task Created By:fb)(GJ tpva.gov 

Office: OSVA-001B Executive Secretariat 

Organization: OSVA 

Task Name: LCT-280216 

Due Date is on: 2021-04-05 17:00:00 

Action Requested: Provide Concurrence 
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Requested Activity: Please secure OCLA's final concurrence on the attached 
int erim response to Senat or Grassley .. The incoming letter also attached. 

To view case Task details and to provide response, please use the link below: 
httos:/ J b)(7)(E1 

b)f7)(E) 

Thank you! 

For help with the VIEWS CCM, please contact your VIEWS Office Coordinator 
(VOC). A list of VOC's is available on the VIEWS Resource Center 
(httos:/ A(b)l7)(E) 

b)(7){E) 
I 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 000729

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.3 Page 3 of 19 

1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 000732

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.6 Page 6 of 19 

1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 



(21-08490-F) - 000749

Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 
0517:00:00 
Attachments: 

Concur w/edit 

rb)(6) J 
Mon, 5 Apr 202119: 0:30 +0000 

l(b)(6) 

RE: Provide Concurrence - VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-

4890714 - Interim Response (1).docx 

From:l1b)(6) ~Va.gov> 
Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 3:21 PM 
To:~b)f6) ~va.gov> 
ccfb)(fiJ @va.gov>; .,,.fb..,..,,)(6=l ---------,~va.gov> 

Subject: FW: Provide Concurrence -VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-05 17:00:00 

l{b)(6) 

Forwarding for review 

Program Analyst 
Office of Congressional and Legislative Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washin ton, DC 20420 
b)(6) 

Froml(b)(6) @va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 20212:26 PM 
To:l(bi(fi) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: Provide Concurrence - VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-05 17:00:00 

A new case task was created on : 2021-04-05 14:15:15 and assigned to OCLA. 

Please see details below. 

Case Subject: Lette r from Sena t o r G rassley t o SECVA 

Primary MOC: 

Signature Level: SECVA 

Task Created ByfbJtfiJ tpva.gov 
Office: OSVA-OO1B Executive Secretariat 

Organization: OSVA 
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Task Name: LCT-280216 
Due Date is on: 2021-04-05 17:00:00 
Action Requested : Provide Concurrence 
Requested Activity: Please secure OCLA's fina l concurrence on the attached 
interim response to Senat or Grassley .. The incoming lett er also attached. 

To view case Task details and to provide response, please use the link below: 
https:/ ) b)(?)(E} 

b)(l)(E) 

Thank you! 

For help with the VIEWS CCM, please contact your VIEWS Office Coordinator 
(VOC). A list of VOC's is available on the VIEWS Resource Center 
( https :!J b)(7)(E) 

(b)(7)(E) 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 
0517:00:00 
Attachments: 
Response (1).docx 

Concur w/1 edit 

l(b)(6) I 

Mon, 5 Apr 202119:41:25 +0000 
b)(6J 

FW: Provi e Concurrence - VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due. Date: 2021-04-

4890714 - INCOMING 2021-04-02 CEG to VA (1).pdf, 4890714 - Interim 

Director, Congressional Liaison Service and Outreach Team 
Office of Congressiona l and Legislative Affairs 

~b)(6) I 

Fromjfb)(B) ~va.gov> 

Se nt: Monday, April 5, 2021 3:21 PM 

To:~b)(GJ ~va.gov> 
Cc: b)C6> @va.gov>Jb)(G) ~va.gov> 

Subject: FW; Provide Concurrence - VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-05 17;00:00 

Forwarding for review 

rb)(6) i 
Program Analyst 
Office of Congressional and Legislative Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Wasbinpton Df 20420 

l(b)(6) 

FromlLrb_)m_) ________ J~- va_._g_ov> 
Se nt: Monda A ril 5 2021 2:26 PM 
To (b)(6) va. oV> 
SubJect: Provi e Concurrence - VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-05 17:00:00 

A new case t ask was created on: 2021-04-05 14:15:15 and assigned to OCLA. 

Please see det ails below. 
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Case Subject: Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
Primary MOC: 
Signature Level: SECVA 

Task Created By:l(b)(6> ~ va.gov 

Office: OSVA-0018 Executive Secretariat 
Organization : OSVA 

Task Name: LCT-280216 
Due Date is on: 2021-04-05 17:00:00 
Action Requested: Provide Concurrence 
Requested Activity: Please secure OCLA's final concurrence on the attached 
interim response to Senator Grassley .. The incoming letter also attached. 

To view case Task details and to provide response, please use the link below: 
httos:/l(bl(7HEl 
(b)(l)(EJ 

Thank you! 

For help with the VIEWS CCM, please contact your VIEWS Office Coordinator 
(VOC). A list of VOC's is available on the VIEWS Resource Center 
( https :/ A(b)(7)1EJ 

b)(?l(E) 
I 
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Mo\Jl''nll,,, OJA~lt~l.14lN llNNtt)~ I 

April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 
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3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 
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5 

6 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: 
Sent: Mon, 5 Apr 202119:51:34 +0000 
To: l(b)(6) I 
Subject: 
0517:00:00 

RE: Provide Concurrence - VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-

Uploaded to #4890714/CATT-334911. 

Froml._Cb_J(fi_1 ___________ _.@va.goV> 

A ril 5 2021 3:41 PM 
va.gov>;fb){Bl ~va.gov> 

Cc: b)(6J @va.gov> 

Subje ct: RE: Provide Concurrence - VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-05 17:00:00 

Concur w/edit 

From:ICb)(fi) l@va.gov> 

Sent: Monda , A ril 5, 20213:21 PM 
To: (b)(6) va. ov> 

r----~--------~ 
Cc: b)(6} va. ov>; l(b)(B) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Provide Concurrence - VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-05 17:00:00 

Forwarding for review 

fbl(6) I 
Program Analyst 
Office of Congressional and Legislative Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 

Washington. ~c 20420 
l(bl(6) 

From!(b)(fi) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 2:26 PM 

To:fbH6} ~va.gov> 
Subject: Provide Concurrence - VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-05 17:00:00 

A new case t ask was created on: 2021-04-05 14:15:15 and assigned to OCLA. 

Please see det ails below . 

Case Subject: Letter from Senator Grassley to SECV,l\ 
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Primary MOC: 
Signature Level: SECVA 

Task Created Byj(b)(fi) 1@va.gov 

Office: OSVA-001B Executive Secretariat 
Organization: OSVA 

Task Name: LCT-280216 
Due Date is on: 2021-04-05 17:00:00 
Action Requested: Provide Concurrence 
Requested Activity: Please secure OCLA's final concurrence on the attached 
interim response to Senator Grassley .. The incoming letter also attached. 

To view case Task details and to provide response, please use the link below: 
httos:/ l(b)(7)(E) 

(b)(7)(El 

Thank you! 

For help with the VIEWS CCM, please contact your VIEWS Office Coordinator 
(VOC). A list of VOC's is available on the VIEWS Resource Center 
(https:/ J1(bJ(7)(EJ 

(b)(7)(E) 

I 

I 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

Michael, 

Doris L. Gruntmeir 

Gruntmeir, Doris (OGC) 
Mon, S Apr 2021 20:50:38 +0000 
Ho an Michael R. OGC) 

b)(6) (OGC) 

RE: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 

Chief Counsel, Personnel Law Group 
Office of General Counsel 
Tel. l/bl{6) I 
----Original Appointment---
Fromfblf6) l oGC)~jtb_)f6_/ ____ ~ @va.gov> On Behalf otf~bl_(6_J ___ ~ 
Sent: Monday, April s, 2d21 4:06 PM 
To: OGC Personnel Law Group Supervisors 
Subject: FW: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
When: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:00 AM-11:00 AM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 
Where: Microsoft Teams Meeting 
Importance: High 

Good afternoon, 

I just wanted to confirm that we received this one? 

-----Original Appointment--
Fromj<b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 4:02 PM 
To b)f6) OGC bl(6J (OIG); 
(b)(6) 

(OAWP) fbl16) (OAWP) ll)f6) (OIG) 

Subject: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
When: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:00 AM-11:00 AM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 
Where: Microsoft Teams Meeting 
Importance: High 

Good afternoon._l(b_J<5_> --~ 

I want to make sure that PLG received this collab call mtg request on a sensitive matter. 
If this has already been received, please disregard my message. 
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Thank you. 

Sincerely, 

r··, I 
Executi.ve Assistant to t11c General Counsel 
Office of General Counsel Suite 1030 
Depa1i111ent of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20240 
OGC Main: i<bJ(6) 
Direct: ~!(b_)(6_) ___ ~ 
Fax: 202-273-91 99 
Cel I: fb}(6) I 

-----Original Appointment-----
From~b)<6) wva,gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 1:05 PM 
To (b)(6) (OGC); b)f6) 

b)(6) (OAWP) b)(6) AWP (b)(fi) 

b)(6) OAWP) (blf61 (OIG) ~-~ 

Subject: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
When: Tuesday, Apri l 6, 202110:00 AM-11:00 AM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 
Where: Microsoft Teams Meeting 
Importance: High 

Good afternoon OGC, OAWP, OIG, OCLA and OSC Liaisons: 

This is an invitation for the appropriate subject matter experts (SMEs)from your respective organizations 
to attend an urgent collaborat ion call to discuss and develop the Department's response t o the attached 
incoming letter. This is a sensitive close hold matter and, therefore, it is requested that you and your 

organization's SM Es limit the circulation of this and future communications about this issue to only 
the SMES who have a need to know. 

Please let me know if you have any questions 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 
Click here to join the meeting 
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Or call in (audio only) 

+1 872-701 -018sf"""b,...,..,)(6,,....)-----,I United States, Chicago 

Phone Conference I ol(b)(5) I 
Find a local number I Reset PIN 

Learn More I Meeting options 
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RK;HMO ,j DUklllN, ll.UNC:>lli., t.ll~IM 

6~~~~\~1~:~t,;,,1:~~i~IA fi::~i: J ;::,~~U:~h9~,1 r.~•IOl!~ 
IU◄f ln(1N WHl1't tlf)4,l';I , t\l ltlllf' 1,1 Af',jtl .IOUN (l(illN'fN, n,A., 
~Mnl.Otli!Cttl\~. MINNU<n" Mtr~AII • LE( illAM 
UdUt. IOflttlA A. «)QNS, OE~WA.Ae H·U tmuz. It )(AS 
t<IUtARl:)MLUMf:NlHAl CONN£Cll lf.\J1 tJlN~~r1 ~u~,t~S..:I\ 
W\Jlfs !o! ,Hl~QNO, W\WAll JOSklJAO. HAWLEY. MISSOUN 
C:O"'IAUO(Jli'..Crt,Nl\'\"..ltRaE't' TOMCOTlt)N AfU~N~O 
Al_l:"I PAOILLA,('ALJFOON1A ,JQMN ~fNNf OV ll1UIStANI\ ,o~ouo,, cH·o-.olA 1140 .., t11 11,,Nrnc 1HcJARt>1 1NA 

Mo\Jl''nll,,, OJA~lt~l.14lN llNNtt)~ I 

April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RE LIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 000816

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.19 Page 19 of 19 

1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 19 

Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: ._[b_)f6_> ___ __. 

Sent: Tue, 6 Apr 202112:36:56 +0000 
To: b)(6) OGd b)(Bj lo1G)fbl(6) 

L..(b_){6_) --==:-------,. __ .,,..,.,,,,.,..----------"'!OAWP)j(b)(6) I 
(OAWP) (b}ffi) OAWP {b)(fi} OIG);Hogan, Michael R. (OGC);Barrans, ~-------' 
David (OGC) 
Cc: GC ·OGC Personnel Law Grou 

{b)(fi) OGC /b}{6) OGC b~fi) OGC .r:c(b..,.,)(6=-=-)'--"'-;;....;..,;;....c,_'--'--'---=-'>---___J 

(OGC);,_b_H6_) _____ __,(OGC);Gruntmeir, Doris (OGC) b)(B) OGC) ,__ ______ ...., 
Subject: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
Attachments: 2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 
Importance: High 

Late notice, but please join the call if you can,. 

Mike 

-----Original Appointment-----
Fromfb}(6) ~Va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 2021 9:44 AM 
To (b)(6} OGC · (b)(G) (OIG) !b)(G) 

bl(fi) OAWP (b)(6) (OAWP); (b)f6) 
~----' 

(b)(6) OAWP (b)(G) (OIG); Hogan, Michael R. (OGC); Barrans, David (OGC) 

Cc b)(B) OGC); OGC Personnel Law Group Supervisors;l(b}f6) I 
(OGC) Cb)(B> oGC)i<bJ(6) loGC);~o><61 I ro ..,,..Gc.,..,.)""""; ._1

1"""
0

_1""(0~, ~~~~~~~~~-=1..,...(0=-G-C) 
Subject: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
When: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:00 AM-11:00 AM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 
Where: Microsoft Teams M eeting 
Importance: High 

Good afternoon OGC, OAWP, OIG, OCLA and OSC Liaisons: 

This is an invitation for the appropriate subject matter experts (SMEs)from your respective organizations 
to attend an urgent collaboration call to discuss and develop the Department's response to the attached 
incoming letter. This is a sensitive close hold matter and, therefore, it is requested that you and your 

organization's SM Es limit the circulation of this and future communications about this issue to only 

the SMES who have a need to know. 

Please let me know if you have any questions 
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Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 

Click here to join the meeting 

Or call in (audio only) 

+ 1 872-701-0185,~b)(6) I United States, Chicago 

Phone Conference IDf .... b_)(5_> ____ _,I 
Find a local number I Reset PIN 

Learn More I Meeting options 
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IU◄f ln(1N WHl1't tlf)4,l';I , t\l ltlllf' 1,1 Af',jtl .IOUN (l(illN'fN, n,A., 
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W\Jlfs !o! ,Hl~QNO, W\WAll JOSklJAO. HAWLEY. MISSOUN 
C:O"'IAUO(Jli'..Crt,Nl\'\"..ltRaE't' TOMCOTlt)N AfU~N~O 
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Mo\Jl''nll,,, OJA~lt~l.14lN llNNtt)~ I 

April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 
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11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
COMPLAlNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE R.ELIBF 



(21-08490-F) - 000838

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.9 Page 9 of 19 

1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 
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14 

15 

16 
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25 
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27 

28 19 

Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: McVicker, Carrie A. 

Sent: Tue, 6 Apr 202112:37:33 +0000 
To: l(b)f6) I 
~: ~~ I 
Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Attachments: Tabl 4890714 Incoming Letter.pdf, Tab 2 4890714 - Grassley Interim response -
Updated.docx, 4890714 VA Form 0907 (lnterim).pdf 

Importance: High 

To print 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

l(b)(6) F va.gov 

From :_~b_X_6> ___________ ~va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 6:18 PM 

To: McVicker, Carrie A. f b)f6l ~va.gov> 

Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Importance: High 

For review. 

From :~b)(6J @va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 4:31 PM 
To /b)/6) 

Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. (bl(6) va. ov~L(b_)~_6J ____________ -1~-v=-=a=.g=o::;...:.v> 
Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Importance: High 

Resending with an updated Grassley letter . 

From ~_b_Jr5_1 ____ __. 

Sent: Monda , A ril 5, 2021 4:09 PM 
To (bJ(6) va . ov> 

Cc: b)(6) va. ov>; McVicker, Carrie A. <l(._b_)l6_) ____ __.W"""-'v-=a ...... g=oc...c.v> 

Sut;Jec : - e er rom ena or rassley to SECVA 

Importance: High 

EJ 
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Attached for your review is the OSVA approval package for the VIEWS 4890714 interim response which 

includes t he following: 

• Tab 1 - incoming letter 

• Tab 2 - int erim response 

• VA Form 0907 

kb)(6) L 
From: McVicker, Carrie AL Lo/Va.gov> 
Se nt: Monday, Apri l 5, 20211:21 PM 

To~(b)(6) @va.gov>; rb)(B) ~ Va.gov> 
Cc:j(b)(S) l@va.gLo_v_> ____________ _.r-~~ 

Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Yes please. 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 

Department of Veterans Affairs 

l'b)(6) r va.gov 

Fromj!b)(S) ~ va.gov> 

Se nt: Monday, Apri l 5, 20211:04 PM 

To: b)(6) p}va.gov>; McVicker, Carrie A.Lfb_1<_6J _____ t"~-"v"'°'a""".g""o"""v> 
Cc:[_b)l6J tzj)va ,gov> 

Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Should I prepare an interim? 

FromfLb_)f6_J ___________ J~-"'-'va= . ...,go~v> 
Sent: Monda A ri l 5 
To (b)(6) va. ov>; McVicker, Carrie A. fLb_l(_6) _____ ~r---,v'-=a=.g=o~v> 
Cc b}(ff) va. ov> 

Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Yes 

From:lfb)(B) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Monda A ri l 5 202112:51 PM 
To: (b)(6} 

Cc: (b)(6) va. ov> 
ov>; McVicker, Carrie A. Lfb_1<6_J ____ --1"~~v~a~.g=o"""v> 

Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
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My plan is to send out a collab call invitation to the appropriate correspondence 
.....,_~~---,I 

liaisons inc u ing or OIG) to allow them opportunity assign responsibility to the appropriate SME, per 
their internal processes. Should I adq(b)(6) !any way? 

F romr ..,.b"T"l~_
6
>---r--r-.....,...,..-,..,...,,,.,.......,..,........,......,......---~~ va. gov> 

Sent: Monday, Aprils, 2021 12:43 PM 

ToKbJ(6) tg>va.: v>; McVicker, Carrie A. 1...fb_)f6_> ____ __,,~_v_a~.g~o_v> 
Cc~(b)f6) ~ va.gov> 

Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

~~e_J(6_1 ---~lis OIG 

From~b)<6) l@va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 12:36 PM 
To: Mcvicker, Carrie A. b)(BJ va. ov> 

Cc: fb)(B) va. ov>;Ll<b_)f=6)==..,...,....----------.r~-va_.-g_ov> 
Subject: RE: HOT - let ter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Ok. I will pull together a collab call for all recommended so that we can discuss as a group the best way 
to move forward. Does this one require an interim as well? 

From: McVicker, Carrie A. f b)(oi ~ Va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, Apri l 5, 202112:29 PM 

To:l b)f6} kg>va.~v> 
Cc:fb)(6) ~ va .gov>;l(o)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley._,t_o .... S .... E .... C..,V .... A __________ ..... 

Rereading the letter - I recommend reaching out to: 

--OGC.--_ _ _, 
--OIG l!b)(6) lhas a contact ) 

--OAWP 
fb)(6} ~ for any OSC cases 

Lets writer a quick interim on this. 

Let us know if you want to talk about this one. 

Thanks! 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

l(b)(6) trnva.gov 
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From: McClain, Kimberly A. f )(5) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Saturday, April 3 2021 7:35 AM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. b)(6) ov>; Hipolit, Richard (OGC)l(bJ(e) ~ va.gov>; 
Jackson, Tahmika R. (OGC) lb)(6) 

Cc: Johnson, Glenn (SES) ""b+:)<""'6> ______ v..ra-. ~o~v~>,-- McVicker, Carrie A.Ll(b_)f_6> ____ ___.J~l""'-'-v=a=.g=o-'-v> 

Subject: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Chief, Dick, Tahmika 

Placing RM Grassley's letter, Senate Judiciary, at the top of your inbox. This has a short suspense; 16 
April. 

Standing by for questions. 

Thank you, 

Kim 
Get Outlook for iOS 

FromfLb_)<
6
_l __ ---~~~~-----__J~- v"""a= . .._go~v> 

Sent: Friday, April 2, 20216:51 PM 
To: b)(6) va. OV 

,-,.:.C..,;,c_: M......;..cV_1..;..·c_ke.;..r.:..., ..;..C.;..ar_r..;_ie_A_.._(b_>,5_) ____ ,.......Johnson, Glenn (SES);~fb_)<6_1 ____ ~1McClain, Kimberly A.; 
(b)(6) 

Subject: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Please see attached letter from Senator Grassley in his role as Ranking Member of the Committee on the 
Judiciary- he is requesting a response by APRIL 16 

Respectfully, 

~b}(6) I 
Congressional Relations Officer I Departmeht of Veterans Affairs 
2026 Rayburn House Ofc. Bldg., Washington, DC 20515 
Deskl(b)(B) I Mobile: l<bl(6) I 
https:/ Nb)(6) 

Fromfbl(6) ~Judiciary-Rep)j ~'b-)(-6)----~~ judiciary-rep.senate.gov> 
Sent: F.,_r=.1a=a~-A=n~, 2~2,hb21s:02 PM 
To b)(6) ov> 
Cc b)(6) Judiciary-Rep Lb_H_6) _____ ....,...i==""-'-'L..:...:=·s:c::e:.:..n,..,,ac,,:te"'"."°o:::c..!.v>; CEG (Judiciary-Rep) 
(b)(6) u .senate. ov> 
Subject: [EXTERNAL) 2021-04-02 CEG to VA 
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Hellol .... (b_lft'l_l __ _. 

Please find the attached letter from Senator Grassley to the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. 

Please confirm receipt of this letter. Thank you. 

Best Regards, 

l(b)(6) I 
Investigative Counsel 

Ranking Member Charles E_ Grassley 

U.S. Senate Committee 011 the Judi'cia1y 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 
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Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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VA I. 118.llel,tMl""'"I I SUMMARY AND .APPROVAL SHEET of ,~Ji -\)WI;, 

NAME OF ORIGINATOR r!EWSNO. IDATE IDATE DUE 

4890714 04/05/2021 
NAME OF EXECUTIVE SECRETARY STAFF SUBJECT 

Interim Response to Senator Charles Grassely 
(b)(ol I 

ROUTING INITIALS DATE COMMENTS 

f8J EXEC SEC 

□ DEPCOSVA 

□ DEfSCOSVA/WHL 

f8J COSVA 

□ DEPSECVA 

□ SECVA 

CONCURRENCE 
(b)f6) OCLA/ 4/5/2021 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY I Executive Summary Instruction 
Purpose - Discussion - Recommendation 

Purpose: To obtain OSVA approval of an interim response to an incoming letter from Senator 
Charles Grassly. 

Background: The incoming letter from Senator Grassley concerns conflicts and ethical issues among 
senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration. He has requested a response by April 161 

2021. The purpose of the interim to acknowledge receipt of the incoming letter and to advise that VA 
is working to develop a comprehensive final response. 

Recommendation'{ b)(5> 

VAFORM 0907 
MAR 2021 

I 
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From: E )(GJ I 
Sent: 
To: 

Tue, 6 Apr 202113:48:14 +0000 
tb)(B) toGC) 

Subject: 
Attachments: 

FW: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 

Importance: High 

-----Original Appointment-----
From:l(b){B) l@va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 20218:52 AM 
To b)/6) OGC (b)(G) 

b)16) 
(OIG) (b)(6) 

OAW (b)(B) 
'r::-:-:=---r-----,....,...,-------..,.........-
(b)(B) (OAWP) (b)(6) (OIG) 

._ ________ _. QA WP); "-(b.;_)(6-'-) _ __. 

Cc (b)(6) OGC · OGC Personnel Law Group Supervisorf b)(G) 
(OGC) (b){B) OGC); b){G) OGC);fb)(B) p~G~C)~--------' 

Subject: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
When: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:00 AM-11:00 AM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 
Where: Mi~rosoft Teams Meeting 
Importance: High 

-----Original Appointment-----

From: fbll6J L@va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 20218:37 AM 
To b)fB} OGC · b)(GJ OGC b)(BJ 

!(b](61 l(OIG) (b)(B) ; b)(6) 
(b)(6) (OAWP); b)(BJ OAWP) (b)(B) OIG) ,__ __ __, 

Cc lb)(B) OGC; OGC Personnel Law Group Supervisors 

Subject: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
When: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:00 AM-11:00 AM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 
Where: Microsoft Teams Meeting 
Importance: High 

-----Original Appointment----
Fromj(b)(B) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 4:06 PM 
To b)(B) OGC 

(b)(6) 

(OGC)~ OGC Personnel Law Group Supervisors 
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Subject: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
When: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:00 AM-11:00 AM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 
Where: Microsoft Teams Meeting 
Importance: High 

Good afternoon, 

I just wanted to confirm that we received this one? 

----Original Appointment---
From fbJ(61 ~ Va.gov> 
Sent: Monday, April 5, 20214:02 PM 
To: (b)(6} OGC)~b)(6) ~OGC)f bJ(6) 

L..b-)(6_) - -.:-:~--------,,_,__ __ ,,...,...,..,,-,--_____ ....,__...J(OAWP)f b)l6) 
(OAWP lll(6J (OAWP); b)(6J IG) ~---------' ~------~ 
Subject: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
When: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:00 AM-11:00 AM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 
Where: Microsoft Teams Meeting 
Importance: High 

Good afternoo~._b_J<6_) __ __. 

I want to make sure that PLG received this collab call mtg request on a sensitive matter. 
If this has already been received, please disregard my message. 

Thank you. 

Sincerely, 
b)(61 

xecut1ve ss1stant ro the General Counsel 
Office of General Counsel Suite- l 030 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20240 
OGC Main: (bJ(61 

~...__---......---' 
Di reef: (b)(6} 
Fax: 2 o'--2--27_3 __ ..,..92_9_9_ ..... 

Cel l; ~._b_l(6_J ____ _. 

-----Original Appointment---
Fromrb)(6l ~ Va.gov> 
Sent: Monday, April 5, 20211:05 PM 
To b)f6) (OGC); b){6} 01Gfb)(6} 

(b)(6) (OAWP)j~(bl_IB_"> -------~OAWP);~l'b_)(6_) _ _. 
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l<b){ai lloAWP)ft')(6l I (OIG) 

Subject: URGENT CLOSE HOLD MATTER /VIEWS 4890714 
When: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:00 AM-11:00 AM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 
Where: Microsoft Teams Meeting 
Importance: High 

Good afternoon OGC, OAWP, OIG, OCLA and OSC Liaisons: 

This is an invitation for the appropriate subject matter experts (SMEs)from your respective organizations 
to attend ah urgent collaboration call to discuss and develop the Department's response to the attached 
incoming letter. This is a sensitive close hold matter and, therefore, it is requested that you and your 

organizat ion's SM Es limit the circulation of this and future communications about this issue to only 
the SMES who have a need to know. 

Please let me khow if you have any questions 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 

Click here to ioin the meeting 

Or call in (audio only) 

+1 872-701-0185,l"'"Cb.,.,,}(6,.,..l ----. United States, Chicago 

Phone Conference ID: .... rb_)(
6
_J ____ _.I 

Find a local number I Reset PIN 

Learn More I Meeting options 
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RK;HMO ,j DUklllN, ll.UNC:>lli., t.ll~IM 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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PR00Perdoceofauc81:Q1Qorporatm tlasda c.s 
Corisurner OlsuetiJrv~bl ConsUffier SerJ°~ 
Op<,, 8.50 Ask: 12.61 PIii 5.01 
~ ~us ,s,s~ Size: 100 EPs- 1.1?1 
L0YIS 8.50 Bid. 12.55 M~ C.,,. 604.4M 
P<evClose: 8.49 BidSize; 500 L.a>!Siz<' 
t; ~4: ii~~) 8 . 16 (20 Mar) 

1 .. ;- l!f.<r 
.W...a' 

Optms' yes 
AnoU!I Cividepf NIA 

Vleli NIA 
SCTR (Smoij; 6.8 

~o,u;.1t.art,ce>11'1 ------------------,c-frida.,, 20-Mar-2010 
4 +3.18'.4 
O'lg" . ,Q.1( 

l •"- 8.76 v- 966.104 

13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

FYI. 

From:l(b)(6) I 

Tue, 6 Apr 202114:44:06 +0000 
McVicker Carrie A. 

l(b)(6) ; I 
FW: Plan or VIEWS 4890714 

Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 2021 10:42 AM 
Tofb1(6) l@va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Plan for VIEWS 4890714 

All OSC referrals are first offered to OIG for first right of refusal. If OSC referral is related to VBA, VHA, 
etc., it will be assigned to that office. While OMI receives the majority of referrals because of 
healthcare/VHA facility, they do not receive all of them. In a recent case1 it was assigned to the DCOS 

due to the nature of the issue. Thanks. 

From: McVicker, Carrie A.fL..b-)(6_> ____ -11@"""-'-v __ a..,_.g...._o~v> 
Sent: Tuesday, A ril 6, 202110:38 AM 
T (b)f6) va . ov> 
Cc b)f6) 

Subject : RE: Plan for VIEWS 4890714 

l(bl(6l ~ we have the OMI POCs but I just cannot see that the office of Medical investigations would 
have taken this one on. It makes no sense. 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 
b)(6) 

Fromj(bJ(G) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesda , A ril 6 202110:37 AM 
To (bl(6) va. OV> 

Cc: {b)(6} @va. ov>; Mcvicker, Carrie A. ~L..(b_)f_6l ____ __i-~~v_a~.g~o~v> 

Subject: Re: Plan for VIEWS 4890714 

Thank you, good info. I will see if I can find a POC for OMI. My computer is restarting © 

(b)(6} n the run 
(b}(6) 
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Fr om:1,..l<b_)<6_> ___ ~ ____ _,..l@_v"""a ..... g"""o--'-V> 
Sent: Tuesda A ril 6 202110:24:33 AM 
To (b)(6) va. ov> 
Cc (b}f6) ov>; McVicker, Carrie A.Lfb_1<6_> ____ __]'~_v_a~.g~o~v> 
Subject: Plan for VIEWS 4890714 

Just got off the phone with OGC and OAWP. 

b)(5] 

fb)(6} 

Executive Writer 

Office of the Executive Secretary 

Department of Veterans Affairs 

810 Vermont Avenue NW 
l(b)f6) 
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From: 
Se nt: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

McClain, Kimberly A. 

Tue, 6 Apr 202115:59:57 +0000 
McVicker, Carrie A. 

Johnson, Glenn (SES)J ..... <b_>t6_1 _____ ....... 

RE: Plan for VIEWS 4890714 

You are welcome. Now I could type "whether" that would be great Q 

V/R, 

Kimberly McClain, PhD (she/her) 

Deputy Assistant Secretary 

Office of Congressional & Legislative Affairs 

Department of Veterans Affairs 

810 Vermont Avenue, NW 

Washington, DC 20420 

Ema i I f1.,,,b,....)(6_) _=;,-;---___,J~=va=.::;go1v 
Office Phone:f0 Jl6l I 
Cell: ..... rb-)(6_J ____ ...., 

From: McVicker, Carrie A ..... l(b_)re_) ____ ....... ~va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 202111:20 AM 

To: McClain, Kimberly A. f b)f6) ~va.gov> 
Cc: Johnson, Glenn (SESfr::1b""'l<6"'") _____ @v....Jva.gov>~='.b-}(-6)-----------~~va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Plan for VIEWS 4890714 

Sounds good. Thanks Kim! 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 

(b)(6) 

From: McClain, Kimberly A. ~ .... b_)<6_l _____ _,@........_va=·~g-"-'-ov> 

Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 202111:12 AM 
To: McVicker, Carrie A. L,(b_J{_6) _____ ~"-'-'-"--'-

Cc: Johnson, Glenn (SES)._(b_Jra_) ____ ......,-=== L _____________ .r~_v_a~.g~o_v> 
Subject: RE: Plan for VIEWS 4890714 

+ Glenn FYSA 

Thank you for the update. 
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We have also received the re uest from one his staffers to discuss the letterrb)<5l 
b)(5) --________ _ 

V/R, 

Kimberly McClain, PhD (she/her) 

Deputy Assistant Secretary 
Office of Congressional & Legislative Affairs 

Department of Veterans Affairs 

810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Washin on DC 20420 
Email (b}fB) OV 

L_ _ _,.,,..""=-"--..E:===f =-=-
0 ff ice Phone b)(G) 

Cell: (b){6) 

From: M cVicker, Carrie A. fL~_X6_1 ____ _)'-~- v:..;:a=.g=o=-=-v> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:56 AM 
To: McClain, Kimberly A. -fb_l<6_J ______ @_v_a-.g-o_v> 

Subject: FW: Plan for VIEWS 4890714 
Importance: High 

Kim - see below from our collab call this AM on t he Grassley letter.l(blt5) 

(b){5) 

We are still crafting an interim response for your signature. 

Carrie 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

1~X6
> rva.gov 

From:l(b)(B) @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:25 AM 
To b)f6) 
Cc (b)(6) 

Su Ject : Pan or VIEWS 4890714 
Importance: High 

va. ov> 
ov>; McVicker, Carrie A. 1._b_)m_i _____ l@~v~a-.g-o_v> 

Just got off the phone with OGC and OAWP. 
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Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
f b)((ll I 
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From: McVicker, Carrie A. 
Sent: Tue, 6 Apr 202117:20:38 +0000 
To: McClain, Kimberly A. 
Subject: FW: HOT INTERIM- letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
Attachments: Tabl 4890714 Incoming Letter.pdf, Tab 2 4890714 - Grassley Interim response -
Updated.docx, 4890714 VA Form 0907 (lnterim).pdf 
Importance: High 

Kim - COS has approved for your signature. Just need your approval for autopen. 

Thanks! 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

rbl(6] F va.gov 

From: McVicker, Carrie A 
Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 20218:38 AM 
T bl(6J @va.gov> 
Cc va.gov>;l..,..(b....,l(G""")----------.l@va.gov> 

Sur'!":=,...,.......,.,...n....,-,--...,..,,.,:re""'r::-=:ro~m="', --=e'""nc=a=. or Grassley to SECVA 

Importance: High 

To print 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

r }f6) F va.go_v 

From:l{b){6) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 6:18 PM 
To: McVicker, Carrie A.l(b}j6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
Importance: High 

For review. 
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From:l(b)(5) ~ va.gov> 
Sent:M L.,...o-n....,d_a ___,A,--ree-il =5- 2e--,0,....,2,...,1_4,...:3.,,..1.,...,,..P,-M- ~-

To (b)(6) va. ov> 

Cc: M cVicker, Carrie A. b)(GJ va. ov~L'.b_)(_5> ____________ ___i-~-'v'--=a""'.g""o~v> 

Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Importance: High 

Resending with an updated Grassley letter. 

Froml~(b_)<6_) ___ ~ 
Sent: Monday, Apri l 5, 2021 4:09 PM 
T b}(6) va . ov> 
C (b)(6) 

S - etter 
va. ov>; Mcvicker, Carrie A. f Lb_)l6_J ____ _r~~v~a=.g=o~v> 

rassley to SECVA 

Importance: High 

Attached for your review is the OSVA approval package for the VIEWS 4890714 interim response which 

includes the following: 

• Tab 1- incoming letter 

• Tab 2 - interim response 

• VA Form 0907 

. . l(b)(6) '~ From: McV1cker, Carne A reiva.gov> 

Sent: Monday, Apri l 5, 20211:21 PM 

To:l(b)f6) p>va.~v~(b}(6l ~ va.gov> 
Cc~b)fij) t@vaL.g_o_v_> ____________ .r---

Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Yes please. 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 

Department of Veterans Affairs 

r )16) F va.gov 

Fromj<b}(6) ~ va.gov> 

Sent : Monday, April 5, 20211:04 PM 

To:fbl(6) p va.gov>; McVicker, Carrie A . ... l(b-J(_
5
> ____ __.f va.gov> 



(21-08490-F) - 000930

Cc~b)f5) ~ va.gov> 

Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Should I prepare an interim? 

Fromfb)(6l ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 202112:56 PM 

Tofb)f6) ~va.gov>; McVicker, Carrie A. fLb-)(6_> ____ _.r-l@_v-'--'a=.g.,._o=--'-v> 
Cc: (b)(6) va. ov> 

Su6Ject: - etter rom enator Grassley to SECVA 

Yes 

Fromf b)(B) @va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 202112:51 PM 
To: l(b){6) ! va.gov>; McVicker, Carrie A. { bl(6J ~ va.gov> 
Cc:l(b)/6) @vagov> L_ ____ _J--'--'=~ 

Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Thankf b)f6) I My plan is to send out a collab call invitation to the appropriate correspondence 
liaisons (including for OIG) to allow them opportunity assign responsibility to the appropriate SME, per 
their internal processes. Should I add~ any way? 

Fromfb)f6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Monday, April 5, 202112:43 PM 

To~(b)(6) lg>va.gov>; McVicker, Carrie A. j(b){6) ~ va.gov> 
Cc:l(b)(6) 1@va.gov> ~----~ 

Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

~j(u_)f6_) ___ ~ls OIG 

From:(b)(S) 
L-,.....~-~--~~~~...r-:--~ 

Sent: Mon ay, Apn 5, 20211 :36 PM 

OV> 

To: Mcvicker, Carrie A. (b)(6) va. ov> 

Cc (b)C6) va . ov>;Lfb_)f6.,.-> _____________ J~- v~a~.g...._o"--"v> 
Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Ok. I will pull together a col lab call for all recommended so that we can discuss as a group the best way 
to move forward. Does this one require an interim as well? 

From: McVicker, Carrie A.l(b)f6) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 202112:29 PM 
To~Cb)f6) @va,pQV> 

Cc:J(b)fS) @va.gov>; I L(b_)f.,,.6)=..,..,...----------r~-v~a~.g~o~v> 
Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
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Rereading the letter - I recommend reaching out to: 

--OG C..,,...,...,.,-,..---~ 
--OIG r b)(a) I has a contact) 

--OAWP 
~(b)f6) ~ for any OSC cases 

Lets writer a quick interim on this. 

Let us know if you want to talk about this one. 

Thanks! 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 

Department of Veterans Affairs 

r b)(6) F va.gov 

From: McClain, Kimberly A. !(b)(6) @va.gov> 

Sent: Saturday, April 31 2021 7:35 AM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. b)f6} ov>; Hipolit, Richard (OGC)rb)(

6
) 

Jackson, Tahmika R. {OGC fb)(B) va . ov> 
~ Va .gov>; 

Cc: Johnson, Glenn (SES) fb)/6) wva.gov>; McVkker, Carrie A.l{b)f6) ~ Va.gov> 
Subject: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA -----~ 

Chief, Dick, Tahmika 

Placing RM Grassley's letter, Senate Judiciary, at the t op of your inbox. This has a short suspense; 16 
April. 

Standing by for questions. 

Thank you, 

Kim 
Get Outlook for iOS 

FromfLb_1<6_J ____________ __,~~v-'-'a=.g..._oc...c.v> 
Sent: Friday, April 2, 2021 6:51 PM 
Tofb1(6J l@va.gov 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie Aj._<b_){_6} ____ ~1Johnson, Glenn (SES)J .... rb_)fB_) ____ ____,IMcClain, Kimberly A.; 
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l(b)(6) I 
Subject: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Please see attached letter from Senator Grassley in his role as Ranking Member of t he Committee on the 
Judiciary- he is requesting a response by APRIL 16 

Respectfully, 

l(b)(6} I 
Congressional Relations Officer I Department of Veterans Affairs 
2026 Rayburn House Ofc. Bldg., Washington, DC 20515 
Deskj(b)(6) l Mobilej(b)(6) I 
https:/4 b}(6) 

From: (b)(B) udicia ry-Rep )L..rb_)CB_) ____ _,~~i~u~d~ic~ia~ry~-~r~eP~·~s~en~a~t=e~.g~o~v> 
Sent: F =-r .... i .----.--r,...i .,...2 -,2e-,!O 21 5: 0 2 PM 
To: b)f6} 

Cc: (b}(6) Judiciary-Rep) (b)<5} ov>; CEG (Judiciary-Rep) 
ln'.v:~"l=:":-----r:,.....,....----' L _____ _J.lo-'-=:.=.:.;::.:.=.L...:..====~ 

b)(6} ·udiciar -re .senate. ov> 

Subject: [EXTERNAL) 2021-04-02 CEG to VA 

Hell~ .... b-)(6_l __ _. 

Please find the attached letter from Senator Grassley to the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. 

Please confirm receipt of this letter. Thank you. 

Best Regards, 

l(b)(6) I 
Investigative Counsel 

Ranking Member Charles E. Grassley 

U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 000954

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.15 Page 15 of 19 

1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 000955

1 

2 

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.16 Page 16 of 19 

a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RE LIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 000958

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.19 Page 19 of 19 

1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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I SUMMARY AND .APPROVAL SHEET 
NAME OF ORIGINATOR IV!EWSNO. 

4890714 I

DATE 

04/05/2021 
IDATE DUE 

NAME OF EXECUTIVE SECRETARY STAFF SUBJECT 

Interim Response to Senator Charles Grassely 
u (b)(6) I 

ROUTING INITIALS DATE COMMENTS 

f8J EXEC SEC 

□ DEPCOSVA 

□ DEfSCOSVA/WHL 

f8J COSVA 

□ DEPSECVA 

□ SECVA 

CONCURRENCE 

(b)(6) l(OCLA/ 4/5/2021 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY I Executive Summary Instruction 
Purpose - Discussion - Recommendation 

Purpose: To obtain OSVA approval of an interim response to an incoming letter from Senator 
Charles Grassly. 

Background: The incoming letter from Senator Grassley concerns conflicts and ethical issues among 
senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration. He has requested a response by April 16, 
2021. The purpose of the interim to acknowledge receipt of the incoming letter and to advise that VA 
is working to develop a comprehensive final response. 

• J(b)\5) I 
Recommendat1on1,__ ______________________ ____. 

VAFORM 0907 
MAR 2021 
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From: 

Sent : 

To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 

McClain, Kimberly A. 
Tue, 6 Apr 202117:35:11 +0000 
McVicker, Carrie A. 
McClain, Kimberly A. 
RE: HOT INTERIM- letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Autopen approved. Thank you 

V/R, 

Kimberly McClain, PhD (she/her) 
Deputy Assistant Secretary 
Office of Congressional & Legislative Affairs 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 
Email: b)(6) va. 
Office one: b){6) 

Cell: b)(6) 

From : McVlcker, Carrie A. l(b){6) l@va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 20211:21 PM 
To: McClain, Kimberly A.l(b)(6) ~va.gov> 
Subject: FW: HOT INTERIM- letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
Importance: High 

Kim - COS has approved for your signature. Just need your approval for autopen. 

Thanks! 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

rb){6) F va.gov 

From: McVicker, Carrie A.. 
Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 20218:38 AM 
To:fb)f6) ~ va.gov> 

Cc:i<b)(
6
) ~ a .gov>j~(b=J~=6)================~.r-µu_v'-'a=.g=oa..;..v> 

Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
Importance: High 

To print 



(21-08490-F) - 000966

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

rb)(6) F va.gov 

Froml(bX5) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April S, 20216:18 PM 
To: McVicker, Carrie A.fb}(6) l@va.gov> 
Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
Importance: High 

For review. 

From:l(b)(B) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April S, 2021 4:31 PM 
To (b)(6) va. ov> 

Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. (b)/6) va. ov>; Ll(b_)[_6l ____________ ..J-~- v"""'a"".g=o~v> 
Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
Importance: High 

Resending with an updated Grassley letter. 

From: .... l(b_)(6_> ___ _, 

Sent: Monday, April S, 2021 4:09 PM 
To:fb)(6) @ Vc!.:,gOV> 

Cc:llb)(6) liva.gov>; McVicker, Carrie A. {L0_11_6> ____ _Jlr-®~v~a=.g~o~v> 
Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
Importance: High 

Attached for your review is the OSVA approval package for the VIEWS 4890714 interim response which 
includes the following: 

• Tab 1- incoming letter 

• Tab 2 - interim response 

• VA Form 0907 

From: McVicker, Carrie A. l(b)f6) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April S, 20211:21 PM 

Tollb)(6) @va.gov>;L~b-}(6_J ___________ J~_v_a~.g~o_v> 
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Ccr)(Bl ~ Va.gov> 

Su ject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Yes please. 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 

(b)(6) 

Fromj(bJ(6l l@va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 20211:04 PM 

Toi<b)f6) ~va.gov>; McVicker, Carrie A. lL~_lf6_l ____ -1~- v_a~.g-o_v> 
Cc: fb1(6} l$va~ov> 
Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Should I prepare an interim? 

Fromj(b)(B) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 12:56 PM 

To:f b)(B) ~ va.:v>; McVicker, Carrie A. IL<b_ll6_l ____ ...Jke>i---v_a~.g~o_v> 
Cc:l(b)(6) ~va.gov> 
Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Yes 

Fromf b}(6) l@va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 2021 12:51 PM 

To¥bJ(6l ~va.gov>; McVicker, Carrie A. iLfb_ll6_l ____ .J-~"""'v=a=.g=o-a.v> 
Cc:l(b)(6) ~ v~_,gov> 
Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Thanks,l(b)f6) I My plan is to send out a collab call invitat ion to the appropriate correspondence 
liaisons (including for OIG ) to allow them opportunity assign responsibility to the appropriate SME, per 
their internal processes. Should I ad~(b)(6) lany way? 

From...,fb .... Jf
6
_
1
---r---.--....................... ,,...,.........,.,...,.,.......--~ va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, Aprils, 2021 12:43 PM 
To~b)(6) tglva.~v>; McVicker, Carrie A. fb)(6J p va.gov> 
Cc~bl(fi) ~va.gov> ------

Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

.... f b-)'5_> ____ ..... I is OIG 
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From: l(b)(5} ~ va.goV> 

Sent: Monday, April 5, 202112:36 PM 
To: McVicker, Carrie A (b)t6l > 
Cc (b)f6) b](6) va. ov> 

Subject: RE: HOT - letter from Senator rass ey o 

Ok. I will pull together a collab call for all recommended so that we can discuss as a group the best way 

to move forward. Does this one require an interim as well? 

From: McVicker, Carrie A. fb1<6J ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Mon day, April 5, 202·~1-=1""'2""": 2=9,.....P .... M ......... - ..r--~'"'-"-
Tc{b)(6) @va.r9v> 
Ccf b)<5) ~ va .gov>; .... ~b_JC_6) ____________ _,&_va_.-g_ov> 

Subject: FW: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Kathy. 

Rereading the letter - I recommend reaching out to: 

--OGC 
--OIG ..,,.~b..-.){6,,.,...)----.lhas a contact) 

--OAWP 
l(b)(5) r for any osc cases 

Lets writer a quick interim on this. 

Let us know if you want to talk about this one. 

Thanks! 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 

(b)(6} 

From: McClain, Kimberly A. !(b)(6} l@va.gov> 

Sent: Saturday, April 3, 2021 7:35 AM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. (b)(6) ov>; Hipolit, Richard (OGC) fb)(S) ~ va .gov>; 

Jackson, Tahmika R. {OGC,,:..)....1.....b)_!6_J ___ --.--r-~-

Cc: Johnson, Glenn (SES) b)(6} va . ov>; McVicker, Carrie A. r..::l<b:.:.:>f.:.:6):...._ ____ frv=a=.g=o""'""v> 
Subject: HOT - letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Chief, Dick, Tahmika 
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Placing RM Grassley's letter, Senate Judiciary, at the top of your in box. This has a short suspense; 16 
April. 

Standing by for questions. 

Thank you, 

Kim 
Get Outlook for iOS 

From:1...rb_)C_5> _____________ ~@- v=--=a=.g=o~v> 
Sent: Friday, April 2, 2021 6:51 PM 
T~b)!6) ~ va.gov 

"""'"'C,,,,c:_M_ cV_i_c_ke_r..:..., _C_a_rr_ie_A .......... b_)(_6) ___ --.-_ _,oh nson, Glenn (SES) j~(b-}(
5
_) _____ ~IMcCla in, Kimberly A.; 

(b)(6) 

Su Ject: HOT - etter rom Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Please see attached letter from Senator Grassley in his role as Ranking Member of the Committee on the 
Judiciary - he is requesting a response by APRIL 16 

Respectfully, 

f b)(6) J . 
congressional Relatl ns Officer I Department of Veterans Affairs 
2026 Ra burn House Ofc. Bldg., Washington, DC 20515 
Desk (b)(B) I Mobile (b)(6) 

htt s: b)f6) 

From: , b1(6) kJ udicia ry-Rep )R L.,b_)(_6) _____ @~iu~d~i~ci~a_ryL..-~re=p~.s~e~n~a~t e=·~g~ov> 
Sent: Friday, April 2, 20215:02 PM 
To (b)(6) ov> 
Cc b)(6J Judiciary-RepL...b_)<_6) _____ ....t-:.J.!:'..:=~L.:.,.!=•s~e:.:.n~a~teo:.:·.ao~v>; CEG (Judiciary-Rep) 
b)(6) ·udiciar -re .senate. ov> 

Subject: [EXTERNAL) 2021-04-02 CEG to VA 

He11J._b)_f6_) --~ 

Please find the attached letter from Senator Grassley to the U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs. 

Please confirm receipt of this letter. Thank you. 

Best Regards, 

~b)(6) 

lnves6gative Counsel 
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Ranking Member Charles E. Grassley 

U.S. Senate Committee on the Judiciary 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 

Subject: 
SECVA.msg 
Attachments: 

Good Afternoon: 

McVicker, Carrie A ..... fo_)m_l _________________ __. 

DISPATCHED TO 009 VIEWS# 4890714 - letter from Senator Grassley to 

4890714 - Grassely.pdf 

DAS OCLA signed Interim response dated on 4-6-2021,. please dispatch to the hill. 

f bl(o) I 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
Office of the Executive Secretary 

l(b)(6) I 
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................... ,,,, 
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DEPARTMENT OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
WASHINGTON 

I , ; 
I ; 

\ f 
.. ,,~'~,~::!_. ....... ---

The Honorable Charles Grassley 
Ranking Member 
Committee on the Judiciary 
United States Senate 
Washington, DC 20510 

Dear Senator Grassley: 

April 6, 2021 

Thank you for your April 2, 2021, letter to the Department of Veterans Affairs 
(VA) regarding conflicts and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans 
Benefits Administration. I appreciate the opportunity to respond on behalf of the 
Department. 

VA takes this matter very seriously and we are currently working to fully address 
the issues raised in your letter and we will follow-up with a complete response. 

Should ou have any questions, please have a member of your staff contact 
Ms. b)<GJ Congressional Relations Officer, at i<b)C6> I or 

(blf6) va. ov .. 

Thank you for your continued support of our mission. 

Sincerely, 

Kimberly McClain, Ph.D. 
Deputy Assistant Secretary for Congressional 
and Legislative Affairs 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 
Importance: 

Good morning Mike: 

Wed, 7 Apr 202113:41:40 +0000 
Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
Hipolit, Richard (OGC);McVicker, Carrie A.f .... b_Jffi_l __________ ___, 

FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
High 

Thank you for this guidance and update. I will work with my leadership and the OCLA Correspondence 
liaison, copied above to develop a plan of execution and we will give you updates as they come 
available. 

Regards, 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC~(b}(S) ~va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 61 202110:13 PM 
rof b)(6) ~ Va.gov> 
Cc: H1pollt, Richard (0Gcjio)(6) @va.gov> 
Subject: Follow-up 

Re: Sen Grassley letter 

l{b)(6) 

b)(5} 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

1Cb}(61 I (Direct) 
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Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 
Importance: 

Tanya. 

McVicker, Carrie A. 
Wed, 7 Apr 202114:38:44 +0000 
Bradsher, Tanya J . 

McClain, Kimberly A. 
FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
High 

Please see below from OGC regarding the Grassley letter on VBAl(bll5l 
b)(5) 

V/R 

Carrie A McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

r )(6) F va.gov 

From: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC) -l'b~)(6~>~--~~ va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 61 202110:13 PM 
To b)(6) va. ov.> 
Cc: Hipolit, Richard (OGC)(b)fB) L_ ____ J--..:..::.:.= 
Subject: Follow-up 

Re: Sen Grassley letter 

(b)\5) 
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MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affa irs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

rb)f6) ~Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

Tanya. 

b)(5] 

McVicker, Carrie A. 
Wed, 7 Apr 202115:01:29 +0000 
Bradsher, Tanya J . 

McClain, Kimberly A. 
FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Tabl 4890714 Incoming Letter.pdf 
High 

I also stand by with my write~(b){B) ~o help put together the response. 

V/R 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

rb)(6) r va.gov 

. kb)(6) I, 
From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) l L@va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:13 PM 
Tofb)(6l ~@va.gov> 
Cc: H1pollt, Richard (OGC) f b)(6) ~ va .gov> 
Subject: Follow-up 

Re: Sen Grassley letter 

l(b}(6) 
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b)(5) 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affa irs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington. DC 20420 

rb)(S} tDirect) 

Whistleb/ower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, 0/G, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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Exhibit A 
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Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.1 Page 1 of 19 

1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.2 Page 2 of 19 

1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 000992

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.7 Page 7 of 19 

~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: McClain, Kimberly A. 
Sent: 
To: 

Wed, 7 Apr 202115:04:01 +0000 
~b)(6J !Johnson, Glenn (SES) 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Received. Thank you 

V/R, 

Kimberly McClain, PhD 
Deputy Assistant Secretary 
Office of Congressional & Legislative Affairs 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Washin ton, DC 20420 
Email: b)(6) ov 

Office Phone: b)(6) 

Cell (blf6) 

From: l{b)f6} ~Va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 2021 9:44 AM 
To: McClain, Kimberly A. (bl(6) va.gov>; Johnson, Glenn (SES)r.__)(ff_J ____ _,~va.gov> 

Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714 Grassley 
Importance: High 

FYSA- email traffic to the writer. 

l(b)(6) I 
Director, Congressional Liaison Service and Outreach Team 
Office of Congressional and Legislative Affairs 

l(b)(6) I 

From:l(b){a) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 2021 9:42 AM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) b)f6) • ov> 
Cc: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) (b}l6 l ov>; McVicker, Carrie A (b)(

5
} 

b)(6) (b)(6) L.._ __________ r----==~ 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 48 rassley 
Importance: High 

Good morning Mike: 

ov>; 
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Thank you for this guidance and update. I will work with my leadership and the OCLA Correspondence 
liaison, copied above to develop a plan of execution and we will give you updates as they come 
available. 

Regards, 

L] 
From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) rb)(6l ~ va .gov> 
Sent: Tuesda A ril 6 202110:LB,..........P-M,-----1'~~~ 

To (b)(B) va. ov> 

Cc: Hipolit, Richard (OGC)(b}{B) L_ ___ __j'--.:..=~· 

Subject: Follow-up 

Re: Sen Grassley letter 

(b)(5) 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

rb)(6} !(Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

Dick, 
(b)(S) 

Bradsher, Tanya J. 
Wed, 7 Apr 202115:09:11 +0000 
Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 
FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Tabl 4890714 Incoming Letter.pdf 
High 

let me know your thoughts. 
Thank you so much, 
Tanya 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 

b)(61 

Cell: bl(6) 

f rom; McVicker, Carrie A. f b1(6) ~Va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202111:0l AM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. blt6l va.gov> 
Cc: McClain, Kimberly A. t1)(6) @va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714 Grassley 
Importance: High 

Tanya. 

{b){S) 

I also stand by with my writerltti)!6l Ito help put together the response. 

V/R 

Please 
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Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs r)(6) r va.gov 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)l(b)(5) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesda A ril 6 202110:L1~3~P-M ___ ___t~~~ 

To (b)(6) va. oV> 

Cc: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) L(b_1<6) ____ ___J--:...=..:.c.:::..:.. 

Subject: Follow-up 

Re: Sen Grassley letter 

(b)(S) 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affa irs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washin ton, DC 20420 
b)<5J (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001039

Exhibit B 



(21-08490-F) - 001040

From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

fl>lt5) 

Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 
Wed, 7 Apr 202115:29:58 +0000 
Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Tabl 4890714 Incoming Letter.pdf 
High 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J. ~b)f6) @va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202111:09 AM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC)l(b)f6l ~va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Dick, 

f...,b_1!
5
.-'--r-----.-r--..-.------------------------~1Please 

let me know your thoughts. 
Thank you so much, 
Tanya 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

(bX6} 

Cell fbH6) 

From: McVicker, Carrie A. 1b)f6) jwva.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7 2021 11:01 AM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. (b)(5} 

L....,,...,.....,.,--------"=:=i;.;a~ '-'-· 
Cc: McClain, Kimberly A. b)(6l va. ov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Tanya. 

(b)(5) 
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(b)(S) 

I also stand by with my writer~ to help put together the response. 

V/R 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 
b)(6) 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)'-l(b_)(6_l ___ ___J>k@_v=a=.g=o"-'-v> 

Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:13 PM 
To (b)(6) va. ov> 

Cc: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) Lb_)<6_J ___ __.,.......:..::..:.a.:::..;;. 

Subject: Follow-up 

Re: Sen Grassley letter 

b)(5) 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

l1bl(6> !(Direct) 
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Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001065

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.13 Page 13 of 19 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001068

1 

2 

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.16 Page 16 of 19 

a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 
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10 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

(bJ(,5) 

Wed, 7 Apr 202115:32:47 +0000 
Bradsher, Tanya J. 
RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J. fb)(aJ @va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202111:09 AM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) IM<&"f ~va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Dick, 
(b){5) 

let me know your thoughts. 

Thank you so much, 
Tanya 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 

(b)f6) 

Cell: b}(6'! 

From: McVicker1 Carrie A. { b)(G) @va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202111:01 AM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J, llb)(6} l@va.gov> 
Cc: McClain, Kimberly A. ~t>J(6) @va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Tanya. 

(b)(5) 

lease 
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I also stand by with my writerl(b)f6) Ito help put together the response. 

V/R 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
r)(6l r va.gov 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) Ll<b_)(6_l ___ __Jrcp~v"""a'-'-.g""o-'-v> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:13 PM 
To: (b)(6) va. ov> 

Cc: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) Lb_l<
6
_
1 ____ ~~~ 

Subject: Follow-up 

Re: Sen Grassley letter 

(b)(5) 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washin ton DC 20420 
(b)(5l Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whisfleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
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without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Thanks, Mike. 

Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 
Wed, 7 Apr 202116:38:56 +0000 
Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) fb1l6) l@va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202111:51 AM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC)fb)l6l ~Va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Dick, 

Mike 

From: Hipolit, Richard (OGC} l(b)(6'1 ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 2021 11:30 AM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) l(b)(6) te>va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

b)(5) 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J. l(b)(6) @Iva.gov> 

Se nt: Wednesday, April 7, 202111:09 AM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC)lfb}(fi) wva.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Dick, 
(b}(51 

let me know your thoughts. 
Thank you so much, 
Tanya 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of.Staff 

Please 
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De artment of Veterans Affairs 
(b)(6) 

Cell: b)(6) 

From: McVicker, Carrie A. l(b)fa) @Jva.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202111:01 AM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. (b)(6) '--,.-----===~ Cc: McClain, Kimberly A. (b)f6) va. ov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Tanya. 

I also stand by with my write~ to help put together the response. 

V/R 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

r}(6J F va.gov 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) l1,..,C{b-l(
6_)~---r-F-'v"""a..._.g'""o--'-v> 

Se nt: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:13 PM 
To b)f6) va. ov> 

Cc: Hipolit , Richard (OGC) L..b_)!6_l ___ __,-~-
Subject: Follow-up 

Re: Sen Grassley letter 
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(b](5) 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

rb)f5) I (Direct) 

Whistleb/ower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Bradsher, Tanya J. 
Wed, 7 Apr 202116:41:57 +0000 
Hipoli.t, Richard (OGC) 
Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Thank you so much for reviewing. 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
{b){6) 

Cell : bl(6) 

From: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) l(b)(a} ~va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202112:41 PM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. lfb)(6} l@va.gov> 
Cc: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) ~b)t6J ~va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

(b}(S) 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J. ~b)(5J @va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202111:09 AM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) l(b)(S) l@va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Dick, 

f ..... b....,)!
5
_> -.-------,-,--.......,....-----------------------'IP!ease 

let me know your thoughts. 
Thank you so much, 
Tanya 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

(b}(S) 

Cell : bl(Sl 

kb)(6} L 
From: McVicker, Carrie A. l ~/Va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202111:01 AM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. l(b)(6) ~ Va.gov> 
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Cc: McClain, Kimberly A. fb)(6) 
L..~~-==""~,...,.J-.....;.;::..:~ 

Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714 Grassley 
Importance: High 

Tanya. 

(b)(5) 

I also stand by w ith my write~ o help put t ogether the response. 

V/R 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

l(b)(6) r va.gov 

From: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC) L..llb_)<6_> ___ _t~- va_._go_v> 

Sent: Tuesda , A ril 6 202110:13 PM 
To (b)f6) va. ov> 

Cc: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) L_ ____ J=-== 
Subject: Follow-up 

Re: Sen Grassley letter 
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b)(5J 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

l(b){6> I (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Copy. Thank you 

V/R, 

McClain, Kimberly A. 
Wed, 7 Apr 202117:17:39 +0000 
McVicker, Carrie A. 
RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Kimberly McClain, PhD 
Deputy Assistant Secretary 
Office of Congressional & Legislative Affairs 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 
Email: b)(6} va, ov 
Office P one (b)f6) 

Cell : (b)(6) 

From: McVicker, Carrie A. f b)f6) ~ Va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 20211:12 PM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. (blf6) 

Cc: McClain, Kimberly A..,.. . .,.,(b,..,.)(:-=-6),-------'-----,,..... va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for V)EWS 4890714 Grassley 

Yes - I will do so. 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 

b)(6) 

She is the commission today. Maybe tomorrow~,_b_)<6_) _ _,f an schedule 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
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(b}(6) 
.vva.2:ov 

Cell (b)[B) 

From: Mcvicker, Carrie A. f bJ(6) t9?va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 2021 12:58:54 PM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. b)(6 l L_.,,,..,,=-------1:===:;-­
C c: M cClain, Kimberly A. (b)(6) 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for'-T'n"P"TT.,.,....,.,...,.,""""',...,.....,.,... 

Great. I recommend next step is to discuss with Gina. Do you want me to work on something with 

f b)(6) Ito set up a call? 

V/R 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

rb)(6) F va.gov 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J. l(b}<5
) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202112:43 PM 
To: McVicker, Carrie A. bJ(6) 

l.....,,--c=----= =,-~ 
Cc: McClain, Kimberly A. (b)(6) va. ov> 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Thank you Carrie, I concur with your recommendations. 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

(b)(6) 

Ce : (b)(6) 

From: McVicker, Carrie A. f b)(B) @va.goV> 

Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202111:01 AM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. b)(6} 

L.r.:-e-=-----""""r'-
C c: McClain, Kimberly A. bl(G) va. ov> 

Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Tanya. 
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b)(5) 

I also stand by with my writerl(b)(5) Ito help put together the response. 

V/R 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 

Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

l(b)(6) F va.gov 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) L...f b_){6_l ___ __Jo@~vc.-=a=.g=o...c.v> 

Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:13 PM 
To fb)(6) va. o V> 

Cc: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 1...b_)f_B) ____ .,.._~~ 

Subject: Follow-up 

Re: Sen Grassley letter 

(b)(5) 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
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Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

l(b)(a) I (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleb/owers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 
Sent: Wed, 7 Apr 202118:54:33 +0000 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J . 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Attachments: 156227 _ Bogue, Charmain Note.pdf, 131618_ Bogue, Charmain Note.pdf, VBA -
Vet Tech issue - Ethics timeline.docx 

(b)(5) 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J. ~bJ(fi) ~va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202112:48 PM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC)kb)(6J @va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Great, thank you so much. 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 

From : Hipolit, Richard (OGC) j(b)l6) p>va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202112:45 PM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. ~(b)(6) l@va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

(b)(S) 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J. ~blfBl @va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202112:42 PM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) b)(6) '--==---- ~ ..C.U..C-"-
C c: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) (b}(6) va. ov> 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Thank you so much for reviewing. 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 
(b)(B) va. ov 



(21-08490-F) - 001090

ce11r )(6) 

From: Hipolit, Richard (OGqi<b)(6) @va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 2021 12:41 PM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. fbJ(5) @va.gov> 
Cc: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC b)(6l va. ov> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714 Grassley 

(b}(5) 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J. ~ b)f
5
l ~ va.gov> 

Se nt: Wednesday, April 7, 2021 11:09 AM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 4 b1(6l @va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Dick, 

.... l'b .... )(5...,.)_....-__ ___,,-,--__,.-,--------------------------'IPlease 
let me know your thoughts. 
Thank you so much, 
Tanya 

Tanya Bradsher 

Chief of Staff 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
b)(6) 

Cell: b)(6) 

From: Mcvicker, Carrie A. l(b}fB) ~ va.gov> 
Se nt: Wednesday, April 7, 2021 11:01 AM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. f b)f6) ~ va.gov> 
Cc: McClain, Kimberly A. !(b)(6) lg)va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Tanya. 

(bH5> 
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(b)(S) 

I also stand by with my write~(b)(6) ~o help put together the response. 

V/R 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

rb){6) F va.gov 

Re: Sen Grassley letter 

(b)(5) 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washin ton DC 20420 

(b}(5) (Direct) 
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Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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Case: 156227: Bogue, Charmain Note 

Notified Victor 

From:~P)<\Jl !(OGC) 
Sent: Wednesday, July 29, 2020 7:30 AM 
To: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO 
Subject: RE: INmAL REVIEW: Public Financial Disclosure Report 

Good morning. Thank you for updating the report. Your review is now complete. I certified that your report complies w1th 
disclosure laws and regulations and there are no apparent conflicts of interest. 

As a reminder, the Standards of Conduct provide that an employee should not participate in any VA matter where someone with 
whom he has a "covered relationship'' is a party or represents a party, if a reasonable person would question the employee's 
impartiality if participating, 5 C.F.R. § 2635.502. For your information, an employee has a covered relationship with his spouse's 
employer for purposes of applying this prohibition, so these restrictions would apply to any VA matters involving your spouse's 
business or consulting firm. 

In addition, you reported holding stock, including for companies that do business with the VA, Please be aware that pursuant to a 
criminal statute, 18 U.S.C. § 208, you are disqualified from personally and substantially participating in a particular VA matter that 
has a direct and predictable effect on a company in which you own stock. You may, however, participate in such a matter if the 
affected publicly-traded stock or stocks that you, your spouse or minor children own in the aggregate does not exceed $15,000. 
Note that this $15,000 de minimis exception does not apply to non-publicly-traded stock. 

Please remember to fulfill your annual live ethics training requirement by December 31, 2020 and feel free to let me know if you 
have any questions. 

!(b)(6) I 
VA Staff Attorney 

hies S · earn 
BB) 

.....,=..,..,..,.---.=ur== ay .only 

OGC Ethics Website <https://vaww.ogc.vaco,portal.va.gov/law/ethics/SitePages/Horne.aspx> I Ethics contact information 
<https://www.va.gov/OGC/docs/EthTcs/VA_Ethics_Officials_Contacts.pdf> 

From:l(b)(6) koGC) 

To: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVAC ll)(6) va.gov> 
Sent: Monday, July 20, 2020 5~~~ 

Subject: RE: INmAL REVIEW:o I fihanc,al Dlsfosure Report 

Thank you for the additional information. 

I have returned the report to you to be updated. Both the assets in the sold IRA and new stock purchases need to be included in 
Transactions (section #7). 

Once you have updated the information, please let me know so I can pull the report back in my queue for review and approval. 

Thank you. Please reach out with any questions, 

fbl(6) I 
vA Start Attorney 

,-1o~..z...:.==!.l:...ITeam 
BB) 

'""Tl=,,.=,-,--...:-,,u,e,rs:e1ay only 

OGC Ethics Website <https://vaww.ogc.vaco.portal.va.gov/law/ethics/SitePages/Horne.aspx> I Ethics contact information 
<https:/lwww.va.gov/OGC/docs/EthTcs/VA_Ethics_Officfals_Contacts.pdf> 

Hello, 

IRA· sold 

Current Date: Apr 6, 2021 Date of Note: 07/29/2020 
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Case: 156227: Bogue, Charmain Note 

Stocks line 8-12, only of the stocks is new 

I am unable to edit so not sure <if there is something you need to do so I can make the changes. 

Charmain Bogue 
Executive Director 
Education Service 
Veterans Benefits Administration ..,..,....,.,..-------. 

~b)(6) ~va.gov <mailtclb)t61 ~va.gov> 

From:l(b)(6) I (OGC) j(b)(6) t@va.gov <mailt~(b)(fl) ~va.gov> > 
Sent: Tuesday, June 30, 2020 7:t;~ 0~• .__ ____ _. 

To: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO rb)~ 1 ~Va.gov <mailtq(b)(6) lva.goV> > 
Subject: 1NmAL REVIEW: Public inanc1al D1sciosure Report 
Importance: High 

Good afternoon. l have been assigned review of your Annual Public Financial Disclosure report (278) and that review is now 
complete. !'Ve completed my initial review; however, before I can certify the report I need to confirm inform or seek amendments. 
Please provide this information by July 10. l will be out of the office until July 8 but can respond to non-encrypted emails. 

New And Deleted Assets 

When comparing this year's report to 2019's, I noticed there was no longer an employment-related asset in section two. Did you 
sell off the assets in the IRA, or was it no longer reportable due to value? 

In addition, several new stocks were reported in Section 6 (nos. 8-12). Were these newly purchased, or were they under the 
reporting threshold in 2019? lf these are new purchases, the stocks also need to be identified in section 7. 

Thank you for the additional information. Once I have this, I can advise if J:he report needs to be amended, or 1 can make_the 
changes. Please reach out with any questions. 

~b)f6) ! 
VA Staff Attorney 

{tiW~1s saecialtv T~:~ 
Monday - Thursday only 

OGC Ethics Website <https://vaww.ogc.vaco.portal.va.gov/law/ethics/SitePages/Home.aspx> I Ethics contact information 
<https://www.va.gov/OGC/docs/Ethics/VA_Ethics_Officfals_Contacts.pdf> 

Current Date: Apr 6, 2021 Date of Note: 07/29/2020 
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Case: 131618: Bogue, Charmain Note 

From:l(b)(6) loGC) 

Sent: Monday, September 09, 2019 8:04 AM 
To: Bogue, Charmain l(b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: RE: PFD 2019 

Than ks fo r making that change . I cert ified that your report complies with 
disclosure laws and that there are no apparent conflicts of interest . I offer the 
following guidance going forward . 

A criminal statute prohibits you from participating in a particular VA matter 
that will d irectly affect not only your own financial interests but also those 
interests that are imputed to you , such as those of your husband and by 
extension his consulting firm. 18 USC 208. You shou ld recuse yourself from 
any VA matters directly affecting these financial interests. 

You reported holding stock. This same statute proh ibits you from participating 
in a particu lar VA matter that has a direct and predictable effect on a company 
in which you own stock. You may, however, participate in such a matter if the 
affected stock that you, your spouse and minor children own in the aggregate 
does not exceed $15,000 . Note that this $15,000 de minimis exception does 
not app ly to non-publicly-traded stock. 

If you haven ' t done so already, please remember to fulfi ll your annual live 
ethics training requirement by December 31, 2019 . Please let me know if you 
have any questions and thanks again for making that change . 

b)(6) 

Staff Attorney and Deputy Ethics Official 
Office of General Counsel 
Ethics Specialty Team 

l(b)(6) I 
Please visit our Government Ethics website 
<h ttps ://vaww. oqc. vaco.portal. va. qov/law/ethics/SitePaqes/Home. aspx> for more 
information on ethics topics 

From: Bogue, Charmain 
Sent: Friday, September 06, 2019 3:23 PM 

ToJb)(6) I( OGC) iL(b_)(6_> _____ ...J~_v_a_.g~o_v_<_m_ a i_lt_o-t.:l<_b>_(
6
_> ____ _J~_v_a~.g~o_v_>> 

Subject: RE: PFD 2019 

HiE:] 

Current Date: Apr 6, 2021 Date of Note: 09/09/2019 
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Case: 131618: Bogue, Charmain Note 

Sorry for the delay I was out last week. I amended the document. 

Charmain Bogue 
Executive Director 
Education Service 
Veterans Benefits Administration ~-----~ 

l(b)(6) ~ va.gov <mailtdCb)(6) @va.gov> 

From:1Cb)(6) l(OGC) 

Sent: Friday, August 30, 2019 10:20 AM 
To: Bogue, Charmain f bl(5l @va.gov <mailt1 b)(6l F va.gov» 
Subject: PFD 2019 .__ ____ __, 

Good morning. I have been assigned review of your New Entrant Public 
Financial Disclosure report (278). Before I can certify the report I need you to 
make one minor amendment. 

In Part 6, Item 6, you disclosed your spouse's interest in "Rental Property." 
Please amend your report by describing the type of real estate (e.g., 
"residential," "commercial," "industrial," or "undeveloped") and the city and 
state in which it is located. Providing the county and state is also acceptable. 
But do not provide a street address. Here's an example: Commercial property, 
Sullivan County, NY. 

Here's the Integrity login link for your convenience: 
<<https ://www. integrity.gov/efeds-login/>>. Please let me know when you've 
made these amendments or if you have any questions. You can reach me at 
the telephone number listed below. 

(b}(6) 

Staff Attorney and Deputy Ethics Official 
Office of General Counsel 
Ethics Specialty Team 

r b}(6) i 
Please visit our Government Ethics website 
<h ttps ://vaww. oqc. vaco. portal. va. qov/law/ethics/SitePaqes/Home. aspx> for more 
information on ethics topics 

Current Date: Apr 6, 2021 Date of Note: 09/09/2019 
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Ethics advice timeline 

December 2017 

VBA contactect,_f b_l(5_l _____ _.l Senior Ethics Attorney 

From:~)(6) ~ VBAVACO 
Sent:hursda , December 07, 2017 1:20 PM 
To: b)(6) (OGC) 
Cc: (b)(6) VBAVACO 
SutiJe 

The new GI Bill law has directed an IT pilot called Vet Tech. This pilot allocates $75 
million (($15 million per year for 5 years). 

The law calls for the to enter into contracts with vendors to provide training and support. 
Likewise the VA Education team will assist by issuing a GI Bill living stipend. 

Long story short, we are getting ready to engage in design and stand up of the pilot in 
early Jan 2018. 

l(bJ(5> lis the GS 15 assigned to oversee the entire implementation of the Comery Act. 
Tbis includes the Vet Tech pilot. I'm assigned as the pilot lead. 

fb)(6) ~ out of an abundance of caution mentioned to me that her spouse works fo r 
Student Veterans is America and that this organization has a partnersliip with VA and 
may decide to compete for the Vet Tech pilot. I suggested she connect with you to 
determine if a disclosure/recusal is needed. I want to make sure we kick off the pi.Jot 
properly and don't inadvertently create a negative perception. 

~lfb_><
5_l --~~grees Ms. Bogue should recuse from the Vet Tech procurement 

From:l<tJ}(6I kOGC) 
Sent: Thursday, December 07, 2017 6:05 PM 
To: ~b)C6J I VBAVACO;..,,.l(b-=}(6,.,....) --------,~BAVACO 
Subject: RE: Vet Tech / Student Veterans of Amenca 

Good catch. You have disclosed, and fbl<5
} I recusing from any 

involvement in source selection for the Vet Tech pilot is lthe way 
forward. If Student Veterans of America (SVA) is one of the contractors 
then the recusal would continue. Specifically, the Standards of Ethical 
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Conduct prohibit employees from participating in specific party matters 
where a person with whom they have a "covered relationship" is or 
represents a party where a reasonable person with knowledge of all the 
relevant facts would question the employee's impartiality. An employee 
has a covered relationship with his or her spouse's employer. 5 C.F.R. § 
2635.502. If SVA is going to bid on the Vet Tech pilot, then Charmain's 
participation in the source selection would create the appearance of a 
conflict. If her spouse's job is contingent on the VA contract award then 
her participation in the source selection would run afoul of criminal conflict 
of interest law prohibiting participation in official matters affecting one's 
outside financial interest, or that of his or her spouse. 18 U.S.C. § 208. 

l(b)(6) 

Have you been involved in the preparation of the contract documents? 

Thanks for the follow up. 

Senior Ethics Attorney/ 
Deputy Ethics Official 
Ethics Specialty Team 

l(b)(6) I 
Fax (202) 273-4601 

February 2018 

VBA seeks clarification from the Ethics Team 

From: VBAVACO 
Sen : rrr.::==:-:-:-,=c-!ruary 28, 2018 2:08 PM 
To· (b)( OGC) 
Cc (OGC) 
Su tu ent Veterans of America 
Importance: High 

I have a few follow-up questions regarding the coordination of the acquisition below. 

After raising the need for recusal of Msfb)(6) lher leadership suggested we not go 
through an acquisition process and instead pursue a provisional approval of each vendor 
as a GI Bill school. That course of action has now been deemed as not feasible by our 
contracting office. 
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Originally - Mr. Coy had removed the entire acquisition process from MsJ,_(b_l(_6) _ _. 

organization to OEO due to a perceived risk that the SVA is actively engaged in 
conversations with vendors of Vet Tee and also planned to bid. It was unclear to us at 
the time if SVA would partners with vendors for the acquisition or bid independently. 

We are quickly going to be conducting market research (with SVA in attendance) an RFI, 
and also prepare a statement of work for competition. 
What are the rules of engagement for Msj(b)(6) ~ Staff she supervises? As it pertains to 
establishing the selection criteria, statement of work, and source selection board? 

I am concerned about both perceptions of COis and actual COis. Some of the potential 
vendors are currently suing the VA for what they perceive as a bias against for profit 
schools. Both SVA and VBA EDU are under scrutiny in that allegation. When the task 
was assigned to me by Mr. Coy, I discovered that no NDAs were in place for contractors 
supporting the acquisition and that Msl(b)(6) lwas not aware of the need to recuse 
formally. This lack of acumen raises concerns as there seems to be regular coordination 
with SVA officials and EDU staff. We requested guidance from VBA contracting and 
received the below as it pertains to recusals. 

Contracting provided us the guidance below: 
Personnel with covered conflicts of interest should declare them and be recused from source 
selection. Recusals are generally not needed for non-acquisition operations, or other phases of 
the acquisition life cycle (i.e. planning/market research). OGC guidance should be obtained as 
necessary 

I would like to take their input, your guidance, and provide a recommendation to VBA 
leadership on best way ahead. 

~l(b-)(_
5
) __ ___.lresponds 

From:l(b)(5l loGC) 
Sent: Wednesda February 28, 2018 3:11 PM 
To b)(6l BAVACO 
Cc,..._ ___ ___, (OGC) 
Subject: RE: Vet Tech/ Student Veterans of America 

HasfblC5) jbeen working with SVA, amongst others, as part of the 
market research, or is it contemplated that SVA will be involved in the 
market research, Given that the market research assists us in sha in the 
procurement, if it is anticipated that SVA will be a bidder then(bl(6l 
should recuse from the Vet Tech procurement. ._ ___ _, 
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Specifically, the Standards of Ethical Conduct prohibit employees from 
participating in specific party matters where a person with whom they have 
a "covered relationship" is or represents a party where a reasonable 
person with knowledge of all the relevant facts would question the 
employee's impartiality. An employee has a covered relationship with his 
or her spouse's employer. 5 C.F.R. § 2635.502. If SVA is going to bid on 
the Vet Tech pilot, then Charmain's participation in the source selection 
would create the appearance of a conflict. If her spouse's job is 
contingent on the VA contract award then her participation in the source 
selection would run afoul of criminal conflict of interest law prohibiting 
participation in official matters affecting one's outside financial interest, or 
that of his or her spouse. 18 U.S.C. § 208 

ICb)(B) !provides additional guidance 

From: b)(B) (OGC) 
Se · ary 28, 2018 3:20 PM 
To (b)C6> (OGC)~(b)(6) l VBAVACO 
Su Ject: RE: Vet Tee Student Veterans of America 

In addition to whaiCb)(B) I wrote, if we foreclose the possibility of an 18 USC 208 
issue, meaning that we're left with a recusal obligation under 502, please note that 502 
contains a process for the employee to obtain a "502 authorization" from an "agency 
designee" (likely Mr. Coy in this situation). This authorization allows the employee to 
participate in the matter despite the appearance of a conflict of interest. However, 
because you are concerned about the appearance of a conflict, allowing her to work on 
the contract under a 502 authorization would do little to alter that appearance, at least 
in the minds of non-Federal entities that are prone to litigate. Plus, for the EST to 
approve a 502 authorization, you would need to show, among other things, that no one 
else besides Charmain is capable of doing this job, and I imagine that there are others 
who can perform her work. 

It's fine for fb)(B) I employees to work on this matter, even while fb)(6) lis 
recused. But it must be clear to everyone involved that l(b)(6) lis not to be consulted 
on this matter at all. 

March 2018 

VBA responds with additional information 

From: fbl(B) I VBAVACO 
Sent: w·~ e....,.dn_e_s....,d_a _M_a~rch 07, 2018 11:22 AM 
To (b)(B) OGC)J b)(B) l(OGC) 

tu ent Veterans of America 

Closing the loop. 
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I connected with l(b)(6) pnd Rob Worley who both stated they have connected with 
SVA and do not believe there is a conflict of interest and that they are not going to be 
bidding directly on the work. 

This is counter to my understanding from my boss Curt Coy and~b)(6) !herself a few 
months ago. They also assured me they were not going to engage in market research or 
support other bidders. 

I shared my concerns, Rob Worley as the project sponsor doesn't understand the notion 
of recusal versus COi so I will send him the below guidance so he's fully aware. 

My concern remains ... scrutiny by for-profit schools, entities that do not compete or do 
not win an award, and the likelihood of media /social media scrutiny etc. The VA has a 
very strong relationship with SVA and they have shown to be strong supporters of the GI 

Bill. I stressed to both~b)(6) I and Rob Worley that this is not in any way a negative 
view of SVA as an organization it's an effort to proactively protect all entities and the 
propriety of the pilot. 

.... fb_l<5_l __ ....,I responds 

From,bl(6) I (OGC) 
Sent: Wednesday, March 07, 2018 12:50 PM 
To:l(b)f6) IVBAVACO; fbl(6) l(OGC) 
Subject: RE: Vet Tech / Student Veterans of America 

Thanks for the follow up. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Bradsher, Tanya J. 
Wed, 7 Apr 202119:30:13 +0000 
Hipoli.t, Richard (OGC) 
RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Wonderful, thank you so much 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
b}(6) 

Cell :(b)(6) 

From: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) j(b1(6) ~Va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, April 7. 20213:21 PM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. l(b)(B) ~Va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Good for me. I'll call you on Teams at 4:00. 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J. fb)t5) ~ Va .gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 2021 3:20 PM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 1Cb}(6l ~ va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Is Teams okay? 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 
Department of Veterans Affa irs 

(b)(6) 

Cell: (b)(B) 

From: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) xl(61 ~ Va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202 3:19 PM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. fb)(B) @va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Yes. Phone or Teams? 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J.!(b)(6) @va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 20213:17 PM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) fb)(6l !§?va .gov> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
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Great, can we please chat at 4 pm? 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
b)(6) 

Cell: b)(G} 

From: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) ~b)f6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 20 1 2:55 PM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. fbl(6) ~ va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J.fb)(GJ ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202112:48 PM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) f b)fG) ~ va .gov> 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Great, thank you so much. 

Tanya Bradsher 
Chief of Staff 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
fbJ(6) l@va.gov 
Cell· !(b)(6) I 

From: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) J!°l(Gl l@va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202112:45 PM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J.fb)f6) @va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

(b)(5) 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J. fbH6) l@va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 2021 12:42 PM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) (b)(6) 
Cc: Hogan, Michael R. (OG.l.,,,r,;(b:.)t;;::-6).------___..t~ :-'vo:a:::....:_. ov> 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Thank you so much for reviewing. 
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Tanya Bradsher 

Chief of Staff 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
b)f6) 

Cel b}(61 

From: Hipolit, Richard (OGC)l(b)(6) @va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202112:41 PM 
To: Bradsher, Tanya J. ~(b}(6) l@va.gov> 

Cc: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) t }(6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up for VI WS 4890714/Grassley 

b)(5) 

From: Bradsher, Tanya J. l(b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202111:09 AM 
To: Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 1(b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Dick 
(b)(5) 

let me know your thoughts. 
Thank you so much, 
Tanya 

Tanya Bradsher 

Chief of Staff 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 

fb}(6) 

Cell (b)(fi) 

From: McVicker, Carrie A, !(b)(6) t,@va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 7, 202111:01 AM 

To: Bradsher, Tanya J. L(b.,..,.){6..,;.)..,..,..... ___ ....1::::::::::::::~ 

Cc: McClain, Kimberly A. fb)l6) va. ov> 

Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Tanya. 

Please 
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1b)(5) 

I also stand by w ith my wrfte~ to help put together the response. 

V/R 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

l'b)(6) F va.gov 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) fLb.:.:.}(6..:..) ___ _,.l?3/_v~a""'.g""'o'--'-v> 
Sent: Tuesday, April 6, 202110:13 PM 
To fb)(6) va. ov> 

Cc: Hipolit, Richard (OGC)L(b_){6_) ___ ___J~~~ 

Subject: Follow-up 

Re: Sen Grassley letter 

b)(5} 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
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Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

fbl(5> tDirect) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entitles and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not 1/mited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 

Bradsher, Tanya J. 
Wed, 7 Apr 2021 20:36:05 +0000 

Bradsher, Tanya J.;Farrisee, Gina S.;McVicker, Carrie A. 

Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 

Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 
Click here to ioin the meeting 

Or call in (audio only) 

+ 1 872-70i-0185,,.,.~b.,...,.)(6,..,...) -----. United States, Chicago 

Phone Conference 1o[b>(6) I 
Find a local number I Reset PIN 

Learn More I Meeting options 
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From: l(b)(6) I on behalf of Bradsher, Tanya J. 

Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 

Thu, 8 Apr 202112:09:24 +0000 
Farrisee, Gina S.;McVicker, Carrie A.;Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 
Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 
Click here to join the meeting 

Or call in (audio only) 

+1 872-701-0185,j..,,.<b.,..,.)(5:-,->-----, United States, Chicago 

Phone Conference 10J<b)(5> I 
Find a local number I Reset PIN 

Learn More I Meetihg options 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 

Bradsher, Tanya J. 
Thu, 8 Apr 202112:35:02 +0000 

Bradsher, Tanya J.;Farrisee, Gina S.;McVicker, Carrie A. 

Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 
Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 
Click here to ioin the meeting 

Or call in (audio only) 

_+~1 ~8~72~-~7~0~·1-~0~1 =SS~ (b.:....)(6-,,) ............ ..J...._U.::..n...:..:i..:.:te:..=.d Stat es, Chicago 

Phone Conference 10:<bl(5) .__ ____ ___. 

Find a local number I Reset PIN 

Learn More I Meeting options 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

McVicker, Carrie A. 
Fri, 9 Apr 202119:30:15 +0000 
Farrisee, Gina S. 
FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Tabl 4890714 Incoming Letter.pdf 
High 

Gina - just for SA- this was Ruthann's read on the questions. 

But see what Brandye says before you consider below. 

V/R 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

r b)(6) r va.9011 

From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Sent: Friday, Apri l 9, 20213:25 PM 
To: ll)f61 va.gov> 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. b)f6} va,gov>; .... l'b-~(_61 _________ __,~va.gov> 
Subject:. FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

I have reviewed the asks that begin on page 4 and find t he followir:,g regarding ownership of potential 
records : 
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fb}(5) 

(bH5l 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Office.r 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, US, Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann.parlse@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 
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This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S. C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

From: McVicker, Carrie A. ~(b)(
5
) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 9, 2021 2:22 PM 
To: Parise, Ruthann ~(b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
r)(6l r va.gov 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 



(21-08490-F) - 001117

Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 



(21-08490-F) - 001141

traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: Parise, Ruthann 
Sent: Fri, 9 Apr 2021 20:05:12 +0000 
To: l(bl{6) I 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A (bJ(6) 

Subject: ~----~-
RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714 Grassley 

You're welcome ~ 

I just did a search by requests in FOIAXpress and found the following: 

b)f5} 

(b1(5) 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA} 
ruthann.parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 
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This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

Fromfb)(a) l@va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 9, 20213:44 PM 

To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 

Cc: McVicker, Carrie AJCb)(6) ~va.gov>f._b_H6_l _________ ____,~va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Importance: High 

Thanks Ruthann.l'b)(S) 
(b)!S) 

From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 9, 20213:25 PM 
To b)C6) va. ov> 

Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. b)(6} va. ov>;._~b_116_J __________ __.@--'-v-'C.a.""gc=...c.ov> 

Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Importance: High 

I have reviewed the asks that begin on page 4 and find the following regarding ownership of potential 

records: 

b)'5) 

I 

'--------------------------------------------'• 
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(0)1~ 1 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann .parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Onfy, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S,C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 
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From: McVicker, Carrie A. ~(t>J(B) @va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 9, 2021 2:22 PM 

To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Importance: High 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

r tl){6) F va.gov 



(21-08490-F) - 001147

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

Good afternoon Mike; 

01(51 

Fri, 9 Apr 2021 20:18:56 +0000 
Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 

l(b)(6l jMcVicker, Carrie A. 

Regarding VIEWS 4890714 {SME DATA REQUEST) 
4890714 Enclosure template .. docx, 2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 

High 
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Please let me know if you have any questions. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermoht Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

j(bl(61 l 
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lfb)f6i !(mobile) 
'----~ . 
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Enclosure 

Department of Veterans of Affairs(VA) Responses to Questions from 
Senator Charles Grassley 

Question 1: Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 1a: If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 1 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 2: Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 2a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 2b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 3a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 3 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Page 1 of 3 
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Enclosure 

Question 4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums 
related to the suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie 
Manker, and Robert Reynolds. 

VA Response: 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: 

Question Sa. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what 
will VA do to prevent this from happening again in the future? 

VA Response: 

Question 6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially 
leaked, has the VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the 
report of investigation. 

VA Response: 

Question 7: Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion 
with respect to Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's 
companies? 

VA Response: 
Question 7a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself 
from any involvement with ? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 8: Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by 
VA attorneys regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal , whether and when this recusal 
occurred, and all communications regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal obligations with 
respect to her husband's companies. 

VA Response: 

Question 9: Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA 
business with her ? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

VA Response: 

Page 2 of 3 
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Enclosure 

Question 10: Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report 
financial information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, 
did Mrs. Bogue list her husband? 

VA Response: 

Question 10a. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s employer(s)? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s salary with respect to his 
work? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10c: Please provide Mrs. Bogue's financial reports dating back 
ack five (5) years. 

VA Response: 

Question 11: If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if 
she participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 12: Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking 
information regarding these matters? 

VA Response: 

Question 12a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely 
and reasonable manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 

VA Response: 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
April 2021 

Page 3 of 3 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
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Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 
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7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 

Thank you! 

Farrisee, Gina S. 
Fri, 9 Apr 2021 21:30:44 +0000 
McVicker, Carrie A. 
RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

From: Mcvicker, Carrie A. f b)(6) ~va.gov> 

Se nt: Friday, April 91 20214:10 PM 
To: Farrfsee, Gfna s. 1rb)(6) ~va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Just more background. Ruthann is very good. 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

rb)(6) F va.gov 

From: Parise, Ruthann f b)(6J l@va.gov> 
Sent: Friday, April 9, 2021 4:05 PM 
To (b)(6) va. OV> 

Cc: McVic er, Carrie A. b)f6) va . ov>;f1-b_)m_) __________ J@ __ va~-~g~ov> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

You're welcome~ 

I just did a search by requests in FOIAXpress and found the following: 

(b)l5 l 
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b}(S) 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 

OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 

Office of the Executive Secretary 

Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 

ruthann .parise@va.gov 

Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

Fromf b)<6> l@va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 9, 20213:44 PM 

To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Cc: Mcvicker, Carrie A. f b1(6J l@va.gov>J-Cb_lf6_1 ___________ @_v_a.-g~oV> 

Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Thanks Ruthann.lfb)IS) 
b)(5J 

From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 9, 20213:25 PM 
rofb1(6J l@va.gov> 

Cc: Mcvicker, Carrie A. fbJ{6J ~ va.gov>; ~Lo_K
5
_) __________ J~---'-'va= . .._go::...:..V> 

I 
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Subject: FW: Follow•uP for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Importance: High 

I have reviewed the asks that begin on page 4 and find t he following regarding ownership of p.otential 

records: 

b)(!ll 
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Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 

OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 

Office of the Executive Secretary 

Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 

ruthann.parise@va.gov 

Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

From: McVicker, Carrie A. fLb_J(_61 ____ _p,,r@~v:c.:a=.g.,_,o"-'-v> 

Sent: Friday, April 9, 2021 2:22 PM 

To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Importance: High 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

r b)(6) F va.:9ov 
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From: Farrisee, Gina S. 
Sent: 
To: 

Sat, 10 Apr 2021 01:06:53 +0000 
McVicker, Carrie A. 

Subject: Re: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley. 

Great, thank you. Enjoy the weekend! 
Gina 
Get Outlook for iOS 
From: Mcvicker, Carrie A. fb1(6J l@va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 9, 2021 6:56:52 PM 
To: Farrisee, Gina S. j(b){6) ~va.gov> 
Subject: Re: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Concur. I will connect them on Monday. 
V/r 
Get Outlook for iOS 
From: Farrisee, Gina S. ~(bJ(o) ~Va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 9, 20215:47:01 PM 
To: McVicker, Carrie A.l'b1<6> @va.goV> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Carrie, 
Why don' t we let Brandye and Ruthann work it out and let us know if there are issues? 

Gina 

From: McVicker, Carrie A. t bJ(S) rva.gov> 
Sent: Friday, April 9, 2021:30 PM 
To: Farrisee, Gina s !Ct>J(o) ~va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Gina - just for SA- this was Ruthann's read on the questions. 

But see what Brandye says before you consider below. 

V/R 

Carrie A. Mcvicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 

fb)f6) 
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From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.parise@va.gov> 
Sent: Friday, April 9, 20213:25 PM 
Toi(b)(6) ~ va.gov> 

Cc: M cVicker, Carrie A. ~b)(6) @Jva.gov>J,__~b_),_61 ___________ ,-~-v_a_.g_o~v> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

I have reviewed the asks that begin on page 4 and find the following regarding ownership of potential 
records: 

b)(5) 
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Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Prlvacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann.parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

From: Mcvicker, Carrie A. f .... b_W_31 _____ @,__v_a_.g-o_v> 

Sent: Friday, April 9, 2021 2:22 PM 
To: Parise, Rut hann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Follow-up for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 
(b)(6} 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Thank you ~b)f6) 

Mike 

Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 

Mon, 12 Apr 202114:24:52 +0000 

rb)(6) ~ 
~------ cVicker, Carrie A.l(bl(61 kOGC) 

RE: Regarding VIEWS 4890714 (SME DATA REQUEST) 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

j<tiJ(61 !(Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OfG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From:ICbl(61 ~va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, Apri l 12, 202110:24 AM 
To: Ho an, M ichael R. OGC (b)(6) @va.gov> 

Cc (bl(6) va.gov>; McVicker, Carrie A. p 1(6) ~va.gov>f b1(6) 
(b)(6) OGC) b)(6) Va.gov> .__ ____ ___. 

Subje ct: Re: Regarding VIEWS 4890714 (SME DATA REQUEST) 

Good morning Mike: 

I realized this morning that when I sent you the email below on Friday, I neglected to provide you with a 

due date for providing the responses to the questions on the enclosure template. Please provide the 

responses by COB on April 16, 2021. The OGC correspondence liaiso1 b){6) I has been added to 

the email and a VIEWS case task has been created to facilitate tracking of t he request for data. 

Get Outlook for iOS 

From: f._b_Jr6_l ___ _. 

Sent: Friday, April 9, 20214:18:56 PM 
To: Ho an, M ichael R. OGC (b}(6) va. av> 

Cc b)(6) va. av>; Mcvicker, Carrie A. ~L(b_H6_l ____ ...Jwl"""v_a~.g~o_v> 

Subject: Regarding VIEWS 4890714 (SME DATA REQUEST) 
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Please let me know if you have any questlohs. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

r b)Ol f mobile) 
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From: l(blf
6

) loGC) 

Sent: Tue, 13 Apr 202110:39:33 +0000 
To: OGC Information Law Group Supervisors 
Cc: p1)f6> ~OGC)fb)f6l loGC) 
Subject: RE: VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-16 17:00:00 -Action 
Requested - Provide Informat ion 
Attachments: FW_ VIE~l.pdf 

GCL 15427 !J(b)f6) lis Ethics the front office made the Task directly to her. l sent the attachments to you all 
yesterday via email attached again to this email. 

(OGC~(b)(6) @va.gov> 
1--r----.--...-p- r...,1 -1 2, 2021 4: 1 8 -PM 

-'""""'-== = o=n..._a {OGC) ~b)(6J l@va.gov>~l(b_)(6_> _____ ~kooC) 
::,Ya.gov>; OGC lnfonnation Law Group Supervisors 

"-."!!!""-----..i..:a'---=--'-----,_ 
(b)(6J va.gov> 
Cc: b}(6l (OGC) b)(6) E)va.gov> 
Subjece RE: VIEWS CCM - Case #: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-16 17:00:00 -Action Requested - Provide 
lnfo1mat.ion 

Not sure. can't access the case in VIEWS b/c it is sensitive. So if you don't see it, you are right. 

-----Original Message-----
From: Cromwell, Sonya (OGC) <!(b}(6) WJva.gov> 
Sent: Monda , A ril 12, 2021 4:f6 PM .-,---------,. 
To b)(6) OGC) b)(6) @va. ov>; (b)(6) OGC) va.gov>: 
OGC In ormat1on Law Group uperv1sors (b)(6) va.gov> 
Cc: Jb)f6) !(OGC) b)tB) va.gov> 
Subject: RE: VlEWS CCM - Case #: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-16 17:00:00 - Action Requested - Provide 
Jnfonnation 

Thanks~ l may have missed the assignment to Ethics in VIEWs. Maybe Ibey are assi.g11illg outside of 
YlEWs??. 

Sonya Marie Cromwell 
Chief Counsel 
OGC lnformation and Administrative Law Group (TALG) 

Dcpar,tmcnt of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW, 1156A 
Washington, DC 20020 
Office Phone b)(6) 
VA cell: b)f6) ...._ ____ _. 

Fax: 202-273-6388 

Suicide Prevention is Everyone's Business - #BeThere. 
The Veterans Crisis Line is 1-800-273-8255 and Press I 

VA Core Values: Integrity Commitment Advocacy Respect Excellence VA Core Characteristics: Tmstworthy I 
Accessible I Quality I Innovative I Agile I Integrated 
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CONFlDENTIALlTY NOTlCE: Tbis e-mail message, and any attachments, may contain information that is 
private, privileged, confidential and/or prohibited from disclosure or unauthorized use under applicable law, and is 
only intended for the use of the party, or parties, to who it is addressed as indicated above. ff you are not the 
intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any use, dissemination, or copying of this message, or any 
attachments, or any information contained therein, is strictly prohibited by the sender. If you received this message 
in error, please return the material to the sender, and delete or destroy all copies. 

-----Original Messagc-----
From:kb)(6} l(OGC) l(b)f6) l@va.gov> 
Sent: Monday, April 12, 2021 4: 12 PM 
,!,ihJ.,Ll.!lllli~...il.l.llml.,' (OOC) 1(b)(6) l@va.gov>j(b)(6) !<)GC) 
1-=------......i.:.z,v..:..;a=·i;;,,o::..v.:....>....l;....:O::...G:::...::C....:' l~n:;io_rmation Law Group Supervisors 
(bl(61 __,va.gov> 
Cc: Cb)(6) OGC) (b)(61 a>.va.gov> 
Subject: RE: VIEWS CCM - Case #: 04890714 - Due Date: 2021-04-16 17:00:00 - Action Requested - Provide 
lnfonnation 

.... rb_J~_61 ____ ___.l should have this assignment 

I tl1ink Ethics-already has this task from a call last week. I think our only response \VOUld be from question 12. 

-----Original Message-----
From: Cromwell, Sonya (OGC) I..,.(b..,..)(-=-6},,....,.... __ ~l@va.gov> 
Sent: Monday. Apri l 12, 2021 3:46 PM 
To: b 6 OGC ,.,.b.,...)(..,.,6),---------,@.va.gov>; OGC fnfonnation Law Group Supervisors 
b)(6) ova.gov> 
Cc: (b){6) (OGC) b)(6) @va.gov> 
Subject; RE: VIEWS CCM _"T-.:,:-::-=0-:"'71=1"0714 ~ Due Date: 2021-04-16 17:00:00 - Action Requested - Provide 
Information 

,_(b_lf_6.,.,) --,-----r=:-:,:--....._a_s---;questions 5, 6 and 12 pettain to release ofinfon:nation/FOIA, please advis~ .... ll-)(_6) ___ -
on the assignment (b)(6) please also create a task for tbe Ethics Law Group. 
Thanks, ~-----' 

S011ya 

Sonya Marie Cromwell 
Chief Counsel 
OGC lnfonnation and Administrative Law Group (IALG) 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW, l J56A 
Washington, DC 20020 
Office PhoneKbJ(6) 
VA ceUfb){6) 
Fax: 20..,_2.....,-2--7..,...3-.....,6..,...38.,...,8,---... 

Suicide Prevention is Everyone's Business - #Be There. 
The Veterans Crisis Line is 1-800-273-8255 and Press J 

VA Core Values: lntegrity Commitment Advocacy Respect Excellence VA Core Characteristics: Trustworthy I 
Accessible I Quality] Innovative I Agile I Integrated 
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CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail message, and any attachments, rnay contain information that is 
private, privileged, coofidential and/o.r prohibited from discl'osure or tmautbo.rized use under applicable law, and is 
only intended for the use of the party, or parties. to who it is addressed as indicated above. ff you are not the 
intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any use, dissemination. or copying of this message. or any 
attachments, or any information contained therein, is strictly prohibited by the sender. Tfyou received this message 
in effor, please return the material to the sender, and delete or destroy all copies. 

-----Original Message-----
FromJb)(6) !(0Gcj(b)f6) l@va.gov> 
Sent: Monday, April 12, 2021 2:23 PM 
To: OGC Information Law Grou Su crvisors Jb)(6J @va.gov> 
Cc: l(b)(6} tooC) (b)(6) al.Va.gov> 

Sub.1ect: F W: VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890714 - Due Date: 202 1-04-16 17:00:00 - Action Requested - Provide 
lnfonnation 

GCL 154271 

-----Original Messa~e-----
FromJb)(6) !@va.gov> 
Sent: .Monday, Apn 12, 2021 2:08 PM 
Tdb)(6} IOGC)-fb-)(6-)----~@va.gov> 

Subject: VIEWS CCM - Case#: 04890 714 - Due Date: 2021-04-16 17:00:00 - Action Requested - Provide 
Information 

Action Required: Provide Information 

New Task. Assignment Alc,tl 

A uew case task was created on: 2021-04-12 14:07:22 and assigned to OGC-024 lnfom,ation Law Group. 

Please see details below. 
Case Subject: Letter from Senator Grassley to SECV A Primary MOC: 
Signature Level: SECY A 

Task Created Byi(b)(6) @va.gov 
Office: OGC-02 General Counsel 
Organization: OGC 

Task Name: LCT-281627 
Due Date is on: 2021-04-16 17:00:00 
Action Requested: Provide Infom1ation 
Requested Activity: This is a rnquest for OGC, under the guidance of Mike Hogan, using the attached template, to 
develop the responses to Senator Grassley's questions, found i.n the incoming letter (also attached). The places i.IJ the 
template where red font is used indicates those illstances where Senator Grassley is specificaUy asking for a 
document. For purposes of background, an email frorn the EXECSEC writer summarizing the plan for moving 
forward and other possibly important iufmmation from the OSVA FO.IA officer is included as well. 

To view case Task details and to provide response, please use the link below: 
httnsJ b)r71(E) 
b)(7}(E) 

1 nank you! 
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For help with the VlEWS CCM, pl'ease contact your VTEWS Office Coordinator (VOC). A list of VOC's is available 
on the VIEWS Resource Center 
fh tt ns · ,ICIJ Jm(EJ 

(b)(7)(E) 
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( BEST AVAILABLE COPY) 
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RK;HMO ,j DUklllN, ll.UNC:>lli., t.ll~IM 

6~~~~\~1~:~t,;,,1:~~i~IA fi::~i: J ;::,~~U:~h9~,1 r.~•IOl!~ 
IU◄f ln(1N WHl1't tlf)4,l';I , t\l ltlllf' 1,1 Af',jtl .IOUN (l(illN'fN, n,A., 
~Mnl.Otli!Cttl\~. MINNU<n" Mtr~AII • LE( illAM 
UdUt. IOflttlA A. «)QNS, OE~WA.Ae H·U tmuz. It )(AS 
t<IUtARl:)MLUMf:NlHAl CONN£Cll lf.\J1 tJlN~~r1 ~u~,t~S..:I\ 
W\Jlfs !o! ,Hl~QNO, W\WAll JOSklJAO. HAWLEY. MISSOUN 
C:O"'IAUO(Jli'..Crt,Nl\'\"..ltRaE't' TOMCOTlt)N AfU~N~O 
Al_l:"I PAOILLA,('ALJFOON1A ,JQMN ~fNNf OV ll1UIStANI\ ,o~ouo,, cH·o-.olA 1140 .., t11 11,,Nrnc 1HcJARt>1 1NA 

Mo\Jl''nll,,, OJA~lt~l.14lN llNNtt)~ I 

April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AN D INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001216

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.12 Page 12 of 19 

a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001222

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.18 Page 18 of 19 

1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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Enclosure 

Department of Veterans of Affairs(VA) Responses to Questions from 
Senator Charles Grassley 

Question 1: Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 1a: If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 1 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 2: Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 2a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 2b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 3a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 3 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Page 1 of 3 
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Enclosure 

Question 4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums 
related to the suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie 
Manker, and Robert Reynolds. 

VA Response: 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: 

Question Sa. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what 
will VA do to prevent this from happening again in the future? 

VA Response: 

Question 6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially 
leaked, has the VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the 
report of investigation. 

VA Response: 

Question 7: Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion 
with respect to Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's 
companies? 

VA Response: 
Question 7a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself 
from any involvement with ? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 8: Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by 
VA attorneys regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal , whether and when this recusal 
occurred, and all communications regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal obligations with 
respect to her husband's companies. 

VA Response: 

Question 9: Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA 
business with her ? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

VA Response: 

Page 2 of 3 
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Enclosure 

Question 10: Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report 
financial information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, 
did Mrs. Bogue list her husband? 

VA Response: 

Question 10a. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s employer(s)? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s salary with respect to his 
work? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10c: Please provide Mrs. Bogue's financial reports dating back 
ack five (5) years. 

VA Response: 

Question 11: If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if 
she participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 12: Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking 
information regarding these matters? 

VA Response: 

Question 12a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely 
and reasonable manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 

VA Response: 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
April 2021 

Page 3 of 3 
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Department of Veterans of Affairs(VA) Responses to Questions from 
Senator Charles Grassley 

Question 1: Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 1a: If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 1 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 2: Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 2a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 2b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 3a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 3 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Page 1 of 3 
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Question 4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums 
related to the suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie 
Manker, and Robert Reynolds. 

VA Response: 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: 

Question Sa. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what 
will VA do to prevent this from happening again in the future? 

VA Response: 

Question 6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially 
leaked, has the VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the 
report of investigation. 

VA Response: 

Question 7: Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion 
with respect to Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's 
companies? 

VA Response: 
Question 7a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself 
from any involvement with ? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 8: Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by 
VA attorneys regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal , whether and when this recusal 
occurred, and all communications regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal obligations with 
respect to her husband's companies. 

VA Response: 

Question 9: Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA 
business with her ? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

VA Response: 

Page 2 of 3 



(21-08490-F) - 001236

Enclosure 

Question 10: Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report 
financial information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, 
did Mrs. Bogue list her husband? 

VA Response: 

Question 10a. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s employer(s)? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s salary with respect to his 
work? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10c: Please provide Mrs. Bogue's financial reports dating back 
ack five (5) years. 

VA Response: 

Question 11: If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if 
she participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 12: Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking 
information regarding these matters? 

VA Response: 

Question 12a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely 
and reasonable manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 

VA Response: 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
April 2021 

Page 3 of 3 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 



(21-08490-F) - 001239

Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 



(21-08490-F) - 001242

Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 202 l 

Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 
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11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 19 

Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 
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13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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1 
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COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 19 

Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 



(21-08490-F) - 001295

traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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Enclosure 

Department of Veterans of Affairs(VA) Responses to Questions from 
Senator Charles Grassley 

Question 1: Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 1a: If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 1 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 2: Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 2a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 2b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 3a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 3 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Page 1 of 3 
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Enclosure 

Question 4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums 
related to the suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie 
Manker, and Robert Reynolds. 

VA Response: 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: 

Question Sa. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what 
will VA do to prevent this from happening again in the future? 

VA Response: 

Question 6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially 
leaked, has the VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the 
report of investigation. 

VA Response: 

Question 7: Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion 
with respect to Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's 
companies? 

VA Response: 
Question 7a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself 
from any involvement with ? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 8: Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by 
VA attorneys regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal , whether and when this recusal 
occurred, and all communications regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal obligations with 
respect to her husband's companies. 

VA Response: 

Question 9: Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA 
business with her ? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

VA Response: 

Page 2 of 3 
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Enclosure 

Question 10: Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report 
financial information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, 
did Mrs. Bogue list her husband? 

VA Response: 

Question 10a. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s employer(s)? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s salary with respect to his 
work? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10c: Please provide Mrs. Bogue's financial reports dating back 
ack five (5) years. 

VA Response: 

Question 11: If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if 
she participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 12: Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking 
information regarding these matters? 

VA Response: 

Question 12a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely 
and reasonable manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 

VA Response: 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
April 2021 

Page 3 of 3 
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From: 
Senti 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

Good afternoon Mike: 

(b)l6l 

Fri, 9 Apr 2021 20:18:56 +0000 
Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 

l(blrm tv,cVicker, Carrie A. 
Regarding VIEWS 4890714 {SME DATA REQUEST) 
4890714 Enclosure template .. docx, 2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 

High 
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Please let me know if you have any questions. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vettnoht Avenue NW 
Washington1 DC 20420 

l(llJffJl I 
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Enclosure 

Department of Veterans of Affairs(VA) Responses to Questions from 
Senator Charles Grassley 

Question 1: Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 1a: If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 1 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 2: Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 2a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 2b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 3a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 3 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Page 1 of 3 



(21-08490-F) - 001304

Enclosure 

Question 4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums 
related to the suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie 
Manker, and Robert Reynolds. 

VA Response: 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: 

Question Sa. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what 
will VA do to prevent this from happening again in the future? 

VA Response: 

Question 6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially 
leaked, has the VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the 
report of investigation. 

VA Response: 

Question 7: Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion 
with respect to Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's 
companies? 

VA Response: 
Question 7a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself 
from any involvement with ? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 8: Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by 
VA attorneys regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal , whether and when this recusal 
occurred, and all communications regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal obligations with 
respect to her husband's companies. 

VA Response: 

Question 9: Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA 
business with her ? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

VA Response: 

Page 2 of 3 
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Enclosure 

Question 10: Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report 
financial information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, 
did Mrs. Bogue list her husband? 

VA Response: 

Question 10a. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s employer(s)? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s salary with respect to his 
work? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10c: Please provide Mrs. Bogue's financial reports dating back 
ack five (5) years. 

VA Response: 

Question 11: If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if 
she participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 12: Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking 
information regarding these matters? 

VA Response: 

Question 12a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely 
and reasonable manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 

VA Response: 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
April 2021 

Page 3 of 3 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 

Tue, 13 Apr 202116:58:24 +0000 
Terrell, Brandye, VBAVACO 
McVicker, Carrie A.f~b-)'6-)---~IParise, Ruthann 

Regarding 4890714/Grasssley 

Good afternoon Brandye: 

I am the writer assigned to facil itate the development of a response for 
VIEWS 4890714/Grassley. 1 was recently infonned that you were developing responses on 
behalfVBA for some of the questions. I write to request that you send me a copy of the 
responses by COB, Friday, April 16, 2021 . I will create a task assignment for you only(because 
this matter is close hold) in VIBWS for tracking/monitoring purposes. 

Please let me know if you have any questions. 

Best regards1 

Get Outlook for iOS 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

Hil(b)f61 

Fri, 16 Apr 202116:20:44 +0000 
1ro)(a) I 

CLOSE HOLD LETTER/VIEWS 4890714 
04890714 - 2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 
High 

Attached is a close hold letter from Senator Grassley about some misconduct at VBA. I have been .....,...~~ 
scurr in about t in to fi ure out who can rovide answers to the 12 uestions in the 1.etter. 1'1)(51 

b)(5) 

{b)(5) That 

said, I am hosting a collab call on Monday and I need the name of the appropriate SME, other than you, 
who I can send the invitation to directly,l(b1(5) I 

l(b)l6) I Let me know if you have any questions. 

l(b)f6) 
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RK;HMO ,j DUklllN, ll.UNC:>lli., t.ll~IM 
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UdUt. IOflttlA A. «)QNS, OE~WA.Ae H·U tmuz. It )(AS 
t<IUtARl:)MLUMf:NlHAl CONN£Cll lf.\J1 tJlN~~r1 ~u~,t~S..:I\ 
W\Jlfs !o! ,Hl~QNO, W\WAll JOSklJAO. HAWLEY. MISSOUN 
C:O"'IAUO(Jli'..Crt,Nl\'\"..ltRaE't' TOMCOTlt)N AfU~N~O 
Al_l:"I PAOILLA,('ALJFOON1A ,JQMN ~fNNf OV ll1UIStANI\ ,o~ouo,, cH·o-.olA 1140 .., t11 11,,Nrnc 1HcJARt>1 1NA 

Mo\Jl''nll,,, OJA~lt~l.14lN llNNtt)~ I 

April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
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intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 
Sent: Fri, 16 Apr 202116:32:56 +0000 
To: 
Cc: 

l(b)[6) I 
McVicker, Carrie A.j~(b_)ra_i _________ ~ 

Subject: RE: Regarding 4890714/Grassley 

Hi f b)(6) 

Later in the day works best, say around 3pm or later. Carrie Johnson Clark is likely the 
person in CSEMO with access to the personnel files and grievance decisions for 
individuals referenced in Sen. Grassley's letter. 

Thank you, 
Hansel 

Hansel J. Cordeiro I Acting Assistant Secretary for Accountability and Whistleblower 
Protection I U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
Tel¥b)(6) II Fax: (202) 495-5601 I Email: rb)(G) ~Va.gov I Address: 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW, Mail Stop 70, Washington, DC 20420 
To make a disclosure: Complete the optional form found at 
h ttps://www.va.gov/accountability I Contact us toll-free at: (855) 429-6669 I Contact us 
by email at OAWP@va.gov. 

This e-mail (including any attachments) may contain information that is private, 
confidential, or protected by law. If you received this e-mail in error, you are notified 
that any disclosure, copying, distribution, or use of the information contained herein 
(including any reliance thereon) is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in 
error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the e-mail and any 
attacl1ments. 

From:l<t>J(fi) @va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 16, 202112:28 PM ,.,,...,..,.,,,...------, 
To: Cordeiro, Hansel (OA.,.,,.W':-i=:-P .... (;....b)_lB_) ---.....--.r 
Cc: Mcvicker, Carrie A. Cb)(B) 

(b)(6) va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Regarding 4890714/Grassley 

Thanks Hansel. Is there a particular time on Monday that would be better for you if you are able to diaf 
in? I will be sure to invite l!bJ(61and Brandye. What about for CESMO? 

From: Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) f0lf61 @va.gov> 
Sent: Friday, April 16, 202112:05 PM 
To: (b)/6) 

Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. b)(6) va. oV>j(b)f6) 

l(b)fB) ~ va.gov> 
l§>va .gov>; 

Subject: RE: Regarding 4890714/Grassley 
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Brandye Ten-ell from VBA referred the allegations to OAWP. I'm out of the office on 
Mondav but will trv and dial-inJ(bJ(5) (b1(6J 
b)(5J 

Thank you, 
Hansel 

Hansel J . Cordeiro I Acting Assistant Secretary for Accountability and Whistleblower 
Protection I U.S. Depa1tment of Veterans Affairs 
Tel:1<0J(6l II Fax: (202) 495-5601 I Email: fb)fG) @va.gov I Address: 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW, Mail Stop 70, Washington, DC 20420 
To make a disclosure: Complete the optional form found at 
https://www.va.gov/accountability I Contact us toll-free at: (855) 429-6669 I Contact us 
by email at OAWP@va.gov. 

This e-mail (including any attachments) may contain information that is private, 
confidential, or protected by law. If you received this e-mail in error, you are notified 
that any disclosure, copying, distribution, or use of the information contained herein 
(including any reliance thereon) is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in 
error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the e-mail and any 
attachments. 

From:l(b)[B) l@va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 16, 202112:01 PM 
To: Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) .,..l(b..,...}(fi=-)-----,w -'-va',::.!i!:go=v,._> _________ _,, 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. kb)f6) l@va.gov>~(bl(6) ~ va .gov> 
Subject: Regarding 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Good morning Hansel: 

Based upon the feedback you provided to Dick Hipol it (shared with me by Mike Hogan) regarding 
4890714/Grassley I am writing for two reasons. First, I want to let you know that I will be sending you 
an invitation to a collaboration call that I am hosting for the purpose of developing responses to some 
of the outstanding questions In the letter. I will attach a draft of the questions and answers I have 
received so far to the collaboration call invitation. 

(b)(5) 
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Thanks in advance for your help. 

Best regards, 

h)ffil 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

r,,., I · 
mobile 
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Sent: Fri, 16 Apr 202118:40:57 +0000 
To: 

Subject: 
l(b)(6) l 
RE: ClOSE HOLD ETTER/VIEWS 4890714 

We 

From:l(b)(6) ~va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 16, 20211:15 PM 
To~(b)(6) i@va.gov> 
Sul;Ject: RE: CLOSE HOLD LE f IE /VIEWS 4890714 

l(b)(6) I'm consulting now. give me an hour to get a response DD 

l(b)(6) I 
VA/OALC 003 

(b)(6) 

Office of Acquisition. logistics1 and Construction 

"We will ACT!" 
© .. ~ 

A ccountability • C ustomer Service • T ronsformot,on 

VIEWS lnformationl(b)(7)(E) 
VIEWS H ELPDESK R'--eq_u_e-st--,sfi::-b""')(7""')(""'E),----------_.._ ___ __, 

Choosev'A 
From~b)(6) l@va.gov> 
Sent: Friday, April 16, 202112:21 PM 
To* b)(6) l@va.gov> 
Subject: CLOSE HOLD LETTER/VIEWS 4890714 
Importance: High 

Attached is a close hold letter from Senator Grassley about some misconduct at VBA. I have been 
scurr in about tr in to fi ure out who can rovide answers to the 12 uestions in the letter~(b-)(5-) ~ 

b)(5) 

b)(S) That 
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said, I am hosting a collab call on Monday and l need the name of the appropriate SME, other than you, 
who I can send the invitation to directly. l(o)(5) 

fbl(5) !Let me know if you ........ ha_v_e- an_y_ q_u_e~st~,o_n_s __________________ _. 
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From: Office of the Executive Secretary (VACO) - Calendar 
Sent: Fri, 16 Apr 202119:24:54 +0000 
To: Office of the Executive Secretary (VACO) - Calendar;Hogan, Michael R. 
(OGC)~(b)(G) loGc~<bJ(6) toGC);Cordeiro, Hansel (OArccW.,..,P~),~·P_a_ris_e-1 ----, 

Ruthann~b)(61 }rerrell, Brandye, VBAVACO;Johnson-Clark, Carrie;._l(b_)f_6) ______ _, 
l(b)f6) Fhristy, Phillip (SES) 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A (b)(6) 
(OGCf bl(6) I( OGc .-<b""'J(6=-)--....._ ______ __,_a-rr-is_e_e_, G_i_n_a _S_. ___ __, 

Subject: Collab Call #2 for VIEWS 4890714/GRASSELY (CLOSE HOLD) 
Attachments: 04890714 - 2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 

Just in case you were not included on this invite. 

rb){6) 

-----Original Appointment-----
From: Office of the Executive Secretary (VACO) - Calendar fb)!6l ~va.gov> 
Sent: Friday, April 16, 20213:25 PM 
To: Office of the Executive Secretary (VACO) - Calendar; Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)~b)(6l 

.,,..;.,,,..,....-....:..:!======;---------:-:---' 
(OGC);fb)f6) JOGC); Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP); Parise, Ruthann;(b)(6) Terrell, 
Brandye, VBAVACO; Johnson-Clark, Carrie; b)f6l hristy, Phi lip SES) 
Cc: Mcvicker, Carrie A.; bl{6) OGC) 

Subject: Collab Call #2 for VIEWS 4890714/GRASSELY (CLOSE HOLD) 
When: Monday, April 19, 20213:30 PM-4:30 PM (UTC-05:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 
Where: Microsoft Teams Meeting 

Hello, 

This ls an invitation for another collab call to discuss the development of responses for the outstanding 
questions for the VIEWS 4890714/Grassley enclosure. We also need to talk about what the transmittal 
letter should say. The incoming letter is attached for your reference. Because I am unable (and/or do 
not know how) to encrypt teams meeting invitations I am forwarding the current (incomplete) version of 
the enclosure as a separate email. The email subject will be similar to the subject of this meeting 

invitation: Collab Call #2 for VIEWS 4890714/GRASSELY {CLOSE HOLD) DRAFT ENCLOSURE. 

Than you in advance for participating in the call on Monday. 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 
Click here to join the meeting 
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Learn More I Meeting options 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001387

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.6 Page 6 of 19 

1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
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Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
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Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 
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11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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26 

27 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 19 

Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: 
Sent: 

l(b)(6) I 
Fri, 16 Apr 202119:29:51 +0000 

To: t b)(6) I 
Cc: Christy, Phillip (SES) 
Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD LETTER/VIEWS 4890714 

~rb_><6_l ___ ~1But i' m happy to facilitate any follow-on actions, if needed. v/r a. 

VA/OALC (003) 
l(b)(6) I 

Office of Acquisition, Logistics, and Construction 

"We will ACT/" 
© $' ~ 

A ccovntobllity • C tHtomer Ser,nce • T ,on~format,011 

VIEWS lnformationJb)(7)(E) 
VIEWS H ELPDESK Re._q_u-es-ts..,.,l(b,..,.)(.,,,.7""")(E""") ________ ........ ___ __,, 

ChooseVA 
Fromfb)(6l @lva.gov> 
Sent: Frida , A ril 16, 20213:21 PM 
To b)!6> va.gov> 
Cc: Christy, Phillip SES (b)(6) va.gov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD LETTER VIEWS 4890714 

Do you want to be on the call too? 

Fromj(b)(6) @va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 16, 20213:15 PM 
To b)(6) 

Cc: Christy, Phillip (SES)Lb_)(6_) ___ _r~--

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD LETTER/VIEWS 4890714 

Hil(b)(6) pALC SME for the subject call is: 
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Phillip w. Christy EJD, CMRP, CFCM, PMP, FACHE 

Deputy Principal Executive Director 
Office of Acquisition, Logistics & Construction 

Thanks al l. v/r A. 

l(b)(6) I 
VNOALC (003) 

l(b)(6) I 

Office of Acquisition, Logistics, and Construction 

"We will ACT/ 11 

© (fl '.! 
A ccountob1tl1y • C ustomer Service • T ronsformolion 

VIEWS lnformation:ICb)(7)(E) 
VIEWS HELPDESK Re._q_u-es-ts"""f-b)-(7-)(E_) ________ __._ ____ ~ 

Choosev'A 
Fr om:l(b)(6) I 
Sent: Friday, April 16, 20211:15 PM 
To:1Cb)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD LETTER/VIEWS 4890714 

f b)(6) I'm consulting now. give me an hour to get a response Q 

f b)(6) I 
VNOALC 003 

(b)(6) 

Office of Acquisition, Logistics, and Construction 

"We will ACT/ 11 

© (fl '.! 
A ccountob/1/ty • C ustomer Service • T ronsformot1on 

VIEWS Information: l ..... (b_)C7_)(_E_) __________ _, 
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VIEWS HELPDESK Requests:i~(b_H7_)_(E_) ______________ ~ 

ChooseV'A 
From:l(b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Friday, April 16, 202112:21 PM 
To:fb)(6) l@va.gov> 
Subject: CLOSE HOLD LETTER/VIEWS 4890714 
Importance : High 

Attached is a close hold letter from Senator Grassley about some misconduct at VBA. I have been 
scurrying about trying to figure out who can provide answers to the 12 questions in the letter . ..,...~b.,.,.,)(5,,...) __, 

l(b)(5) 

!(bl(5) I That 
said, I am hosting a collab call on Monday and I need t he name of the appropriate SME, other than you, 
who I can send the invitation to directly. I am deviating from the usual process in this way because the 
matter is a close hold. Let me know if you have any questions. 
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From: 
Sent: 

Office of the Executive Secretary (VACO) - Calendar 

Mon, 19 Apr 202112:29:51 +0000 

To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

l(b)(6) roGC) 

FW: Collab Call #2 for VIEWS 4890714/GRASSELY (CLOSE HOLD) 

04890714 - 2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 

~b)f6) 

This meeting invitation is for personnel who are gathering information responsive to the Sen Grassley 

request {i.e. the matter involving Murphy, Manker, Reynolds, Bogue). Pis plan to join the call if you are 

available. 

Thank you. 

Mike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washin ton, DC 20420 
/b)<5) (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OAWP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

-----Original Appointment-----

From: Office of t he Executive Secretary (VACO) - Calendar f b1(6J ~va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 16, 20213:25 PM 
To: Office of the Executive Secretary (VACO) - Calendar; Hogan, Michael R. {OGC)Jb1(6J ,,,....;,.,,,...---!..?:=====,-----:---~ 
{OGC); l(b)f6) !(OGC); Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP); Parise, Ruthann; b}(61 Terrell, 
Brandye, VBAVACO; Johnson-Clark, Carrie; b){6) hristy, Phillip (SES) 

Cc: McVicker, Carrie A.; (b)f6) '-------------' Subject: Collab Call #2 for VIEWS 4890714/GRASSELY {CLOSE HOLD) 

When: Monday, April 19, 20213:30 PM-4:30 PM (UTC-05;00) Eastern Time {US & Canada). 

Where: Microsoft Teams Meeting 

Hello, 

This is an invitation for another coll ab call to discuss the development of responses for the outstanding 

questions for the VIEWS 4890714/Grassley enclosure. We also need to talk about what the transmittal 

letter should say. The incoming letter is attached for your reference. Because I am unable (and/or do 
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not know how) to encrypt teams meeting invitations I am forwarding the current (incomplete) version of 
the enclosure as a separate email. The email subject will be similar to the subject of this meeting 
invitation: Collab Call #2 for VIEWS 4890714/GRASSELY (CLOSE HOLD) DRAFT ENCLOSURE. 

Than you in advance for participating in the call on Monday. 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 

Click here to join the meeting 

Learn More I Meeting options 
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RK;HMO ,j DUklllN, ll.UNC:>lli., t.ll~IM 

6~~~~\~1~:~t,;,,1:~~i~IA fi::~i: J ;::,~~U:~h9~,1 r.~•IOl!~ 
IU◄f ln(1N WHl1't tlf)4,l';I , t\l ltlllf' 1,1 Af',jtl .IOUN (l(illN'fN, n,A., 
~Mnl.Otli!Cttl\~. MINNU<n" Mtr~AII • LE( illAM 
UdUt. IOflttlA A. «)QNS, OE~WA.Ae H·U tmuz. It )(AS 
t<IUtARl:)MLUMf:NlHAl CONN£Cll lf.\J1 tJlN~~r1 ~u~,t~S..:I\ 
W\Jlfs !o! ,Hl~QNO, W\WAll JOSklJAO. HAWLEY. MISSOUN 
C:O"'IAUO(Jli'..Crt,Nl\'\"..ltRaE't' TOMCOTlt)N AfU~N~O 
Al_l:"I PAOILLA,('ALJFOON1A ,JQMN ~fNNf OV ll1UIStANI\ ,o~ouo,, cH·o-.olA 1140 .., t11 11,,Nrnc 1HcJARt>1 1NA 

Mo\Jl''nll,,, OJA~lt~l.14lN llNNtt)~ I 

April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001422

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.6 Page 6 of 19 

1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001431

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.15 Page 15 of 19 

1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001432

1 

2 

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.16 Page 16 of 19 

a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: 
Sent: 

Office of the Executive Secretary (VACO) - Calendar 
Mon, 19 Apr 202114:15:09 +0000 

To: ~b)(6) I 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

FW: Collab Call #2 for VIEWS 4890714/GRASSELY (CLOSE HOLD) 
04890714 - 2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 

I believe you both have conflicts . I can attend (not sure how much I can offer) but will give you a read 
out after the call. 

Director, Congressional Liaison Service and Outreach Team 
Office of Congressional and Legislative Affairs 

l(b)(B) I 

-----Original Appointment-----· 
From: Office of t he Executive Secretary (VACO) - Calendarf b)(GJ ~va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 16, 2021 3:25 PM 
To: Office of the Executive Secretary (VACO) - Calendar; Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)!(b)(G) .:,:.,.:..,;:,..:...:!!:====;---:-:-~ 
(OGC)f blf6) JOGC); Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP); Parise, Ruthann b)(t31 Terrell, 
Brandye, VBAVACO; Johnson-Clark, Carrie; b)(6) Christy, Phillip (SES) 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A.!(b)(6) KOGC)f 'J(li) 
(OGC) -------

Subject: Collab Call #2 for VIEWS 4890714/GRASSELY (CLOSE HOLD) 
When: Monday, April 19, 20213:30 PM-4:30 PM (UTC~0S:00) Eastern Time (US & Canada). 
Where: Microsoft Teams Meeting 

Hello, 

This 1s an invitation for another collab call to discuss the development of responses for the outstanding 
questions for the VIEWS 4890714/Grassley enclosure. We also need to talk about what the transmittal 

letter should say. The incoming letter is attached for your reference. Because I am unable (and/or do 
not know how) to encrypt teams meeting invitatlons I am forwarding the current (incomplete) version of 
the enclosure as a separate email. The email subject will be similar to the subject of this meeting 
invitation: Collab Call #2 for VIEWS 4890714/GRASSELY (CLOSE HOLD) DRAFT ENCLOSURE. 

Than you in advance for part icipating in the call on Monday. 

Microsoft Teams meeting 
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Join on your computer or mobile app 
Click here to join the meeting 

Learn More I Meeting options 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001451

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.3 Page 3 of 19 

1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: Billups, Angela 
Sent: Thu, 22 Apr 2021 20:46:11 +0000 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC);Christy, Phillip (SES) 
Cc: 
Subject: 

l(b}f6) I 
RE: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

Hello~ .... (b_)(_5) _____________ ___, 

Regards, 
Angela Billups, Ph.D. 
Executive Director 
Office of Acquisition and Logistics 
Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC{ bJ(61 @)va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20213:55 PM 
To: Billups, Angela (b)(6) @va.gov>; Christy, Phillip (SES) J .... (b_1<6) ___ ___,~va.gov> 
Cc b)(6l va.gov> 

Subject: RE: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

Angela/Phil, 

Bob Fleck provided the following: 

(b)!5) 

Mike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
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Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington. DC 20420 

l'bH6l I Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, 0/G, OSC, and other entities and ofnces, 
without a threat of retaNation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From: Billups, Angela j(b)f6) wva.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20213:49 PM 
To: Christy, Phillip (SES) f bl!6) @va.gov> 
Cc: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGCf b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: RE: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

Hello, while I would like to assist, I am not an SME in this area. I also need to get a good summary of the 
ask related to OGC interpretation of the question from Senator Grassley. 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

(b}l5) 

Regards, 
Angela Billups, Ph.D. 
Executive Director 
Office of Acquisition and logistics 
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Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

Offic• ol ".,qolaltlo"• L.09 l11lc.s, and Con-1tn 1ct lon 

We wlll ACT/" 

From: Christy, Phillip {SES) f b)(6) ~ va,gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 2:27 PM 
To: Billups, Angela (b)(6) OV> 
Cc: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGc(b)/6) va. ov> 

Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Angela-this has boomeranged back to us (see below).J(b)(S) 
(b)(5) 

Phil 

Phillip w. Christy EJD, CMRP, CFCM, PMP, FA CHE 

Deputy Principal Executive Director 
Office of Acquisition, Logistics & Construction 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave NW, Washington, DC 20571 

.... rb_)f6_) ___ ....,~ va .gov 

From: ~b)(6J @va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 2:00 PM 
To: Christy, Phillip (SES) f b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Ccf b)(6) l@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Hi Sir, 

I 

Please see the below question ~ received from ExecSec, referred by OGC. They 
are looking for a SME's name from OALC. However, we have never seen anything like 
this before. I don't think OPAL is the right SME. Should we referl(b)(6) Ito OAL, or back 
to OGC? 
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Thanks for any insight you can provide. 

Senior Correspondence Analyst 
Office of Procurement, Acquisition and Logistics 
Front Office Operations (0038) 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Room 727R 
Washin ton, DC 20420 
Office: (bJ(6) 

Mobile 

Choose~ 
VA D:>re Values: Integrity Commitment Advocacy Respect Excellence 

VA Core Characteristics: Trustworthy I Accessible I Quality I Innovative I Agile I Integrated 

For Official VA Use Only - Working Draft, Pre-Decisional, Deliberative Document: This email and any attachments are intended 
only for the use of the addressee(s) named herein and may contain privileged and/or confidential information. If you are not the 
intended recipient of this email, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this email, and any 
attachments thereto, is strictly prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please notify me via return email or telephone al 
(202) 461 -6896, and permanently delete the original and any copy of any email and any printout thereof. 

From~b)(6) @ va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, Apri l 22, 20211:33 PM 

ToICbl(6) ~ va.gov> 

Subject: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

Importance: High 

Would you please scroll to the bottom o f the email and advise if OPAL would b e the one to provide the 

answ er. Pe b)(6) in EXECS EC sh e just needs an OALC SME to answer the question, andl(b)(5) I 
(b)(5) Also, perl(b)(6) I t his is a confidential matter an d please limit access to the 

information about t h e item to o n ly people that need to know. Thanks as always!. 

From:l(b)(6) @ va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, Apri l 22, 2021 1:21 PM 

To:,b)(6) l§>va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Grassley q uestion 
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Wonderful! The VIEWS number is 4890714. Please note this is a close hold (confidential matter) 
involving a VBA employee. Please limit access to the information about the item to only people that 
need to know. This is one of 12 -16 questions asked by Senator Grassley. 

From{b)(6) l@va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:17 PM 
To:fb)(6} l@va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Grassley question 

Yes, l can send this to a SME to answer. What is the VIEWS number? 

Regards, 
f b)(6} I 

Fromj(bJ(6) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:14 PM 
ro¥bJ(6! @va.gov> 

Subject: FW: Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Hil(b}f6) I 
I talked tofb1!6J !briefly yesterday, so I know she wasn't feeling well. I sent this to her yesterday and I 
was wondering if you could help me since she is out of the office today. All I need is for a OALC SME to 
answer this question below. ~bl(5> I 
If you can get it t me today, that would be outstanding. 

~ 
From:l(b)(6) I 
Sent: Wednesday, April 21, 20218:53 AM 
Tofb1(6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: Grassley question 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: PENDING 

Executive Writer 

Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
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810 Vermont Avenue NW 
ltb)(lfl 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

Thu, 22 Apr 2021 21:20:04 +ODDO 
Hogan, Michael R. (.,_O.,....G""'C ..... ) ____ __, 
McVicker, Carrie AJ~b_J(n_Jl _____ ~ 

RE: comments from COS on draft Grassley 
4890714 ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.2.0 04222021.docx 
High 

Hi Mike: The most recent version of he rough draft is attached - it includes the language you provided 
for question 5. Please note that because of the updated response to questions, question Sa is still 
outstanding. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) fbl(6J !§>va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20214:30 PM 
To (b)(6) va.gov> 

Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. (b)f6) va.gov>f .... b_)(B_1 __________ ___,~va.gov> 
Subject: RE: comments from COS on draft Grassley 

Pis send the rough draft. 

From:l(o)(fi) @va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 4:21 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC fb)(6) va. av> 
Cc: Mcvicker, Carrie A. b)(6l va . ov>;fb1(6J ~ Va.gov> 
Subject: FW: comments from COS on draft Grassley...._ ___________ __. 

HI Mike, 

Below please find below questions from COSVA after reviewing the rough draft of the VA responses to 
Grassley's questions. You will see that all of these questions pertain to the information provided by 
OGC. Thev are as follows: 

(b)(5) 

Please respond by Noon tomorrow. 
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From: 
Se nt: 
To: 
Subject: 

Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
Fri, 23 Apr 202112:16:36 +0000 
Fleck, Robert R. (OGC) 
RE: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

rb)(a) ~Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From: Fleck, Robert R. (OGC)fb)(a) ~va.gov> 
Se nt: Friday, April 23, 2021 5:02 AM 
To: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGq""~b.,...,)(6=)----"""~va.gov> 

Subject: RE: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

Mike, 

Attached is our response. Concur rence is requested. 

Bob 
Robert R. Fleck 
Chief Counsel, Procurement Law Group 
Office of the General Counsel 
Room 1050 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Washin ton DC. 20420 
Office b){5> 
Cell/te .... le_w_o_r_k.,,.(b.,..,.,)(5..,...> ----'-----, 

ATTENTION: This electronic transmission may contain attorney work-product or information protected 
under the attorney-client privilege. Portions of this transmission may contain information also protected 
from disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act, 5 USC §552. Do not release this information 
without prior authorization from the sender. If this has inadvertently reached the wrong party, please 
delete this information immediately and notify the sender. Any security screening of this email by 
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information officers or server administrators is not intended to be consent to any party to review the 
content of the email or a waiver of the attorney-client privilege and/or work product privilege. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) ~b)(6) l@va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20212:45 PM 
To: Fleck, Robert R. (OGC) fb)(6l l@va.gov> 
Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Bob, 

Has your team advised on this matter already? If so, pis resend. If not, pis do so now. 

Thank you. 

Mike 

From: Christy, Phillip (SES)~bJ(6) @va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 2:27 PM 

To: Billups, Angela 1-,b~)(6~)~-=-,,...,..,,,-,--_t:;=::::::::....,_ 
Cc: Hogan, Michae R. OGC (b)(6l va. ov> 
Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Angela-this has boomeranged back to us (see below) ... lfbJ(S) 
b)(5) 

Phil 

Phillip w. Christy EJD. CMRP. CFCM. PMP, FACHE 

Deputy Principal Executive Director 
Office of Acquisition, Logistics & Construction 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave NW, Washington, DC 20571 

.... l(b_Jr5_l ___ _,~ va .gov 

From:l(b)(5) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 2:00 PM 
To: Christy, Phillip (SES) f b)(6) g?va.gov> 
Cc:l(b)(6) ~ va.gov> 

Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

I 
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Hi Sir, 

Please see the below question ~ received from ExecSec, referred by OGC. They 
are looking for a SME's name f~ALC. However, we have never seen anything like 
this before. I don't think OPAL is the right SME. Should we referf l(5) ~o OAL, or back 
to OGC? 

Thanks for any insight you can provide. 

v/r, 
f b)(6J 

Senior Correspondence· Analyst 
Office of Procurement, Acquisition and Logistics 
Front Office Operations (0038) 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Room 727R 
Washington, DC 20420 
Office: (202) 461-6896 
Mobile: (202) 695-9145 
Email: angela.malloy@va.gov 

ChooseVA 
VA Core Values: Integrity Commitment Advocacy Respect Excellence 

VA Core Characteristics: Trustworthy I Accessible I Quality I Innovative I Agile I Integrated 

For Official VA Use Only-Working Draft, Pre-Decisional, Deliberative Document: This email and any attachments are intended 
only for the use of the addressee(s) named herein and may contain privileged and/or confidential information. If you are not the 
intended recipient of this email, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this emafl, and any 
attachments thereto, is stricUy prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please notify me via return email or telephone at 
(202) 461-6896, and permanently delete the original and any copy of any email and any printout thereof. 

From:l(b)(fi) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:33 PM 
Toi<b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Hi l(b)(6) 

Would you please scroll to the bottom of the email and advise if OPAL would be the one to provide the 
answer. Pe b)(6) in EXECSEC she just needs an OALC SME to answer the question, and fb)(5) 

b)(S) Also, per~ this is a confidential matter and please lim..,.it_a_c_c_e-ss-to-.th-e~ 

information about the item to only peo~t need to know. Thanks as always! 

l(b)f6) 
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Fromj(b)IB) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:21 PM 
To{b)f6) l@va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Grassley question 

Wonderful! The VIEWS number is 4890714. Please note this is a close hold (confidential matter) 
involving a VBA employee. Please limit access to the information about the item to only people that 
need to know. This is one of 12 -16 questions asked by Senator Grassley. 

FromJb)(6l k§?va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:17 PM 
To¥b)(6) @va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Grassley question 

Yes, I can send this to a SME to answer. What is the VIEWS number? 

Regards, 
f b)(6) I 
From:l(b)(6) l@va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 1:14 PM 
Tof b)f6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Hi~ 

I talked t~(bl(6) ~riefly yesterday, so I know she wasn't feeling well. I sent this to her yesterday and I 
was wondering if you could help me since she is out of t he office today. All I need is for a OALC SME to 
answer this question below~(b)(5) I 
If you can get it t me today, that would be outstanding. 

rb)(6) 

Froml(b)/6) I 
Sent: Wednesday, Apnl21, 2021 8:53 AM 
Toi(b)(G) ~ va.gov> 

Subject : Grassley question 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 
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VA Response: PENDING 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 

l(blf6) I 
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From: 

Sent: 

To: 

Subject: 

Attachments: 

Mike, 

Fleck, Robert R. (OGC) 
Fri, 23 Apr 2021 09:01:57 +0000 
Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
RE: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Fwd: Question 

Attached is our response. Concurrence is requested. 

Bob 
Robert R. Fleck 
Chief Counsel, Procurement Law Group 
Office of the General Counsel 
Room 1050 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Washin ton, DC, 20420 
Office (b)(6) L...--~-------'--
Cell/telewor b)(5) 

ATTENTION: This electronic transmission may contain attorney work-product or information protected 
under the attorney-client privilege. Portions of this transmission may contain information also protected 
from disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act, 5 USC §552. Do not release this information 
without prior authorization from the sender. If this has inadvertently reached the wrong party, please 
delete this information immediately and notify the sender. Any security screening of this email by 
information officers or server administrators is not intended to be consent to any party to review the 
content of the email or a waiver of the attorney-client privilege and/or work product privilege. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGc)l(b)(5) wva.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 2:45 PM 
To: Fleck, Robert R. (OGC) fb)(6) ~Va.gov> 
Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Bob, 

Has your team advised on this matter already? If so, pis resend. If not, pis do so now. 

Thank you. 

Mike 

From: Christy, Phillip (SES)rb)(6) ~ Va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 2:27 PM 
To: Billups, Angela b)(6) 
Cc: Hogan, M ichael l;,;R-. (,;:.O~G::--;:C"ii)l'!':"'(b~)(6~)- t::=:::::::==-b va. ov> 
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Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Angela-this has boomeranged back to us (see below) ... lb){S) 

(b)(5) 

b)(5} I you t 

be able to refence the policies on how those items are handled? 

Phil 

Phillip w. Christy EJD, CMRP. CFCM, PMP, FACHE 

Deputy Principal Executive Director 
Office of Acquisition, Logistics & Construction 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave NW, Washington, DC 20571 

~''b-)(G_> ___ ~~ va .gov 

From:l(b)(G) @va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 2:00 PM 
To: Christy, Phillip (SES~(b)/B) l@va.gov> 
Cdb)(6} @va.gov> 

Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Hi Sir, 

Please see the below questionl<b)<5> I received from ExecSec, referred by OGC. They 
are looking for a SME's name from OALC. However, we have never seen anything like 
this before. I don't think OPAL is the right SME. Should we refe~ to OAL, or back 
to OGC? 

Thanks for any insight you can provide. 

v/r, 

Senior Correspondence Analyst 
Office of Procurement, Acquisition and Logistics 
Front Office Operations (003B) 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Room 727R 
Washington, DC 20420 
Office: b)/6) 

Mobile.,,,....,-,-,------r-~ 
Email :,Lb_}(_6) ___ ---"~== 
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Choose~ 
VA Core Values: Integrity Commitment Advocacy Respect Excellence 

VA Core Characteristics: Trustworthy I Accessible I Quality I Innovative I Agile I Integrated 

For Official VA Use Only - Working Draft, Pre-Decisional, Deliberative Document: This email and any attachments are intended 
only for the use of the addressee(s) named herein and may contain privileged and/or confidential information. If you are not the 
intended recipient of this email, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this email, and any 
attachments thereto, is strictly prohibited. If you have received this email in error. please notify me via return email or telephone at 
(202) 461-6896, and permanently delete the original and any copy of any email and any printout thereof. 

From:fb)fS) @va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:33 PM 
To~(bX6) l@va.gov> 
Subject: VIEWS 04890714 · Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Would you please scroll to the bottom of the email and advise if OPAL would be the one to provide the 
answer. Per b)(6) n EXECSEC she just needs an OALC SME to answer the question, and~b){S) 

{b)t5) Also, pe~this is a confidential matter and please lim~it_a_c_c_e_s_s-to-th-e-~ 

in orma 10n a e I em o only people that need to know. Thanks as always! 

l{b)(6) 

Fromfb}(6) l@va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:21 PM 
To: fb)f6) l@va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Grassley question 

Wonderful! The VIEWS number is 4890714. Please note this is a close hold (confidential matter) 
involving a VBA employee. Please limit access to the information about the item to only people that 
need to know. This is one of 12 -16 questions asked by Senator Grassley. 

From:fb)(6} ~ va.gov> 

Sent, Thursdfil/, A:ril 22, 20211'17 PM 
Tor)(G} ~ Va.gov> 
Su Jed: RE: Grass ey question 

Hi l(b}(6) 

Yes, I can send this to a SME to answer. What is the VIEWS number? 

Regards, 
l(b){6) 
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From f b)f6) @va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:14 PM 
To:fb)(6) l@va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Grassley question 
Importance: High 

I talked tq(b)f6) briefly yesterday, so I know she wasn't feeling well. I sent this to her yesterday and I 
was wondering if you could help me since she is out of the office today. All I need is for a OALCSME to 
answer this question below. l(b)(5J I 

lfyou can get it t me today, that would be outst-anding. 

From:l ..... (b_lr6_) __ _. 

Sent: Wednesday, April 21, 2021 8:53 AM 
To:fbl(6} ~ va.gov> 
Subject: Grassley question 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: PENDING 

Executive Writer 
Offtce of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 

l(b)(6) I 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 

Mike, 

Fleck, Robert R. (OGC) 
Thu, 22 Apr 202119:16:02 +0000 
Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
Fwd: Question 

Here is the answer we provided to you last Friday. Let me know if you need something 
additional. 

Bob 
Robert R. Fleck 

From: Fleck, Robert R. (OGC)l(b)(5) ~va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 16, 2021 5:55 AM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC); Hughes, Michael D. (OGC) 
Subject: RE: Question 

Mike, 

(b)(5) 

Bob 
Robert R. Fleck 
Chief Counsel, Procurement Law Group 
Office of the General Counsel 
Room 1050 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Washin ton DC 20420 
Offic (b){5l 

'----~---...._--~ Cell/telework b){6) 

ATTENTION: This electronic transmission may contain attorney work-product or information protected 
under the attorney-client privilege. Portions of this transmission may contain information also protected 
from disclosure under the Freedom of Information Act, 5 USC §552. Do not release this information 
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without prior authorization from the sender. If this has inadvertently reached the wrong party, please 
delete this information immediately and notify the sender. Any security screening of this email by 
information officers or server administrators is not intended to be consent to any party to review the 
content of the email or a waiver of the attorney-client privilege and/or work product privilege. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)fb)(6) ~va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 15, 20213:07 PM 
To: Fleck, Robert R. (OGC) l(0)(6) ~va.gov>; Hughes, Michael D. (OGC) 

l(b)(6) l@va.gov> 

Subject: Question 
Importance: High 

Gentlemen, 

Please respond to this question (from a Senator's request). 

What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market sensitive 
information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to publicly-traded 
companies? 

If I should seek an answer from another source (i.e. OALC), please let me know ASAP. 

I need an answer before COB Friday. Thank you. 

M ike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affa irs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

fbl(6) !(Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: McVicker, Carrie A. 
Sent: 
To: 

Fri, 23 Apr 202113:25:27 +0000 
Farrisee, Gina S. 

Subject: FW: comments from COS on draft Grassley 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

4890714 ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.2.0 04222021 (002) - OGC edits.docx 
High 

Gina - as discussed. 

V/R 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs r''6) F va.gov 

Fromf h)(l3l ~va,gov> 

Sent: Friday, April 23, 20218:53 AM 

va.gov> To: McVicker, Carrie A. b)f61 

Cc: b)(6) va.gov> 
Subject: RE: comments from COS on draft Grassley 
Importance: High 

Carrie: 

Below are Mike's responses (in red font) to questions from COSVA. I have also attached the latest 
version of the rough draft, which includes Mike's changes below, ·in case it is easier to digest. 

b)[:il 
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(b)(5) 

From: Mcvicker, Carrie A. ft•Hel @va.goV> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:54 PM 

Tof'lt61 @va.~ov> 
cc _bl16• -~ va.gov> 
Subject: comments from COS on draft Grassley 

tl1(5) 

Thanks. 

Carrie 

Carrie A. McVicker 



(21-08490-F) - 001492

The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

rb)(6) r va.gov 
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From: 
Sent: 

Office of the Executive Secretary (VACO) - Calendar 
Tue, 27 Apr 202114:40:32 +0000 

To: Farrisee, Gina S. 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A.;Parise, Ruthann 
Subject: FW: comments from COS on draft Grassley 
Attachments: 4890714 ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.2.0 04222021 (002) - OGC edits.docx 

Mike's email below. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) fb)(6) ~va.gov> 
Sent: Thursda , A ril 22, 2021 6:18 PM 
To (bl(6) va.gov> 

Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. b)(6) va.gov>fb)(6) pva.gov> 
Subject: RE: comments from COS on draft Grassley-----------~ 

~ addr~ss~d the questions in the attached file.rb}(Sl 
mvest1gat1on. ~-------------------~ 

b}(Sl 

Mike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

f b>(6l !(Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From:l(b)[6) @va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20214:21 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) (b)!6) va. ov> 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. b)(6) va. ov> (b)(6) L_ ________ __r,a~=-'-' 
Subject: FW: comments from COS on draft Grassley 
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HI Mike, 

Below please find below questions from COS VA after reviewing the rough draft of the VA responses- to 
Grassley's questions. You will see that all of these questions pertain to the information provided by 
OGC. They are as follows: 

Please respond by Noon tomorrow. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 
Attachments: 

Office of the Executive Secretary (VACO) - Calendar 
Tue, 27 Apr 202113:12:31 +0000 
Parise, Ruthann;McVicker, Carrie A.fb)f6} 

Grassley Letter Next steps ~-----~ 

4890714 ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.2.0 04222021 (002) - OGC edits.docx, 
Follow-up, RE: comments from COS on draft Grassley, FW: Response to request from US Senator 

The most recent version of the enclosure response is attached. I have also attached other emails from 
Mike that provided guidance. 

Microsoft Teams meeting 

Join on your computer or mobile app 
Click here to ioin the meeting 

Learn More I Meeting opuons 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 

Re: Sen Grassley ltr 

Ruthannej_'b_)(_6l _ ___, 

Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
Fri, 23 Apr 202118:12:56 +0000 

Paris~ Ruthannr __ 1~-'-----­
Follow-up 

The draft response incorporates the full range of responsive information.l'b)(5) 
bl(5) 

Thank you. 

Mike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

l'bl(6l !Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, 0/G, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not /lmited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

I 
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From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Thu, 22 Apr 2021 22:18:13 +ODDO 
l(b)(6) I 
McVicker, Carrie A.j(b){6) I 
RE: comments from COS on draft Grassley 

Attachments: 4890714 ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.2.0 04222021 (002) - OGC edits.docx 

~ 
I addressed the questions in the attached file.~l'b-)(5_> ____________________ ~ 
investigation. 

Mike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affa irs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washin ton, DC 20420 

(b)(6> Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From:l(bJ(S) l@va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20214:21 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) b)(6) va.gov> 

Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. (b}(61 va.gov>;f=b=)(6=)=====================@)va.gov> 
Subject: FW: comments from COS on draft Grassley 

HI Mike, 

Below please find below questions from COSVA after reviewing the rough draft of the VA responses to 
Grassley's questions. You will see that all of these questions pertain to the information provided by 
OGC. They are as follows: 

(b)C5) 
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Please respond by Noon tomorrow) 
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From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 

Sent: Fri, 23 Apr 202116:31:32 +0000 
To: 
Subject: 

Parise, Ruthan1(b)(6) I 
FW: Response to request from US Senator 

For your awareness. 

FromJ b)(5) ~OGC)ICbJ(5) @va.gov> 

Se nt: ~rlday, April 23, 202112:31 PM 
To (b)(6) (OGC)l(b)/6) !§>va.gov>; Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) (b)(6) va.gov> .---'...._ ___ .....,~ 
Cc: Tyler, Cynthia OGC) b)/6) va.gov>; Cromwell, Sonya (OGC) b)(6) 

r b}(6) l (OGC) b)(6) Va.gov> ~----~ 

Subje ct: RE: Response to request from US Senator 

From:l(b)(6) l (OGC) j(b)(6) ~ Va.gov> 

Se nt: Thursday, April 22, 2021 6:37 PM 

To: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC) (b)f
6> va. ov>fb)f6} ~O.,;:G.;:C~) f=b)=<5=J =====:;r'~~v-'-'a=.g=o'--'-v> 

Cc: Tyler, Cynthia (OGC) b)(6) va. ov>; Cromwell, Sonya (OGC)l(b)(6) ~ va.gov>; 
l(b)(6) l OGC) b)(6) @va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Response to request from US Senator 

b)(5l 

l'b)(6) 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGcf b){a) ~ va.gov> 

Se nt~ Thursday, Apri l 22, 20214:58 PM 
To¥b)(6) ~OG b)(6) va. ov>;fb)(6J I (OGC)..,b""')/6,.,.,),,...... ____ .....,..~ 

Cc: Tyler, Cynthia (OGC) )(6) va. ov>; Cromwell, Sonya (OGC (b)(6l va. ov>; 
fbX6) joGC) (b)(6) va. OV> 

Subje ct: RE: Response to request from US Senator 

Thank you Mark. I believe we already have them. Just d id not know who had authority to release them. 
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Mike-

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) fb)(6) k@va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20214:52 PM 
Tol(b)(6) l(OGC (b){6) va. ov>j(b)(6) toG ov> 
Cc: Tyler, Cynthia (OGC) (b)(a) va. ov>; Cromwell, Sonya (OGC) (b)(G) va. ov> 

Subject: Response to request from US Senator 
Importance: High 

L_ ___ ___f'-===....,. 

VA received a request from Sen Grassley seeking informatton about three senior VBA officials and 
another SES. 

One question seeks copies of PFD reports. 

Thank you. 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

l(b)(a) I (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints w;thout fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 
Attachments: 

Thanks, 

fb)[6J toGC) 
Thu, 29 Apr 202118:02:07 +0000 
Parise, Ruthann 
Draft Grassley Letter 
4890714 ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.3 4272021 (003) FOIA edits.docx 

Deputy Chief Counsel - FOIA/PA Appeals/litigation 
Information and Administrative Law Group (024A) 
Office of General Counsel 
U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affa irs 
(Office) b)(6) 

(b)(5) VA. ov 
ATTORNEY CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE - FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY. 
CAUTION. The 1nformatton contained In this e-mail constitutes professional communications and any 
accompanying attachments may contarn Health Insurance Portability and Accountab1llty Act (HIPAA). 
Privacy Act, and/or Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) protected information including attorney-client or 
attorney work product privileged information. This information may not be released or forwarded to 
anyone who 1s not an authorized user/recipient without appropnate prior authorization from the sender. If 
you are not the Intended recipient of this information, any disclosure, copying. distribution, or the taking of 
any action ln reliance on this 1nformat1on is prohibited. If you receive this e-mail in error please notify ttiis 
office immediately by return e-mail 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

McVicker, Carrie A. 
Thu, 29 Apr 202119:52:56 +ODDO 
Farrisee, Gina S. 
Fwd: Grassley 
4890714 ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.3 4272021 (003) FOIA edits.docx 

Just to keep you on the loop. 

V/r 

Get Outlook for 10S 
From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 29, 2021 3:45 PM 

Tol(b)(6) I 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A.; f~b_lr6_) ____ ~ 
Subject: RE: Grassley 

Hjet>)(6! 

Attached is the. Grassley Rough Draft with FOIA edits from~ and my discussion earlier toda.y,l(b)(5) 

Let me know if you have any questions. 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
n.1thann.parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if dny, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S. C. § 552. If you received this message and 
ottdchments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

From: Parise, Ruthann 
Sent: Wednesday, April 28, 20214:14 PM 
To: b)!6J va.gov> 

Cc: Mcvicker, Carrie A. fb)/6) va.gov>; ..... l(b_l<_6) _________ ____,~va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Grassley 
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You're welcome~ Yes,l!b)(6} lwill gi.ve me that information tomorrow in our follow up meeting. 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann.parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

From {b)(B) 
(..,.._~.....----,--....,....,..., .......... ,..,,....,,.-,,..P:':'~::...:. 

ay, Apri 28, 20214:13 PM 
To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. l!bX6) @va.govi b)C6J ~ va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Grassley .__ ___________ __. 

Thanks for the update Ruthann. b){SJ 
b)(5} 

From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, April 28, 2021 3:48 PM 
To (b)f6) va. ov> 

Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. (b){6} 

Subject: Grassley 
va . ov>fLb_J~_l ___________ ~f>~v~a~.g=o~v> 

Hi fb)f6) 

I just had a meeting w/Mike Hogan and l(til(5) l(OGC ILG) re the Grassley letted(b)(S) 

b)/5) 

(b )(5) (b )(6} 

Hope th is clears things up rather than adds to any confusion. 
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Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann.parise@va.gov 

Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S. C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FD/A Officer and destroy them immediately. 
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From: fbJ<6J loGC) 

Sent: Thu, 29 Apr 2021 22:00:03 +0000 
To: ~b)(6) H OGC) 

Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

Got a minute for a quick call? 

Thanks, 

Deputy Chief Counsel - FOIA/PA Appeals/Litigation 
Information and Administrative Law Group (024A) 
Office of General Counsel 
U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs 
Office b)(6) 

ATTORNEY CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE - FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY. 
CAUTION. The information contained In this e-mail constitutes professional commun1cat1ons and c1ny 
accompanying attachments may contain Health Insurance Portability and Accountab1llty Act (HIPAA), 
Privacy Act, and/or Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) protected information including attorney-client or 
attorney work product privileged information. This 1nformat1on may not be released or forwarded to 
anyone who 1s not an authorized user/recipient without appropnate prior authorization from the sender. If 
you are not the intended recipient of this Information, any disclosure, copying, distribution, or the taking of 
any action in reliance on this information is prohibited. If you receive this e-mail in error, please notify this 
office immediately by return e•mail 

From/ b)(6l l@va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 29, 2021 4:38 PM 
To~(b)(6) ~OGC) fb)(6) ~Va.gov> 

Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

H~ 

I am reaching out to you about the comment (pasted below) that you inserted for t he VA's response to 

question 5: 

b)(5) 
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(b)!5> 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) ~(b)(G) @>va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20213:55 PM 
To: Billups, Angela b)(6} va. ov>; Christy, Phillip (SES) l(b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Cc (b)\6) va. ov> ~---~ 

Subject: RE: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

Angela/Phil, 

Bob Fleck provided the following: 

(b)(5} 

Mike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affa irs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washin ton, DC 20420 
(b)(G) Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. Alf VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: Billups, Angela J(b)(B) @va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22 2021 3:49 PM 

To : Christy, Phillip (SES) L(b_)(B-:-1)= ~-..l!:::::::::=:::!F 
Cc: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) b)(6} va. ov> 

Subject: RE: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

Hello, while I would like to assist, I am not an SME in this area. I also need to get a good summary of the 
ask related to OGC interpretation of the question from Senator Grassley. 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

b)(5) 

Regards, 
Angela Billups, Ph.D. 
Executive Director 

Office of Acquisition and Logistics 

Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 

Washington, DC 20420 

Olflce of Acqultltlon. Lo9l1llcs, and Construction 

From: Christy, Phillip (SES) <fb)<5) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 202J.,.1,......,,..2:"""2-7"""P ..... M _ _r--'-=-'-'~ 

To : Billups, Angela (b)(6) 
Cc: Hogan, MichaelLR.:.:. . .,.:.(O_G_C~)...f,(;;:;;bX~6:r-} ..=....:..:::.;= 7 

va. ov> 
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Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Angela-this has boomeranged back to us (see below)P )(SJ 
(b)(5) 

Phil 

Phillip w. Christy EJD, CMRP, CFCM, PMP, FACHE 

Deputy Principal Executive Director 
Office of Acquisition, Logistics & Construction 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave NW, Washington, DC 20571 

~ va.gov 

Fromj(b)(G) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 2:00 PM 
To: Christy, Phillip (SE5f b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Cc: l(b)(6) l@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Hi Sir, 

Please see the below question~ received from ExecSec, referred by OGC. They 
are looking for a SME's name from OALC. However, we have never seen anything like 
this before. I don't think OPAL is the right SME. Should we refe~(b)(6) Ito OAL, or back 
to OGC? 

Thanks for any insight you can provide. 

v/r, 

Senior Correspondence Analyst 
Office of Procurement, Acquisition and Logistics 
Front Office Operations (003B) 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Room 727R 
Washington, DC 20420 
Office: (b)(6) 
Mobile: 
Email r.:-b':-:'.)(6::-:-)--- ---...::r:-~==:..:.. 
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Choosev'A 
VA C-Ore Values: Integrity Commitment Advocacy Respect Excellence 

VA C-Ore Characteristics: Trustworthy I Accessible I Quality I Innovative I Agile I Integrated 

For Official VA Use Only - Working Draft, Pre-Decisional, Deliberative Document: This email and any attachments are intended 
only for the use of the addressee(s) named herein and may contain privileged and/or confidential information. If you are not the 
intended recipient of this email, you are hereby notified that any dissemination, distribution or copying of this email, and any 
attachments thereto, is strictly prohibited. If you have received this email in error. please notify me via return ema'il or telephone at 
(202) 461-6896, and permanently delete the original and any copy of any email and any printout thereof. 

From:l(b)[B) @va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:33 PM 
To~(b)16) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Would you please scroll to the bottom of the email and advise if OPAL would be the one to rovide the 
answer. Per b)f6) n EXECSEC she just needs an OALC SME to answer the question, an b)(S) 

(b}(S) lso, per~ his is a confidential matter and please lim...,1~t _a_c-ce_s_s_t_o_t~e-

m ormat1on a out t e item to only people that need to know. Thanks as always! 

~ 
Fromj(b)f6) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:21 PM 
To f bl(6 l l@va.gov> 
SutiJect: RE: Grassley question 

Wonderful! The VIEWS number is 4890714. Please note this is a close hold (confidential matter) 
involving a VBA employee. Please limit access to the information about the item to only people that 
need to know. This is one of 12 -16 questions asked by Senator Grassley. 

From:l(b)(fl) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:17 PM 
T o i {b)f6} ~ va.gov> 
Subject: RE': Grassley question 

H ij(b)(6) 

Yes, I can send this to a SME to answer. What is the VIEWS number? 

Regards, 

~ 
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Fro mj(b}(B) kwva.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:14 PM 
To~(b)(6) @va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Hi ~ 

I talked to !(bJ(6) !briefly yesterday, so I know she wasn't feeling well. I sent this to her yesterday and I 
was wondering if you could help me since she is out of the office today. All I need is for a OALCSME to 
answer this question below. l(b)(S) I 
lfyou can get it t me today, that would be outst-anding. 

From: j<b)(6) I 
Sent: Wednesday, April 21, 2021 8:53 AM 
To: llb)f6) lPva .gov> 
Subject: Grassley question 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: PENDING 

Executive Writer 
Offtce of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
l(b)(6) I 
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From: .... l1b_)f6_) ___ ___, 

Sent: Mon, 3 May 202116:34:03 +0000 
To: Parise, Ruthann 
Cc: l(b)(6} ~cVicker, Carrie A. 
Subject: FW: Grassley letter 
Attachments: VIEWS 4890714 - Transmittal letter.docx, 4890714 FINAL ROUGH DRAFT of 
Enclosure_ v.4 42920213 4272021.docx 
Importance: High 

Hi Ruthann: 

Attached is the proposed transmittal letter and the rough draft ofthe enclosure (you provided last 
week). fbJ(5) 

let me know if you have questions. 
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From: McVicker, Carrie A. 
Sent: Mon, 3 May 202116:51:08 +0000 
To: Farrisee, Gina S. 
Subject: FW: Gr~ssley letter 
Attachments: VIEWS 4890714 - Transmittal Letter.docx, 4890714 FINAL ROUGH DRAFT of 
Enclosure_ v.4 42920213 4272021.docx 
Importance: High 

Gina - here is the latest we can use for tomorrow, Below is an update on where we are. 

V/R$ 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

r b)(6l F va.gov 

Fromf b)(6J ~Va.gov> 
Sent: Monday, May 3, 202112:29 PM 
To: McVicker, Carrie A. (b)(6} 

Cc:(b)(6) 

Subject: RE: Grassley letter 
Importance: High 

Carrie: 

The Grassley transmittal I!:!tter and the latest version of the enclosure are attached. The enclosure is 
unchanged from the one I provided last week. fb)f5l I 

(b)(5) 

Question 5: What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding 
market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements 
related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Responsel(bJ{Iil 
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(b)!5) 

From: McVicker, Carrie A. l(b)f6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Monday, May 3, 202111:54 AM 
To: b)(6) 

Cc: o}(6) va. ov> 

rass ey etter 

Good afternoon ~ 

Just a reminder to send me the latest version of the Grassley response later this afternoon. 

Thanks! 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

l'b)(6) F va.gov 
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From: 
Sent: 

rP1(6J JoGC) 

Mon, 3 May 2 2118:11:03 +0000 
To: fb)(6) I 
Subject: RE: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

b)(5) 

Thanks, 

l'b)f6) I 
FromjCbJ(61 l@va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, May 3, 202112:16 PM 
To~/b)(6) joGqb)f6) l@va.gov> 

Subject: RE: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

Hl{b)(6) I 
rb )(5} (b )(6) 

From:1<01(61 I (OGC) IMt6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 29, 2021 6:00 PM 

Tof b1(6J ~ va.gov> 
Su6Ject: RE: VIEWS 04890/14 - ~assley question 

(b)(5) (b)(6) 
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From:Ll(b_J(_6> ________ ....r-~-v_a~.g~o_v> 
Sent: Thursda A ril 29, 20214:38 PM 
To: b)(6) (OGC) l(b}(6) ~ va .gov> 

Sul:iJect: S 04890714 - Grassley question 

I am reaching out to you about the comment (pasted below) that you inserted for the VA's response to 

question 5: 

b)(5) 

Question 5: What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding 
market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements 
related to publicly-traded companies? 

f b)(5) VA Response 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) f..,..b .... )(6 .... >,.....,..... __ ~ ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20213:55 PM 
To: Billu s, An ela b)(6) ov>; Christy, Phillip (SES)Lfb_H6_> ___ ___,.@_v'""a""'.g""'o~v> 
Cc (b)(6) va. ov> 

Subject: RE: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

Angela/Phil, 

Bob Fleck provided the follow ing: 

(b)(5) 
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(b)(S) 

M ike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affa irs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washin ton DC 20420 
(b )(6) Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From : Billups, Angela ~(b)(6) @va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, Apri l 22, 2021 3:49 PM 

To: Christy, Phillip (SES) f b)t6) @)va.gov> 
Cc: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) i<b)(6) ~ va.gov> 

Subject: RE: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 

Hello, while I would like to assist, I am not an SME in this area. I also need to get a good summary of the 

ask related to OGC interpretation of the question from Senator Grassley. 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

(b)(5) 
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Regards, 
Angela Billups, Ph.D. 
Executive Director 
Office of Acquisition and Logistics 
Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

From: Christy, Phillip (SES) j(b)(6) @va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 2:27 PM 
To: Billups, Angela b)(6} ov> 

Cc: Hogan, Michael . -~---- va. ov> 
Subject: FW: VIEWS 0489071 - rass ey question 
Importance: High 

Angela - this has boomeranged back to us (see below) .. l(b1(5J 

(b)(S) 

Phil 

Phillip W. Christy EJD, CMRP, CFCM, PMP, FACHE 
Deputy Principal Executive Director 
Office of Acquisition, Logistics & Construction 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave NW, Washington, DC 20571 

~ va .gov 

Fromfb)f5) ~ Va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 2:00 PM 
To: Christy, Phillip (SES) fblf6) l'Pva.gov> 
Cc:l(b)f6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: FW: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley quest ion 
Importance: High 

Hi Sir, 
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Please see the below question~ received from ExecSec, referred by OGC. They 
are looking for a SME's name fro"rn"dALC. However, we have never seen anything like 
this before. I don't think OPAL is the right SME. Should we refer~ to OAL, or back 
to OGC? 

Thanks for any insight you can provide. 

v/r, 
~b)(6) I 
Senior Correspondence Analyst 
Office of Procurement, Acquisition and Logistics 
Front Office Operations (0038) 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Room 727R 
Washin ton DC 20420 
Office: (b)(6) 

Mobile,....._ ____ _ 
Email (b)(6) 

Choose~ 
VA Core Values: Integrity Commitm ent Advocacy Respect Excellence 

VA Core Characteristics: Trustworthy I Accessible I Quality I Innovative I Agile I Integrated 

For Official VA Use Only - Working Draft, Pre-Decisional, Deliberative Document: This email and any attachments are intended 
only for the use of the addressee(s) named herein and may contain privileged and/or confidential information. If you are not the 
intended recipient of this email, you are hereby notified that any dissemination. distribution or copying of this email, and any 
attachments thereto, is strictly prohibited. If you have received this email in error, please notify me via return email or telephone at 
(202) 461-6896, and permanently delete the original and any copy of any email and any printout thereof. 

From:fbH6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 2021 1:33 PM 
To ~(b}(ol tE?va.gov> 
Subject: VIEWS 04890714 - Grassley question 
Importance: High 

Hil(b)(6) 

Would you please scroll t o the bottom of the email and advise if OPAL would be t he one to provide the 
answer. Pe (b)(6) in EXECS EC she just needs an OALC SME to answer t he question, and fb)(5l 

(b)(SJ Also, per l(b)(6) I t his is a confident ial matter and please lim~it_a_c-ce_s_s_t_o_t,-he~ 

information about the item t o only people that need to know. Thanks as always! 

From:l(b)[B) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday. April 22. 2021 1:21 PM 
To J(b)(G) @va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Grassley question 
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Wonderful! The VIEWS number is 4890714. Please note this is a close hold (confidential matter) 
involving a VBA employee. Please limit access to the information about the item to only people that 
need to know. This is one of 12 -16 questions asked by Senator Grassley. 

From:fb)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:17 PM 
To: l(b)l6l ~ va.gov> 
SubJect: RE: Grassley question 

Yes, I can send this to a SME to answer. What is the VIEWS number? 

Regards, 
fb)f6) I 

Fromtb)(6) l@va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, April 22, 20211:14 PM 
Tol(bJ(6) l@va.gov> 
Subject: FW: Grassley question 
Importance~ High 

I talked tofb)f61 I briefly yesterday, so I know she wasn't feeling well. I sent this to her yesterday and I 
was wondering if you could help me since she is out of the office today. All I need is for a OALC SME to 
answer this question below.fb)l5) I 
If you can get it t me today, that would be outstanding. 

From:1<01(61 I 
Sent: Wednesday, April 21, 20218:53 AM 
Toi(b)f6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: Grassley question 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: PENDING 

Executive Writer 
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Offlce of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 

r ll{61 
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From: ... l'b_H_B) ___ ____, 
Sent: Tue, 4 May 202113:05:47 +0000 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC);Parise, Ruthann 
Cc: l(b)(6) rv,cvicker, Carrie A. 
Subject: RE: Call this morning 
Attachments: VIEWS 4890714 - Transmittal Letter.docx, 4890714 FINAL ROUGH DRAFT of 
Enclosure_ v.4 42920213 4272021.docx 
Importance: High 

Good morning Mike: 

The Grassley transmittal letter and the latest version of the enclosure are attached. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) lfbJf6) ~Va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 4, 2021 9:00 AM 
To~Ct:i}(6) ~Va.gov>; Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Subject: Call this morning 
Importance: High 

Hello, 

Please send the most recent draft of the response to Sen Grassley's request. I would like to review it 
before our call with Gina at 9:30 am. 

Thank you. 

Mike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washin ton, DC 20420 

fb)(6) (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OAWP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

Hi Ruthann, 

..._f b)f_6) __ -.JtoGC) 

Tue, 4 May 202114:12:00 +0000 
Parise, Ruthann 
FW: 4890714 FINAL ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.4 42920213 4272021 
4890714 FINAL ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.4 42920213 4272021.docx 
High 

Just checking in on the status of all this, This is an old draft, I think, You were going to have us do a 
second-level review on any released documents, right? 

Thanks, 
l(bHo> I 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGcfb)(ol !§>va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 4, 20219:24 AM 
TofbJr6> joGc~b)<6) ~va.gov> 

Subject: 4890714 FINAL ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.4 42920213 4272021 
Importance: High 

(b)(5) 

Thank you. 

Mike 



(21-08490-F) - 001587

From: Parise, Ruthann 

Sent: 
To: 

Tue, 4 May 202114:15:SS +0000 
l(b)(6) l(OGC) 

Subject: RE: 4890714 FINAL ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.4 42920213 4272021 

1

,~~;, I'm going to have you do a second reviewf 01l5J 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 

Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 

ruthann.parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Onfy, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

From: f b>(61 I( OGC) ~l'b_l<a_) --~~ va .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 4, 202110:12 AM 

To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 4890714 FINAL ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.4 42920213 4272021 
Importance: High 

Hi Ruthann, 

Just checking in on the status of all this. This is an old draft, I think. You were going to have us do a 
second-level review on any released documents, right? 

Thanks, 
l(b}(6) I 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) ~b){5l ~ va.goV> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 4, 2021 9:24 AM 
Tof blffi) pGC) jfb){6) [Pva.gov> 
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Subje ct: 4890714 FINAL ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.4 42920213 4272021 
Importance: High 

l(bJ(o> 

b)f5) 

Thank you. 

Mike 
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From: Parise, Ruthann 
Sent: Fri, 14 May 202118:02:03 +0000 
To: l(b)(6) I 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A.~~b-)(6_) ____ _ 
Subject: RE: Grassley 
Attachments: VIEWS 4890714 - Transmittal letter (RP edits) (002).docx, (2) Attachment P 
Murphy Training records.xlsx, (2) Attachment I Training.xlsx, (2) Attachment L Manker Training 
Records.xlsx 

Attached is the draft t ransmittal letter and three ExceLspreadsheets. 

I sent the transmittal letter t~ minute ago but didn't want to hold you up. If I hear back from him 
before I log off at 2:30 I will let you know, 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann.parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S. C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

From: Parise, Ruthann 
Sent: Friday, May 14, 20211:25 PM 
To: b)f6) va.gov> 

Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. (b)(B) va.gov>j~(b_H
5
_) __________ ~ ~va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Grassley 

You're welcom~b)(6l I I'm doing the transmittal letter right now. l(b)(S) 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Prjvacy Officer 
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Office of the Executive Secretary 

Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept . of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 

ruthann.parise@va.gov 

Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from discfosure pursuant to 5 U.S. C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

Fromfbl(6) W va.gov> 

Se nt: Friday, M ay 14, 2021 1:22 PM 

To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 

Cc: M cVicker, Carrie A.llb)(6} ~ va.gov>;f1.,_b_)!6_l __________ ...J"l@~ va=·~g~ov> 
Subject: RE: Grassley 

Thanks Ruthann. I w ill keep looking out for them. ~b)(51 tb)f6) 

(b)(5) 

Carrief b1(6} I 
We are going to have figu re something out. As you know OSVA approval packages consists of the (1) 
incoming letter; (2) the response; (3) t he enclosure; and any (4) attachments referenced in t he 

enclosure. The fi rst attachment was 578 pages. 

From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, May 14, 202112:46 PM 
To (bJ(6) va. ov> 

Cc: M cVicker, Carrie A. b}(6l 

Subject: RE: Grassley 

Hi ~ 

va. ov>; IL(b_)(B_) __________ __.r~- va~·=g~ov> 

I just finished printing t he releasable records and they exceed that which can be sent in one email; as 

such, I will send them to you via a TEAM attachment . Please know, that are an additional 3 excel 

spreadsheets that are also responsive. I w ill send you the Excel spreadsheets through email along with 

the updated template letter in a bit. 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 

OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 

Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
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ruthann.parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

Fromfb)f6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Friday, May 14, 2021 9:22 AM 
To: McVicker, Carrie A (b)(6) ov>; Parise, Ruthann L.fb_)(6_l ____ __r~-v_a~.g~o_v> 
Cc: (b}(6J 

SuliJect: : rass ey 

b)(5) 

From: Mcvicker, Carrie A. l(b}(6) @va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, May 14, 2021 8:55 AM 
To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov>l(b)(a) F va.gov> 

Cc: l(b)[6) ~ va .gov> 
Subject: RE: Grassley 
Thank you team. Do you think this means we may be able to get it out for concurrence today? 
Carrie A. McVick.er 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
De artment of Veterans Affairs 
b)(6) 

From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Sent: Friday, May 14, 2021 8:52 AM 
To (b}{6) va. ov> 

Cc: Mc Vic er, Carrie A.L.b_Jf_ff, ____ __Jr-----o_v>; .... f b_1(6_> __________ ....,~ va .gov> 
Subject: RE: Grassley 

Hi~ 
Ju~ w~(b)(5) lat OGC. He heard back from Mike;~~] s doing one last look at the records and will 
get back to me this morning. I will go in and print the redacted records and then I will add some 
language to the t ransmittal letter regarding t he redact ions/exempt ions applied. 
Respectfully, 
Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann.parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 
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This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

From: Parise, Ruthann 

Sent: Thursday, May 13, 202110:52 AM 
To: M cvicker, Carrie A. l(b)f6) l@va.gov~(b)(6) 

l<b)(6) ~ va.gov> 

Subject: FW: Grassley 
FYI. I letfb)f6) !know again. 

Respectfully, 
Ruthann Parise 

OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 

Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept . of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 

ruthann .parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

~ va.gov>! ..... (b_)ra_) _ _. 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S. C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

FromfbJ(6l ~OGC)l(b)f6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: 1 hursday, May 13, 202110:30 AM 
To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 

Subject: RE: Grassley 
OK- Mike is going to talk with her about it . 

Thanks, 
l(b)(6) I 
Deputy Chief Counsel - FOIA/PA Appeals/Litigation 
Information and Administrative Law Group (024A) 
Office of General Counsel 
U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs 
(Office}fbl(G) I 

l(b)(6) ~ VA.gov 
A I I ORl'ilE'i' G NFIDENTIALITY NOTICE - FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY. 
CAUTION· The information contained in this e-mail constitutes professional communications and any 
accompanying attachments may contain Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), 
Privacy Act, and/or Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) protected information including attorney-client or 
attorney work product privileged 1nformat1on. This information may not be released or forwarded to 
anyone who 1s not an authorized user/rec1p1ent without appropriate pnor authorization from the sender If 
you are not the intended rec1p1ent of this information, any disclosure, copying, distribution, or the taking of 
any action in reliance on this information 1s prohibited If you receive lh1s e-mail in error please notify this 
office immediately by return e-mail. 

From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 

Se nt: Thursday, May 13, 2021 9:44 AM 
To:fbl(6l l(OGC) l(b)(6) ~ va .gov> 

Subject: Grassley 
Heyl(b)(6) I 
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Just got another email from my Director advising "Gina is hoping we can get this out for concurrence by 
tomorrow" 
Respectfully, 
Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann.parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 
This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 
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(21-08490-F) - 001600

From: Parise, Ruthann 
Sent: Fri, 14 May 202118:09:27 +0000 
To: Fb)(6) I 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A,J~b_)<6_) _____ ~ 
Subject: FW: 21-05513-F SI Notification 
Attachments: VIEWS 4890714 - Transmittal letter (RP edits).docx 

Hi[b)(6) 

~ ust got back to me with his markup. I have no problem with what he put on my stuff but the first 
item was what you had in the original so I leave that up to you. If you agree you can accept his changes 
for both your stuff and mine. 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann.parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

Fromj(b)(Bl ~OGC) l(b)!6) ~va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, May 14, 2021 2:06 PM 
To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Subject: RE: 21-05513-F SI Notif ication 

looks good. A few edits. 

Thanks, 

l(b)(6) I 
Deputy Chief Counsel - FOIA/PA Appeals/Litigation 
Information and Administrative law Group (024A) 
Office of General Counsel 
U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs 
(Office) /b)<6) 

b}ttJJ VA. OV 

NFIDENTI/\LITY NOTICE - FOR OFFICIAL JSE ONI Y 



(21-08490-F) - 001601

CAUTION The information contained 111 th,s e-mail constitutes professional communicat,ons and any 
accompanying attachments may contain Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). 
Privacy Act, and/or Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) protected information including attorney-client or 
attorney work product privileged information. Th,s information may not be released or forwarded to 
anyone who 1s not an authorized user/rec1p,ent without appropriate prior authorization from the sender. If 
you are not the intended recipient of this 1nformat1on, any disclosure. copying. dlstnbut1on, or the taking of 
any action In reliance on this Information ts prohibited. If you receive this e-mail In error please notify u,rs 
office tmmedlately by return e-mall. 

From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Sent Friday, May 14, 2021 1:56 PM 
To~Cb)(6) I ( OGC} f b)(6) ~ ,...._va~.g~o_v> 
Subject: RE: 21-05513-F ~I Not1f1cat1on 

Hi ~ 

Sending so you can red-pen; although, I'm also sending to~ o she can put it in for concurrence in 
which I'll mention that you hadn't red-penned it yet. 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann.pa rise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOfA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

From~b)(6) l(OGC} l(b)(5) l@va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, May 14, 202111:28 AM 
To: Parise, Ruthann jfb)(B) @va.gov> 
Subject: RE: 21-05513-F SI Notification 

Ruthann, 
b)(5) 
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Let me know if there is anything you need. I assume that the letter and the proposed released 
documents will go into concurrence. Hopefully it will go out quickly. 

Thanks, 

From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Sent: Friday, May 14, 2021 8:21 AM 
To~b}(6) l(OGC) ~b)(6) w va.gov> 
Subject: RE: 21-05513-F SI Notificat ion 

I'm free now if you are available to talk. 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann .parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C § 552. ff you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

From:l(b}(fl) l(oGqfb)(aJ @va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, May 14, 2021 8:20 AM 
To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Subject: RE: 21-05513-F SI Notification 

Ruthann, 

b)(5) (b)(6) 
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So, I think we are ok to finish up review. Let me know when you're free and we can figure out next 
steps. 

Thanks, 
l(b)(6) I 

From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, May 13, 2021 2:23 PM 
To:fbl(6) l(OGC) J(b)(6) ~va.gov> 
SuliJect: RE: 21-05~13-F SI Notification 

Great. Thanks. 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann.parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

Fromf b)(BJ I{ OGC) , b)(B} ~ va .gov> 

Sent: Thursday, May 13, 20211:59 PM 
To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov>; OGC SI FOIA Notice ~LCb_)(5_) ____ ---l"l4>_v"'"'a=.g=o'-'-v> 
Subject: RE: 21-05513-F SI Notification 

OGC clears 

Thanks, 

l(b)(6) I 
Deputy Chief Counsel - FOIA/PA Appeals/Litigation 
Information and Administrative Law Group (024A) 
Office of General Counsel 
U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs 
(Office)fb)(5J I 

l(b)(6) l@VA.gov 
ATTORNEY CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE - FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY 
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CAUTION The information contained 111 th,s e-mail constitutes professional communicat,ons and any 
accompanying attachments may contain Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). 
Privacy Act, and/or Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) protected information including attorney-client or 
attorney work product privileged information. Th,s information may not be released or forwarded to 
anyone who 1s not an authorized user/rec1p,ent without appropriate prior authorization from the sender. If 
you are not the intended recipient of this 1nformat1on, any disclosure. copying, dlstnbut1on, or the taking of 
any action In reliance on this Information Is prohibited. If you receive this e-mail In error please notify tl11s 
office Immediately by return e-mall. 

From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Se nt: Thursday, May 13, 20211:00 PM 
To: OGC SI FOIA Notice f b)(6) t@va.gov> 
Subje ct: 21-05513-F SI Notification 

Attached to this email is a FOIA request received by OSVA on May 3, 2021, from~[(b_l<B_J ____ [ The 

details pertaining to this request are outlined below: 

What: records found by searching for emails/sent or received between "@health.ny.gov" and/or 
"@exec.ny.gov11 and the following VA employee: 

• Robert Wilkie 

Search terms: 
"medical futility" 
And/or "SOFA" 
And/or 11MSOFA11 

And/or "critical care resources" 
And/or "allocation guideline" 
And/or " life sustaining resources" 

And/or "DNR" 

Timeframe: 2/1/2020 To 1/1/2021 

Assigned FOIA Officer: Ruthann Parise 
Number of Processing days Remaining: 7 
Attachments: 

a. 21-05513-F FOIA Request 
b. (5-13-21) 21-05513-F Draft IAD (No Records) 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann .parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 
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This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 
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From: .... ~ti_l(_6) ____ _, 

Sent: Fri, 14 May 202119:58:36 +0000 
To: Farrisee, Gina S. 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A.fb)<6) I 
Subject: VIEWS 4890714 CONCURRENCE ROUGH DRAFT PACKAGE 
Attachments: 04890714 - lm:oming Letter.pdf, VIEWS 4890714 - Transmittal Letter v.3 
051421.docx, 4890714 FINAL ROUGH DRAFT of Enclosure_ v.S 051421.docx, (2) Attachment P Murphy 
Training records.xlsx, Copy of (2) Attachment I Training.xlsx, Copy of (2) Attachment L Manker Training 
Records.xis>< 
Importance: High 

Hello Gina: 

Carrie asked that I send you what I had as far as the concurrence package for VIEWS 4890714. 
Therefore, attached for your preliminary review are the basic rough draft elements of what will be the 
VIEWS 4890714 concurrence package sent to OGC and OAWP. This includes: 

• The incoming letter 

• The transmittal letter (rough draft) (which includes standard language added by FOIA SM Es.) 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 

• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests, for documents. 

• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 
questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiv'ing a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 

Executive Writer 

Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 

rbrlo, 
1 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 



(21-08490-F) - 001614

Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 202 l 

Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.1 Page 1 of 19 

1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001619

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.4 Page 4 of 19 

1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001629

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.14 Page 14 of 19 

1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: 

Sent: Tue, 18 May 202119:38:15 +0000 

To: ~b)f6) I 
Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/<Jrassley 

Director, Congressional Liaison Service and Outreach Team 
Office of Con ressional and Legislative Affairs 
b)(6) 

Fromfb)(6l ~Va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) b)(6) va.gov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 

(b)(6) va.gov> (b)(6) va .,...o~v ..... > ____ ~ 
Cc b)(GJ OGC ~b.,.!:)(6:;=)======.-v- a-.g- o_v_>_; _M_c_V-ic"".'"k_e_rt;;-~C-a';';J-rf-r~i,.,.e-'-A~. L!b_H_5>-.------lii::v.f."--"--"'"""""o"-"v..:;.>.._· ----, 

(b)(6) @va. ov>; Farrisee, Gina S. {b)(G) 

w. OAWP) (b)f6) Va.gov> b)(G} 
'---r.:-:-:.,,,.....------,...--J' 

(bl(6) Va.gov (b)(6i OAWP) b)(6} @va.gov> 

Subject: CLOSE OVAL REQUEST or VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

ib)(7)/E) 

• Incoming letter 

• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 

• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certal n requests for documents. 

• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 

questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 

send via email attachment) 
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(b)f7)(E) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you rnay have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 

Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 

l(blC6) I 
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From: fb)f5) pGC) 

Sent: Tue, 18 May 2021 21:23:42 +0000 
To: l(b)(6) I (OGC) 

Subject: FW: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Attachments: 04890714 - Incoming Letter.pdf, (2) Attachment P Murphy Training records.xlsx, 
Copy of (2) Attachment I Training.xlsx, Copy of (2) Attachment L Manker Training Records.xlsx, VIEWS 
4890714 - Transmittal Letter for FINAL APPROVAL.docx, 4890714 DRAFT Enclosure for FINAL Approval 
IALG edits.docx 
Importance: High 

b)(5) 

Thanks, 

Deputy Chief Counsel - FOIA/PA Appeals/Litigation 
Information and Administrative Law Group (024A) 
Office of General Counsel 
U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affa irs 
Office (b/(61 

(b)(6) 
VA. ov 

A 1 1 u t:. y 1.., NFIDENTIALITY NOTICE - FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY. 
CAUTION. The information contained 111 this e-mail constitutes professional communications and any 
accompanying attachments may contain Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPM). 
Privacy Act, and/or Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) protected information including attorney-client or 
attorney work product privileged information. This information may not be released or forwarded to 
anyone who 1s not an authorized user/recipient without appropriate prior authorization from the sender. If 
you are not the intended recipient of this information. any disclosure, copying. distribution, or the taking of 
any action in reliance on this information is prohibited. If you receive this e-mail in error. please notify this 
office immed1,:itely by return e•mail 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC}j(b)(5) ~va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:39 PM 
Tofb)f5) l(OGC) ~(b)(S) ~va.gov> 

Subject: FW: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

~ 
For your awareness_l'b_1<_5> _______________ _ 

I reviewed the transmittal letter and the primary attachment. _fb_l'5_)----~ 

Thank you. 
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Mike 

From:l(b)(e) ~ va.gov> 

Sent : Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) (b)(fl) va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 

b)(6J va. av>; b)(6J va. ov> 

Cc b)(6J OGC b)(6) va. ov>; McVicker,,::.C=a.:..:rr~ie::...:..;A;:_ . .Lb_)f_5l--.------,~ ~ = o::a..v::;.;;>..,_· _ __, 
fb)(B) va. ov>; Farrisee, Gina S. (b)(B) va. 

L__ ___ _,,.,.t;:;#2===--1----,--.J 
W. (OAWP) bl(6) va. ov>; (blf6l atherine (OAWP) (b)[B) 

kb)(6J @va.gov (b)(61 OAWP) b)f6) va. ov> .__ ______ __. 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

b)f?)(E) 

• Incoming letter 

• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 

• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 

• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 
questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 

Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

l(b)(6) 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
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Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 

Washington QC 
fO)(til I 
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RK;HMO ,j DUklllN, ll.UNC:>lli., t.ll~IM 

6~~~~\~1~:~t,;,,1:~~i~IA fi::~i: J ;::,~~U:~h9~,1 r.~•IOl!~ 
IU◄f ln(1N WHl1't tlf)4,l';I , t\l ltlllf' 1,1 Af',jtl .IOUN (l(illN'fN, n,A., 
~Mnl.Otli!Cttl\~. MINNU<n" Mtr~AII • LE( illAM 
UdUt. IOflttlA A. «)QNS, OE~WA.Ae H·U tmuz. It )(AS 
t<IUtARl:)MLUMf:NlHAl CONN£Cll lf.\J1 tJlN~~r1 ~u~,t~S..:I\ 
W\Jlfs !o! ,Hl~QNO, W\WAll JOSklJAO. HAWLEY. MISSOUN 
C:O"'IAUO(Jli'..Crt,Nl\'\"..ltRaE't' TOMCOTlt)N AfU~N~O 
Al_l:"I PAOILLA,('ALJFOON1A ,JQMN ~fNNf OV ll1UIStANI\ ,o~ouo,, cH·o-.olA 1140 .., t11 11,,Nrnc 1HcJARt>1 1NA 

Mo\Jl''nll,,, OJA~lt~l.14lN llNNtt)~ I 

April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 
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r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001672

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.10 Page 10 of 19 

1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001673

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.11 Page 11 of 19 

b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 
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26 

27 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 



(21-08490-F) - 001685

Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 

rbX5). (b)(6) 

Thanks, 

Tue, 18 May 2021 21:27:18 +0000 

Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 

RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Deputy Chief Counsel - FOIA/PA Appeals/litigation 
Information and Administrative Law Group (024A) 
Office of General Counsel 
U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs 
Office (bl(6) 

(b)tB) VA. ov 

ATTORNEY CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE - FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY. 
CAUTION. The 1nformat1on contained in this e-mail constitutes professional communications and any 
accompanying attachments may contain Health Insurance Portability and Accountab1llty Act (HIPAA). 
Privacy Act, and/or Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) protected information including attorney-client or 
attorney work product prlviteged information. This Information may not be released or forwarded to 
anyone who 1s not an authorized user/recipient without appropriate prior authorization from the sender. If 
you are not the Intended recipient of this information, any disclosure, copying. distribution, or the taking of 
any action ln reliance on this 1nformat1on is prohibited. If you receive this e-mail in error please notify t11is 
office immediately by return e-mail 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGCJ ....,Vb .... )f6"')....-----'~va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:~9 Plvl 
To~(b)(Bl l(OGC)l(b)(6) ~va.gov> 

Subject: FW: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Importance: High 

l(b)(6) 

For your awareness~ .... ~-)(_5> _______________ ____. 

b)(5J 

Thank you. 

Mike 

From: fbl16) @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 



(21-08490-F) - 001699

To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) (b)(6} va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 
(b)(6) (b}(6) 

W. (OAWP) bH6) va. ov>;fb)<6) IOAWP) ._l<b_)(6_) _____ _, 
!(b)'6) @va.gov b)(6) OAWP) f b)/6) tejva.gov> 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinar ily this task would ~e made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

(b)j7)(E) 

• Incoming letter 
• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 

• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 

• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 
questions 4 and 8 ( You are recelvlng a link to these documents because the file is too large to 

send via email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 

Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

l'b)(6) 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 

fb)(6) 



(21-08490-F) - 001700

From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

fb)(6) toGC) 

Tue, 18 May 2021 22:33:20 +0000 
fb)(6) l(OGC) 

RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
4890714 DRAFT Enclosure for FINAL Approval (EC edits to #12) .docx 
High 

OK. ~fbl_<5_) ------~ 

Attorney 
Office of General Counsel, Information & Administrative Law Group 
Washington, DC - outstationed in the Bay Area 

f b)(6} I 

From:~b)(6) loGql(b)(B} ~va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:24 PM 
To!Cbl(6l toGC) fbl(6) ~Va.gov> 

Subject: FW: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

(b)(5) 

Thanks, 

rb)(6} i 
Deputy Chief Counsel - FOIA/PA Appeals/Litigation 
Information and Administrative Law Group {024A) 
Office of General Counsel 
U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs 
{Office) ~bl(6l I 

fb)(6) ~ VA.gov 
Alf ORNEY C NFlDENTIALITY NOTICE - FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY 
CAUTION: The Information contained in this e-mail constitutes professional communications and any 
accompanying attachments may contain Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA), 
Privacy Act, and/or Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) protected information including attorney-client or 
attorney work product pnvilegerJ information. This information may not be released or forwarded to 
anyone who is not an authorized user/recipient without appropriate prior authorization from the sender. If 
you are not the intended rec1p1ent of this 1nformat1on, any disclosure, copying, d1str1but1on, or the takmg of 
any action ln reliance on this Information 1s prohibited. If you receive this e-mail 1n en-or, please notify thJs 
office immediately by return e-mail 



(21-08490-F) - 001701

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGCf b)fB) k,g>va.gov> 
Sen : Tues a May 18, 2021 2:39 PM 
To b)(6 ) (OGC) j(b)(6) tpva.gov> 

Subject: FW: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

lfb}(5J 
For your awareness.~----------------~ 

(b}(5J 

Thank you. 

Mike 

From:l(b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) r..b:v)(;:.6)-----,~va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 

(b)(6) va. OV> b)(6} > 

W. (OAWP) b)(B) f6) OAWP 
'-----------' 

l(b)(6) ~va.gov>lb)(6} (OAWP (bJ(B) va. av> 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL R 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily t his task would be made t hrough VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

b)(?l(E) 

• Incoming letter 
• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 
• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 
• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 

questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 



(21-08490-F) - 001702

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you rnay have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 

Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 



(21-08490-F) - 001710

Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

Mike, 

r DM5l (b ll6l 

Wed, 19 May 202112:28:35 +0000 

Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 

RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

4890714 DRAFT Enclosure for FINAL Approval (IALG edits to #12).docx 

Aside from that looks good. 

Thanks, 

l(b}(6) I 
Deputy Chief Counsel - FOIA/PA Appeals/Litigation 
Information and Administrative Law Group {024A) 
Office of General Counsel 
U.S. De t. of Veterans Affairs 
Office (b)C5> 

(b)(6l VA. ov 
ATTORNEY CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE - FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY. 
CAUTION. The information contained tn this e-mail constitutes professional commumcat1ons and any 
accompanying attachments may contain Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPM). 
Privacy Act, and/or Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) protected information including attorney-client or 
attorney work product privileged information. This information may not be released or forwarded to 
anyone who 1s not an authorized user/recipient without appropnate pnor authorization from the sender. If 
you are not the intended recipient of this information. any disclosure, copying. distribution, or the taking of 
any action in reliance on this information is prohibited, If you receive this e-mail in error please notify this 
office immediately by return e-mail 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)fb)(6l ~va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:39 PM 
Tofb)(6) l (OGC)l(bl/B) @va.gov> 

Subject: FW: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Importance: High 

l(b)(6) 

For your awareness. -l(tJ_)(_S)_(_b)_fB_l _____________ _ 

l(b)(5) (b)!6) 

Thank you. 

Mike 



(21-08490-F) - 001711

Fronfb)(Bl ~va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 
To: Ho an Michael R. OG ,...__(6_) ____ ~@~ va=·= ~~~~=-

b)(BJ v> 1 va. ov> 

W. (OAWP) b)!6l va. ov b)(B) (OAWP) b)(6) 

1Cb)(61 kpva.gov (b)(B) OAWP) b)!6l ~-----~ 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL RE 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily t his task would be made t hrough VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as fol lows:. 

(b)(7)(E) 

• Incoming letter 
• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 
• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 
• And the link below which will take you to t he 578 pages of releasable records requested under 

questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 

Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questlons, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
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810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 

rb•{B'J i 



(21-08490-F) - 001720

From: Parise, Ruthann 
Sent: Wed, 19 May 202113:17:18 +0000 
To: l(bJ(6) toGC) 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

I just sent you the records in TEAMS as they are too large to send via email. 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs {OSVA) 
ruthann .parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. ff you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

From:ICbl(6) I (OGC) ¥b)(5) ~va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 20218:28 AM 
To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Ruthann, 

I couldn't open the documents although they did appear in Teams when I followed the link. Can you 
shoot thern over again so I can take a quick look? 

LJ 
From: Hogan, Michael R. {OGC)fblf6) Wva.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:39 PM 
TofbJ(6) p Gc) 1Cblf6) Pva.gov> 

Subject: FW: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

l(b)(6) 

For your awarenessj-'b_)<_5l ________________ ~ 
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(b)(S) 

Thank you. 

Mike 

F l(b)(6) 
ram: ..__ _________ ....-- ~-

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2 
To: Hogan, Micha 

(b)(6) 

W. (OAWP) L(b_)<
6
_} =:-:--- ......t---=;p=-=.· 

~b)(6) ~ va .gov>; (b)f6) OAW._P_)-r.(,-,b)""(6""") -----.--va __ _.ov> 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

b)(7)(E) 

• Incoming letter 

• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 

• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 

• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 
questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 

the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review aga1n. 

Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 
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l(b)(6) 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 

fb)(6l 
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From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 

Sent: Wed 19 Ma 202118:07:52 +0000 
To: (b)(B) Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP);fb){B) 

'-;::::;::::;:::====::;::-' 
~C_c: ______ ~ bl(GJ OGC);McVicker, Carrie A.~(b)(6) !Farrisee, Gina 
l .... (b_1(6) _____ ___.!(oAwP~b1<B> IOAWP)j(bl<G> l<JAWP) 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Attachments: 4890714 DRAFT Enclosure for FINAL Approval (IALG edits to #12).docx 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affa irs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

fb)(GJ tDirect) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints wffhout fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

Fromfb)(6) ~va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 
To: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC) (b)(G) va.gov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 

(b1(6) va.gov>· b)(6J va.gov> 
Cc bJ(G) OGC bl va.gov>; McVicker, Carrie A d'b\-,,)(6,..,..i -----,@va. ov>; 

(bl(G) va. ov>· Farrisee Gina S. (b}/B) va.gov> b)IG) 

~AWP) (b}f6) ov>; b)(G} OAWP) <Catherine .... D_e_l-ac_r_u_z ____ _, 

~ va.gov>; (b}(G) OAWP) (b)(6) va.gov> 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 

4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 

the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

• Incoming letter 

• Transmittal letter 
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b)(O) 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 

• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain r-equests for documents. 
• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 

questions-4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 

Thank you In advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington1 DC 
l(bl(ll) I 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

l(b)(6) l(OGC) 

Wed, 19 May 202118:11:19 +0000 

Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 

RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

No problem - luckily Ruthann is a very experienced FOIA officer. Her first pass was most of the heavy 

lifting. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) f b)(6) ~va.gov> 

Se nt: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 2:08 PM 

To:fb)(6) l(OGC~bJ(6) 1:§>va.gov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Thank you very much for your guidance and assistance on this l(bXB) I 

From:i<b)f6) I (OGC) fb)(6) @va.gov> 

Se nt: Wednesday, May 19, 202110:38 AM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) l(b)f6) t@va.gov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Mike, 

r D M5i (D ll61 

Aside from that looks good. 

Thanks, 

l(b)(6) 

Deputy Chief Counsel - FOIA/PA Appeals/Litigation 
Information and Administrative Law Group {024A) 
Office of General Counsel 
U.S. De~t. of Veterans Affa irs 
(Office) (b)(G) I 

fb)f6) ~ VA.gov 
ATTORNEY CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE - FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY 
CAUTION. The information contained 111 this e-mail constitutes professional commun1cat1ons and any 
accompanying attachments may contain Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPM). 
Privacy Act. and/01 Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) protected Information 1ncludlng attorney-client or 
attorney work product prlvlleged information. This Information may not be released or foiwarded to 
anyone who 1s not an authorized user/rec1p1ent without appropriate prior authorization from the sender. If 
you are not the Intended rec1p1ent of this Information. any disclosure. copying. dlstr1but1on, or the taking of 
any action in reliance on this information is prohibited. If you receive this e-mail in error please notify U1is 
office immediately by return e-mail. 
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From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) i (b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:39 PM 
To:fbl(6) joGC) f bl(61 @va.gov> 

Subject: FW: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

For your awarenes~~(b_H_S> _______________ ~ 

b)l5) 

Thank you. 

Mike 

From:ICbJ(61 l!>va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 

,,,,...,,..,=--------,__ 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) b)(6J va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 
(b)(6) va. ov> (b)(6) ov> 

c b)C5> OGC) (bl(61 va. ov>; McVicker, Carr lr ,;.;:;;:.::.,:...:.:.L___:_.,_._ __ ,,,..J;:;~==:::....!...,_---, 
(b)(6) >; Farrisee, Gina S. b)(6) 
W. (OAWP) (b){6l ) 

f b)f6) ~ va .gov> b)(G) OA W1..P_)-1:(;;--:b):-:;(6~) -----,1--v-a-. _o.....Jv> 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, Mav. 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

• Incoming letter 

• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 

• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 

• And the l ink below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 
questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 
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(b)(6) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunfty to review again. 

Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington., DC 

l'b)(!,) 
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Sent: Wed, 19 May 202118:32:56 +0000 

To: Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP);Parise, Ruthann 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A (b)(6) Farrisee, Gina s. j<o)(6) 
( OA WPf,.,..b'""'J(fi,-l -----,1 ( OAWP) (b)(6) ( OAWP) .__ ______ ____, 

Subject : RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Hi Hansel. Thank you for your email. I am sorry to hear you weren't able to access the link to documents. 

Ruthann Parisse provided me with documents and I am adding her to the email so that she can send the 

From: Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) ~lr0_>r5_l _____ ~va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 2:27 PM 
To: b)(6) 

Cc: McVicker, Ca:,!.r!..!;rie=-..:..!A.:i:. (b....:.)f:__6 :....1 -..-----"c::- b)/6 ) va.gov>; 
Farrisee, Gina 5. (b)!B) -.....,.==---J----------.---~ :-:--__.'-----=---'-----, 

b)(6) va. OV> (b)(6) 

(b)(B) va.gov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

I was unable to access the link to the documents an (b)(5) 
b)(5) 

Thank you, 
Hansel 

OAWP) 

Hansel J. Cordeiro I Acting Assistant Secretary for Accountability and Whistleblower 
Protection U.S. De artment of Veterans Affairs 
Tel: b)ffi) I Fax: (202) 495-5601 I Email:fb)(GJ ~ va.gov I Address: 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW, Mail Stop 70, Washington, DC 

If you received this e-mail in error, you are notified that any disclosure, copying, 
distribution, or use of the information contained herein (including any reliance thereon) 
is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify the sender 
immediately and destroy the e-mail and any attachments. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)~b)IB) ~ va .gov> 
Sent: Wednesda Ma 19 2021.,....2"'"':'"'0S~ PM.-,---~ 

To (b)(G) va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 1(b)(B) 

(b)(6) @va.gov> 
~ va.gov>; 
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~ va.god (b)(B) I (OAWP) 1(bl(6) piva.gov> 

~OSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

fblf6l I (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

Fromfb)(6J ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 
To: Ho an, Michael R. (OGC) (b){6) va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 

(b)(6) va. ov> (b)(6) va. ov> 

Cc b)(6} OGC b)f5} va. ov>; McVic er, Carrie A. (b)(6) 
b)(5) va. av>; Farrisee, Gina S. r::-(b"'"')(""5) _ __._ ---.-----...-!~=- ....:,_--, 

W. (OAWP) b)(6) va. av> (b}(6) (OAWP) ~-----~ 
~b)(6} l@va.gov (b}(6) (OAWP) b)(6) va. av> 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 

4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 

the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

• Incoming letter 

• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 

• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 

• And the l ink below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 

questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 

send via email attachment) 
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(bJ(7l<EJ 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 

Thank you (n advance for completing the t~sk by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 

Washin ton. DC 
(b}(6) 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Hi Hansel, 

l(b)(6) l(OAWP) 

Wed, 19 May 202118:40:29 +0000 
Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 
RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

I think they have to give you Team access for the link. 

Executive Assistant to the Assistant Secretary 
Office of Accountability and Whistleblower Protection 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
Office: ~b)(6l I 
Mobile Phone: ~kb~)(B~>----~ 

Anonymous Toll-Free Disclosure Hotline: (855) 429-6669 I Emaill(b)(6) 
https://www.va.gov/accountability 

@)va .gov I Web: 

This e-mail (including any attachments) may contain information that is private, confidential, or 
protected by law. If you received this e-mail in error, you are notified that any disclosure, copying, 
distribution, or use of the information contained herein (including any reliance thereon) is strictly 
prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy 
the e-mail and any attachments. 

From: Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP)_l(b_H6_> ____ ~~va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 2:27 PM 
To: lb)f6) @va.gov> 
Cc: Mcvicker, Carrie A. bJ(Bl va.gov> b)(BJ va. ov>· 
Farrisee, Gina S. b)(6J J(6l OAWP) (b)C6> 
(b)(6) va. ov>· (b){B) '-P-,f)(;;:,b)f6;;;;;-)----,--v-a.-g..J'ov> (b)(B) OAWP) 
(bJ(B) va.gov> ._ ____ ____. 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINALAPPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

I was unable to access the link to the documents and~bl15: 
(b)(5) 

Thank you, 
Hansel 

I 

Hansel J. Cordeiro I Acting Assistant Secretary for Accountability and Whistle blower 
Protection I U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
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Tel:l(b)(6) II Fax: (202) 495-5601 I Emailj(b)(G) @va.gov I Address: 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW, Mail Stop 70, Washington, DC 20420 
To make a disclosure: Complete the optional form found at 
htms://www.va.gov/accountability I Contact us toll-free at: (855) 429-6669 I Contact us 
by email at OAWP@va.gov. 

This e-mail (including any attachments) may contain information that is private, 
confidential, or protected by law. If you received this e-mail in error, you are notified 
that any disclosure, copying, distribution, or use of the information contained herein 
(including any reliance thereon) is st rictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in 
error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the e-mail and any 
attachments. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) fbH6) ~ Va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 2:08 PM 
To (b)(6) va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) JCb)(6) ~ va.gov>; 
b)(6l ov> 

Cc: (b)(B) a. ov>; McVicker, Carrie A. b}(6 va. ov>; 
(b)(6) ; Farrisee, Gina S. b)(6) 

W . (OAWP) (b}(6l 6) OAWP) 

ICb)(6) @va.gov>; (b)(6) (OAWP) (b)(6) va. ov> 
~-----~ 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

rb)(5} 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

l<b)(6) I (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From: fb)(B) lcPva.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 

To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) b)f6) 
fb)(6) @va.gov> (b)(6) 

va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 

Cc: (b)(6) OGC (b)(6) 
(b)(6) 
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W. (OAWP) b)Hl) va. ov>;!(b)/6) l(OAWP) ~(b)16) 

!(b)f6) @va.gov>(b)(6) (OAWP) f h)(6l @va.gov> ~------~ 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

b)(7)1E) 

• Incoming letter 
• Transmittal letter 
• Enclosure (rough draft) 

• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 
• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 

questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 

Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 

r b](6) i 
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From: Parise, Ruthann 

Sent: Wed, 19 May 202118:48:32 +0000 

To: l(b)f6) !Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 
Cc: ~ _____ M_c~Vicker, Carrie A. (b)(61 Farrisee, Gina ~ (b)f5) 
(OAWP)jCb}(61 ~OAWP) b)C6J (OAWP) ,__ _______ ____, 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

I've sent it to Hansel via TEAMs. 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 

OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 

Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann.pa rise@va.gov 

Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Off1cial Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. ff you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

Fromj(b)(6) ~va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 2:36 PM 
To: Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) ~(b){6) ~va. ov>· Parise Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. <Carrie .McVicker@va.gov>; b)(Bl ,;,-,;,~ :..;,_;_....:.L,. _____ --,.. __ ---t:;;:-;-;;:~---"'-"-'-'-___._--, 

Farrisee, Gina S. b)(6) va.gov ._(b_)l6_)..,,..,..==------,. _ __,(OAWP) (bl/6) 

(bX6) va.gov> b)l6) (OAWP) b)C5> va.gov>;._lib_)C6_l ___ ___.l(oAWP) 

(b)/6) va.gov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Hi .Hansel. Thank you for your email. I am sorry to hear you weren' t able to access the link to documents. 

I have asked Ruthann Parisse, who I have added to the email chain, to send them to you. 

From: Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) f.,.b-)l..-6)......,,,,...---~l@va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesda Ma 19 2021 2:27 PM 
T (b}/6) 

Fa 
(b)(6) 

(b}(ffJ va. ov> 

ov> (bl/6) 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
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Hil(b)(6} 

I was unable to access the link to the documents andl(b)(S) 
b)(5) 

Thank you, 
Hansel 

I 

Hansel J .. Cordeiro I Acting Assistant Secretary for Accountability and Whistle blower 
Protection I U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 
Tel:l(bl(6) I Fax: (202) 495-5601 I Email: fb)f6) l@va.gov I Address: 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW, Mail Stop 70, Washington, DC 20420 
To make a disclosure: Complete the optional form found at 
https://www.va.gov/ accountabi1ity I Contact us toll-fre~ at: (855) 429-6669 I Contact us 
by email at OAWP@va.gov. 

This e-mail (including any attachments) may contain information that is private, 
confidential, or protected by law. If you received this e-mail in error, you are notified 
that any disclosure, copying, distribution, or use of the information contained herein 
(including any reliance thereon) is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in 
error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the e-mail and any 
attachments. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) f b)(
5

) ~ Va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 2:08 PM 
To (b)(6) va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) r}(5) F va.gov>; 

(b){6) va. OV> '-· ------'· 

Cc (b}(6l OGC b)(6) va . ov>; McVlcker, Carrie A. fb){6} ov>; 
(b)(6} , rrisee, Gina bl(6l 

W. OAWP) b)(6) l OAWP 
(b)(6) va. OV> (b)(6} OAWP) (b)(G) va. OV> 

Su ject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washinaton. ~c 20420 

rbl(5) _ (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints wffhout fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress. OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
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without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From:l(b)(G) l@va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) {b){6} va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 
(b)(6) va. ov>; b)(6} > 
Cc b)(Bl GC) b)(6} va . ov>; McVicker, Carr ....,.....,,.,.....-----.-. ov>; 

(b}(6) >; Farrisee, Gina S. (b)(6) 

W. (OAWP) b)(B) 6J OAWP) f b)(6) 

~b)(6) i@va.gov> {b)(G} AWP) (b)(G) va. ov> -------~ 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB. May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

(b)f7)(E) 

• Incoming letter 

• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 

• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 

• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 
questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 

Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 
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Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 

f b)(tl) 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Farrisee, Gina S. 
Wed, 19 May 202119:35:49 +0000 
McVicker, Carrie A. 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Carrie, 
Mike Hogan and Hansel have responded. Do you think I'll see this package tonight to get to COS? 
Thank you, 
Gina 

From: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC} f b1(6) l@va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 2:08 PM 
To (b)(B) va.gov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) f~b_)f6_) ___ ~ l§>va.gov>; 
bJ(6) gov> 
Cc:(b)<B) (OGC (b}(6) va.gov>; McVicker, Carrie A. b)( ov>; 

(b)(6) >· Farrisee Gina S. b)(6 
~~.a.=...a.=:a-=--=:.;..~-'-L,:__~--.i:=....:~'..:....:......!L ___ ....,...... _ _J 

W. (OAWP) (b)(6) ) .__....,,,....,.....,..,.-----,----• 
!(b)(6) l@va.gov>; (b}(B) OAWP) b)(6) va.gov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affa irs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

l!b)(5) ~Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From:l<b)(S) l@va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 
To: Ho an, Michael R. (OGC) (b)(6) va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 
b)(6) va. ov> b)(6) > 

va. ov> 
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Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task 'is due COB, May, 201 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the. attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

b)(7)/E) 

• Incoming letter 
• Transmittal letter 
• Enclosure (rough draft) 
• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 

• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 
questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 

Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Writer 
Office of th_e Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 

F!ill6) 
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From: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC) 

Sent: Wed, 19 May 202120:13:28 +0000 

To: Sauber, Richard A. (OGC);Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 

Subject: FW: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Attachments: 04890714 - Incoming Letter.pdf, (2) Attachment P M urphy Training records.xlsx, 
Copy of (2) Attachment I Training.xlsx, Copy of (2) Attachment L Manker Training Records.xlsx, VIEWS 

4890714 - Transmittal Letter for FINAL APPROVAL.docx, 4890714 DRAFT Enclosure for FINAL Approval 

(IALG edits to #12).docx 

Importance: High 

Dick, 

(b}(5l 

I am available to discuss this if you'd like. 

M ike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Wasbiooton Jic 20420 

l'b)(5) _ (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
rlght to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, 0 /G, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From/ b)(5) @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 ~M 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) r::-(b.,..,)(6"")-----,_va.gov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 

(bJ(6J va.gov>; (b)(6) va.gov> 
Cc b)(6) OGC) ~b--')(-6) ____ @_v_a_.g_o_v_>_; _M_c_V-ic_k_e-r,-C-a-rr.ie A. !(b}(6) @va eav>· 

b)<6> va.gov>; Farrisee, Gina S. b)f6) va.gov~(bXB) 

W. {OAWP) (b)f6) va.gov1(b)(6) Fatherine (OAWP) ._(b_l C6_) _____ _, 
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ftil!Gl ~va.gov>;l(b)/6l toAWP) {t,1101 ~va.gov> 
Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VJEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

(b)(5) 

• Incoming lett.er 
• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 
• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 
• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 

questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 

Thank you In. advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 

l(b)(6) 
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RK;HMO ,j DUklllN, ll.UNC:>lli., t.ll~IM 

6~~~~\~1~:~t,;,,1:~~i~IA fi::~i: J ;::,~~U:~h9~,1 r.~•IOl!~ 
IU◄f ln(1N WHl1't tlf)4,l';I , t\l ltlllf' 1,1 Af',jtl .IOUN (l(illN'fN, n,A., 
~Mnl.Otli!Cttl\~. MINNU<n" Mtr~AII • LE( illAM 
UdUt. IOflttlA A. «)QNS, OE~WA.Ae H·U tmuz. It )(AS 
t<IUtARl:)MLUMf:NlHAl CONN£Cll lf.\J1 tJlN~~r1 ~u~,t~S..:I\ 
W\Jlfs !o! ,Hl~QNO, W\WAll JOSklJAO. HAWLEY. MISSOUN 
C:O"'IAUO(Jli'..Crt,Nl\'\"..ltRaE't' TOMCOTlt)N AfU~N~O 
Al_l:"I PAOILLA,('ALJFOON1A ,JQMN ~fNNf OV ll1UIStANI\ ,o~ouo,, cH·o-.olA 1140 .., t11 11,,Nrnc 1HcJARt>1 1NA 

Mo\Jl''nll,,, OJA~lt~l.14lN llNNtt)~ I 

April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RE LIEF 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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From: McVicker, Carrie. A. 
Sent: Wed, 19 May 202120:15:15 +0000 
To: f b)(6) I 
Subject: FW: can you send me updated Grassley package 
Attachments: 4890714 DRAFT Enclosure for FINAL Approval ( updated).docx, VIEWS 4890714 -
Transmittal l etter for FINAL APPROVAL.docx 

To print 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

rb)(6l F va.gov 

Fromf bl(GJ ~Va.gov> 

Se nt: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 4:12 PM 
To: McVicker, Carrie Afb)16) ~va.gov> 
Subject: RE: can you send rne updated Grassley package 

Sending you 2 docs at a time, Every time I try to upload a third document, outlook stops working, 

From: McVicker1 Carrie A. f lt6l ~ Va .gov> 
Se nt: Wednesday, May 19,L021 4:00 PM Tor~ ~w.~~ 
Sui>Ject: can you send me updated Grassley package 

Without the big FOIA file? Gina wants to show COS today. COS is out next two days. 

Carrie A. McVicker 
The Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 

rb)(6) F va.gov 
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From: ... lfb_H6_) ___ ___, 

Sent: Wed, 19 May 202120:22:39 +0000 
To: McVicker, Carrie A. 
Subject: Updated copies for Gina to give. COS 
Attachments: 04890714 - Incoming Letter.pdf, (2) Attachment P Murphy Training records.xlsx, 
Copy of (2) Attachment I Training.xlsx, Copy of (2) Attachment L Manker Training Records.xlsx, VIEWS 
4890714 - Transmittal Letter for FINAL APPROVAL.docx, 4890714 DRAFT Enclosure for FINAL Approval ( 
updated).docx 
Importance: High 

I know it's crazy but it was easier (more like possible) to forward you the email I sent out for final 
approval with the updated enclosure than even one of the other docs that make up the package .. 

From:l .... <b_Jf6_) _ __ _. 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 
To: Ho an Michael R. (OGC) b)(6} va.gov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 

(b)(B) va .gov (b)(6) va .gov> .....,_ ____ _ 
C bl(ff) OGC fb){B) Va.gov>; McVicker, Carrie A, (b)(S) 

fb)(B) va. ov>· Farrisee Gina S. ""(b.,.,)(=ai _ ___. _____ __,,,,..,.,...,....---=-----------. 

W. (OAWP) b)(6) va. ov>; b)(6l ._ ________ __., 

Kti}(6) @va.gov b)!6 l OAWP) (b)[G) @va.gov> 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

fbH7)(E) 

• Incoming letter 
• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 

• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 

• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 
questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 
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For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review aga1n. 

Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Wnter 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 
l(b){B) 
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RK;HMO ,j DUklllN, ll.UNC:>lli., t.ll~IM 

6~~~~\~1~:~t,;,,1:~~i~IA fi::~i: J ;::,~~U:~h9~,1 r.~•IOl!~ 
IU◄f ln(1N WHl1't tlf)4,l';I , t\l ltlllf' 1,1 Af',jtl .IOUN (l(illN'fN, n,A., 
~Mnl.Otli!Cttl\~. MINNU<n" Mtr~AII • LE( illAM 
UdUt. IOflttlA A. «)QNS, OE~WA.Ae H·U tmuz. It )(AS 
t<IUtARl:)MLUMf:NlHAl CONN£Cll lf.\J1 tJlN~~r1 ~u~,t~S..:I\ 
W\Jlfs !o! ,Hl~QNO, W\WAll JOSklJAO. HAWLEY. MISSOUN 
C:O"'IAUO(Jli'..Crt,Nl\'\"..ltRaE't' TOMCOTlt)N AfU~N~O 
Al_l:"I PAOILLA,('ALJFOON1A ,JQMN ~fNNf OV ll1UIStANI\ ,o~ouo,, cH·o-.olA 1140 .., t11 11,,Nrnc 1HcJARt>1 1NA 

Mo\Jl''nll,,, OJA~lt~l.14lN llNNtt)~ I 

April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001821

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.11 Page 11 of 19 

b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001823

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.13 Page 13 of 19 

1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001830

Exhibit B 



(21-08490-F) - 001831

From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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1/S/2007 IO,UJIM JIMlfiU,-. Yowl 

Z/N200710:SJ/IM,\mtf~Yvl 
Ulfl(f>l 10:j.JJIM Amtf"'41/New YG'l 

l/l/2007llkUJIMJIMlfiU,-.Y..,l 

2/M007 10:UAM Amtrlti/NN'Yvl 

U1-Vto010,·0ffil1un"",../N""'won; 
9Jl2Jl016U...l6PMNl'IQl\c_,,,.ilWVo,t 

'l,/7/200607:S3AM Amtrlti/NN'Yvl 

..,lS/20060116,MAmenc~ewYort; 
l/ll/l01707-...l7Al.l ....... ,o/lilo-Tot\ 

7/2~101706...llAMA.mtrb/111cwYol\ 

7})1/1017 10.00 AM A.rne,a/lile.,TGn 

t/M/to0104'27ffi\.a.n.,.ri,-fN....,Yoii< 
9/?l,/l0070,1,.27PMNl'IQl\c...,.lllwYork 
6}19/2001109.:]6AMA,n,er~..;1,1e.,yc,n 

S/'f,l'it;)IJ U:U ,,.,..,_n~,,..T,;,ilo 

5}6/200912:lll'f,1-tlU/Ni•'l'Ollc 

5/f,flf»!J ll!ll PM -rlQ/N<!a Tort; 
$M/JY;J U:U ,,.,..,_n~,,..Tlffl' 

5J'l}(IYJl2.lll'f,1-tlu.,'Nn'l'Ollc 

5/f,flf»!J ll.1.1 PM -!IQ/NC!'• Tone 

l/N201008:l'fJIM A""'IW/NtwYv~ 
l/lS/lOIOOUlffi\Nl'IQl\i:.,i'NfllwWOII( 

VlS/10100l.03PMl\mMca/N.,..,Yone 

8JJ/2<rl0 10:SI/IM Ame,IW/NtwYvl 

$/ln01012·14PM-n,;,o.lr,l,r.Toilo 

9/7/201008:0.AM Amtrlti/NN-Yari: 
9/7/201008:05AM Ame,lc-t/NtwYvl 

l/16,'lQl111n2A'-1A...,,WWie•"l'o,t 
Vl6/lOU tO..llAM,..,.,.,<.1,1111,:,-yOf\ 

l/16/2011 ta.llAMA.mtrb/111c•Yol\ 

l/16,'tolllQcUA'-IA...,'WWie•"l'o,t 
l/16/lOU tQ.llAMA,.,.,iu,/hl,J-'l'Of\ 

l/l6/201110.llAMA.mtrb,ll\1c-YOf\ 

5JN/201101:'.15AM ... rneflQ/MewTGn 
5/l,4/lOU07lSAMA,,,.,iu,/hl,J-'l'Of\ 

1/l2/2011 lL.OOAMA.mtrQ,l'Ne-YOf\ 

5j9/2'012~:Sl PM ......,n<a,/Nno YorlC 
S/l,4/101 t OIi-Si AM A...,,q/M,•TIIA 

6/l7/10U lD..OIIAMA.mtrQ,l'NewYOf\ 

YA-..O:¥""°lniv""to,;,i,~n,o1.w,1=tnd~l'le,;,wr,;,r 
\'A,-,.,..,_¥ o,,d ..... m.,tcrr ~ily ol.w<1••-•nd ~IJl .. h.,,..­
\'A w-,xy - -ffl,ll,OII SieU'llr - ·-•nd lbdKOl&iohw,O, 
YA-..0:¥""°1niv""t'Ol'1~11Jol.wa..i"'°"tnd~l'le,;,wr,;,r 
\'A,-,.,M,¥ond ..... m.ttcrr~ilyol.w<1•t"ftt•nd~IJl .. h.,,..­
\'AWNK¥111d-M.ll«1S.:~rAwM•nK11 •ndlb.lKOl&iohw,o, 

YA l'lwx¥ llld lrumu.on Socv~ ~•CMHJnd ~ol&chWlor 

...,_,•tv•ndts1PAAT,•n•r,i 
SAV.E.lllorr ......... 1 ... ,n ... 

EtNnMol!C'thntcd 

Gener4l [mi,l~ePtl\"i!C~.l,.-i,rene11 

\'A S♦ftlor l"""" fl.1d.VNr M...C ... (546n J BIS"66S) 
le;t,IMf"lhlpYA(lYAl/l~l8SH11Dr1 3 

\'A~blltyardl~stlcblcr•ltl'"Protecllo,,AQWeblnar 

\'A,-,.,..,,¥~•"'"_1,•n"'II 
YA ,....,X¥ ~fil'r-lnin~ 

P11tr4ltfn1 
Tl,.. Vnfw,,..d$oni«,,(t,,,I..,"""'- •nd ~.,.mp.....,._m ~.h1, "-ri llJ$[..._I T'l'in"S 

Th♦llt,fO,fr'lldSOIMCti~lrfrnMl.~A-ml)~nl RIJhllMI IIJSEMAITr~""l'r• 

TMUlilortnedS-,H~O,l'l'lfflC - ReemplD'l'Mm RVhU Ml IIJSCFRAI Tr•ll'il'rl 
Tl,.. v,.r,,,,,..d$~<t'l(t,,,I"'"""'-•nd ~.,.mp~m ~.h1, "-ri IU${MAI T'l'in"S 
Th♦U,,fO,fr'lldSOIMCti~lrfrnMl.~Aiiffll)b,,,Mnt RIJhllMI ll..6£MA1Tr~""l'r• 

Tl'i.UlilortnedS-<HE~O,l'l'lfflC - R.,.mplD'lfflem RVhU Ml IIJSCFRAI Tr.irin1 
\'A5,enlo,[i,;etU~~,;,n;m 

w.AltldilN'riD Co/ll"'Qta · WM'rlllr' rYlO!O 

O,_M.,,..i<',,._for\'BAE~t,,.,.l.\1nll,<F'1'2DID 

0.,ltl'"S,:Y& lnck.elonb-\',. 5!Nl)I" DofwU-oe ~ce (Sl51 Mffl'bt'r, 

U◊~ C-Qnn,;11.1..,._n1 for YA $,en,..- ( ,<!'<111"'' $tr,,>«!' 1$U)PAemM<lo 
EEO, ~n.lty, ..,., Conl'lltl M-erntnl Tr;,lllrli: 10< M-,:,rund S\IPI!~ 

HO. Dt-oe"'1v • .,.., Cor411e1 Mar>,icement T<an1rt: fo,r Mracer,,nd 511pe....-s 
~Qln1in,.~oi10pff"OII_A,...._~, 

W...Cominli~OIIOP"'•lcNA...,.,•,•m 
WACom1nL.it-,oCOprnlllons Jl•"a1"cnes1 
~(onlin,.~Qll0pff"OII_JI,...._~, 

W...Com!nlit-,OIIOp"'•lcNA...,.,,,,m 

-.UCom1rn.it-,oCOpl!fl'llonsJl•'al"cnen 

\'A5.t,,I0([1'1!{u~5trlltec'CWdMh~C--..-
VA S♦ftiof id(u!MlStr"il"f~ t..udMh. C°"I♦ 

\'A tltne & All.,ndo!>Cr ~ffll lYAT"-S)- lmp""""e• 

¢;,n~n-~"t"l'l-""lrrl11rm-tli:n$,,J~1mlyPn;111Jram-C~rSP 
MlnlUl~of!lln,iolAMUa [lhb fnlnl"e 

6Jl1/20UlOtXAM,..rne,Q/M!!•YO<l Mlnual~"""111ol.......,.,, m,o r,11n1""1 

~l:J/tol)0l-1$ffil.a.n.t'"l-fN""'York 4,;,"'rnmt"((llnq-f1-(Ut'nll'fl~ 
&/1V101301.1SNAir'r"1\(a/NfllwVOl1( Gowtnm-Elllil"•Tl'III E,~li 

6Jll/10130USl'Ml\mMca/N.,..,YOl1( 

U1Qil0t•Q1·42ffi1Am<!'III-IN""'York 
l/U/1014.0U4PMAttrQr\i:.,i'NfllwV6rk 

V6/2014 l l:SOAM Amtrb/NN'YO"l 
5J]G,'1011095ZAt.!~r<t"..;llle.,To,t 
'i,/16/1014.09..!i'JAI.IA.,,,.r<.l,llilowTIH'I 

5Jl6/10t• lD.OSAMA.mtrb/NewTol\ 

5J]G,'101110.08At.!A,ner<r:..;llle.,To,t 

S/16/tol410-UA~l4...,IU/Wie•"l'o,t 
SJ]6/101& lQ.16AMA.mtrb/111cwTol\ 

5J]G,'101110.:21AM~r<r:..;lllewTo,t 

S/16,'t()1411)14.A~l4...,IU/Wie•Yo,t 
S/l6/l014UU1AMA.fr'rtl~hl,J-'l'ffl 

5}16/101110...llAMA.mtrQ,l'Ne-YOf\ 

Govemmffll:flhk<• The: h<eer-=1:lb 
(OPWllAH(f 1'-1PA(T, ~,-.l,lt'-rrn,o;,d-tcrr-ll"l!A,lr 

lt.Kof&; M--...-nt IOI RatordlOfldf!. - Lao~,(Wlill 

WAEU,W:t.l'U'~dMhl:,Tnlnlrl:Pl11NryTOP[1lOl'­

Qrmm1oNcM1rt:b lf'Kt ( t.le<llt 1me"'e-• fectrllq1.1t1) 
lDl4 Budf"Fclrmu\;1~0,,-El«<i,dOll"-'\IBAhrlCutn~ 

10l4~11DnC~IW1$~~iltldfr~nll11r«WAElleN1Wft 

20l4Acquamon fa, \W>El!«vio;es 

1014 L:lbo, & Empbiff lliNdDnilorYBA hoCV1t,,.,. b11Jmbfflt¥ MJr:ae:Je1 

2014 D'llla M.!Ntfffle-ntior\lBA ~c1111~sbr Mart; Sell!!t1Vm 

0-"'411Th<>long51<jlstt,()r.fl.~<>f...,..Mt0u•i!!"'-"'ollr 
ltadins10iw'""9W01ldo,ce l,yOf'M 8NCiS11MiW1 

NC!:IIOIIMIM SMlls-6obGlllanon Ubol Nf\1&113doni 

S/16/101& 10-,2A~14...,rc:o/Wie•'l'o,t """°,nwt,lny-lot,(jjl!or, c:,n Moid"'I iJ.toder,.1 em.»o-,.,., Ac:,..-1>1,, 
B/~14 Olll:OJAM AMlfb/)Hw ~owl Wh<>ll;oblo,,,111 ~u. illld P\'011o1:1ion & P\'ohbiu,IIPWSOfl<'llll,.,.ia.ai, ,,~;,.ns 

l/&/2014 OllliOJ JIM Amtfk.1/NtWYari: Wh<1tltb1":,,,,,t1 RV:llu. and P\'11tt1CTJon & P\'DhllltedPl!BOMll!l,.,1a:1eu frJWn1 

IJ'/:,f20UlQ·l)AM ... n,e,~..;1,1e•Yo,l \',\(:~'hlu,i,lrllnlrl:(ICAJlf~<llffllfftn>t'IT!) 
l/~101510.ISAMA.fr'rtliu,/hl,J-'l'ffl VAC61♦v":ilu<>S Ttilin~(I CAAE b(OMMlh!Mnt) 

1Jl'Jl10a tD.lSAMAITltrQ,l'Ne-YOf\ I/AC61♦Vlllues fnlnll"C(ICAA£11t!(Ofl"lfflltltk!m, 

JJll20150J;ll PM ....... n<a,/NN YorlC "4~ ~e ..... ; F♦1r ~l{,frnenl Opp;;,rt,,,,,~il'flnt) 

:m.no1s09,S4JIM Amtfi<.!New YG"l '1~ Ac.odt"rwt" , ... U'lf'lc>¥rnenl Op_,,.,,~"'◄Ctf-11 
l/f,/2015 11:UJtM ,\mtfb/NN'Yari: can,-iDrl •1th ~wyer,.111,.,on.b!.Am:lmmtld;:itlons (Ylcleol 

5J/:,f10UOJ:J0""1"'11enc~oewYort; \Wo(l.ffl.llr,,e~de,,h91r•n1rt:2015lrd·of-f'l"l:llr4m£'>'11'-''1!0n 

CiJWtQ1!,0i·J$AMA...,,_/Wie•Yo,t ~ on:h'-1~ntf,;,,,,,U~~ ... -
~ll/101!.0IUIAl.!4,..r~lilowYIH'I 

~ll/101508.18AM,lr,n",erb/'°'wTOf\ 

?J)l/tol!,OH2ffil1un"",../N""'ron; 
1/2t/101)035lPMNl'IQr\c_,,,.ilWV6'k 

7/21/101503.521'Ml\merlca/N.,..,Vort 

HI/J0/2015 ll·J9 PM .1,""'i,:;;,)No!wYc,~ 

ltoKo,&;M ........... ntlotAHIIBA~°"­

«.Hofd! M~ffllfnllOfAIIV8AE~~-­

~-""'"''n.-~~,i,-1r(AU1 1,.nr11 
WAAo:INellwU(llti.pon,a{ATRlf•Jin"'@ 

WAAct1'1tTln~Rc•~"t(,l,.fRllnln~e 
\'SCl.1-"erencelOl.5 

,VH/l0161UtAMA.,..,Wlilo-YOf\ YB,VYH.t.C.<IHH"_,, 

8/2~10161U6AM,lr,n",erb/New'l'ol\ Stnlo, L~tltnNp Jlllf'fJiJl BusllHS Met<:hi C5UJWt 
\w, O,t«to"~T-n,iSrmf)Ollum-O«<t,e, ZOH 

s.niurl~dt,-A.m,n;l•u~n..,.,M-1(SWM)C_,...Senn 
Stnlo,L~tltf.-.,_lBll!lnHSM!IHO"ti:ISLAILM)lOWIIHaMMONl"ti: 

C~l'l!MO,itc 

J/I/ZO)Ollc!,6AA1.1,mtrlQ./NewYc,I 

S/1/lOIDDta!il'MMIQll(lr/N"•Y"'k 
':,/1/201012.12PM~lr/Ne-.YD<t 

J/1/ZO)O 12,SJ PM ~eMc~e-. ll)rt; 

S/1/1010\J ,)41.-.MA~l\lt<a'l"o,\ 
3/l8/l01lll..33PMl\m"'lu,-.Y«l 

1/ll/20U0l.1'6 PM Ame-lW/New l'o'l 

t/11/10l )(IUJPM lun"""'~YQO"l 
B/l~l010(13.00 PM AA'l"'lu,-. YO"l 

2/2/20180-1!-CSPMAnlerlllr/Nt"•YD<k 

~ltClonSt:INi 
VA<ompll'le 
\IA.(.DmplG!i 

\IA Complete 

VA<ompll'le 

VA<o1nph,1e 
VA.Compl,11,. 

Vll<ompll'le 

VA.(omple!e 
VA-Complil1' 

VACompleie 

S/1t/1011(1l·\IPM .a.n,"""'~l<l'l VA.(omplele 
._rt~l0U(ll.071'M AA'l"'lu,-. Y ... l VA-Complit1' 

f;/1B/20U(ll.l31'M AAltr!U/Ntw YO"l VA Compleie 

l/llJ?OUOl:19 PM Ame-tw/New Yvl v.a<ompl .. tc 
l/lVlO:l-4 tl 25PM AA'l"'lu,'Ntw Yul VA-Complf<ti 

lJ1V201.~ IOJl3 M'I Mk!~Q/NA Yone W• Compleie 

l/20/20ltoOZ."i9 PM Ame-tw/New Yvl v.a-c-11 ... P..ic 
l/UJ>0111NPJ:,M Amff"io./Newr..,I VA.(,;,mpl"!' 

l/l/l0110,1,:Jl!il'fl.1Ml<iM'lelr/N"•YD<I: \IA.C.Omplili 

l/l7/20ll0l::5SPM Ame-tw/NtwYvl \l,\-C-11mpl"1c 
lll/l0)0 lt,N l'ft.1~111-INNY,;,,i: \IA.(,;,mplt"!f 

3/1B/l011<11.Jl4 PM l\m"'1<1/Ntw Y«l VA.COmpl1'11' 

':,/1/2010 UlCQ PM Mlcrklr/Nt"• YD<k VA Complete 
1/$/lOJI 10,)1 AM A"""-'1/11111• 'l"o,\ VA.(,;,mplt"!f 

1/l,Vl017<1'..33 PM l\m"'1<1,-. r«l VA.Compl1'1i 

12/IJ200908.J.9 M'I Mlc~Q/Ne-• Yone VA Compleie 

s./1/ZOlO 11,JO ... M .1,mtf'IC.V~ Yc,t VA<omplete 
~nJl011(1S..00PM l\morl<.i,-. Y«l VA.Co!'lplit• 

9/15}20170.t...OOPM l\mti'IU/Ntw Yvl VA Compleie 

10/31/lOHOJ:UPMA<ne•~Ne.,Yo« VA<ompll'le 

S/1/1010 11·)(1 .-.M A..-}lllltlw Yorl VA.Comple!e 
B/l/2009t2,3Ql'f,1MIO!k...,.a .. ~O!l VA.Compl,11,1 

ll/2!/200902:MPMArne•~Ne•Yo,I VA<ompll'le 
l/llJlOl ) U-.Of'M .a.n,"""'/NewlG'I VA.(gmplt"lf 

IJlVlOl-4 tl 27 PM AA'l"'lc.l,'Ntw YUl VA.Compl,11,1 

lf.10}2016(12:33 PM Ar'r'rll'"IU/NtW l'<lfl v.a C.Omplete 
?/6/lOIS 0•·)(1 AM A~Nit• Y..-t VA.(gmplt"lf 

S/1/lOIOtM81'f,1MIO!klr/N"•~~ VA.Compl,11,1 

1/5/201110.34 AM llrMrGVNew l'Of\ \I.a-complete 

l]A/l009<1'00PM Ame-tw/NtwYvl \IA·C"omplele 
3,ll&,'l010(11.3DPM AAl"'k.1/NtwYUl VA.Co«,pl,11,1 

3/16/201001..31 PM Amorlu/NtW l'<lfl VA-Complete 

B/l6,'WlOOSOOPM Aml!ftw/NtwYvl \IA·C"omPete 

tJnJlolO 1 J ·(IQ AM """",;wllll'• Yoilo VA.(,;,mplt"lf 
2/l7J20UOI.Jt PM l\morl<:•/Ntw l'<ltl VA Complete 

6/26,'Wl'-~ OJ PM Aml!ftw!New Yvl VA<ol'lplete 

1JIIJJ0\}J N8PM lunff""'41/NewYQO"I VA.(omplt"!f 

l/1~l017<1t.21AMM1e~u.,'lllhhflc VA.C0mpli!8 
12/,V201511.21M/IMl.e~Q,/NC'lloYOne VA Complete 

t/1/1011 O,t·SO PM """'"c-,/N,ralo<I< VA.(omplt"!f 
f;/J~lOl-4(1~ PM l\m"'lu,-. YO"l VA-C.Ompli!1' 

7/5/201110.35 AM AmtfiQ/Ne-Yort VA Complete 

10/2/Wll-09-GtM'l.,,..,nGI/N..-•hne VA<ompll'le 
~l~l01J(ll.S8 PM l\m"'lu,-. YO"l VA-Complil1' 

B/1/2011 09!00 AM AmtfiQ/Ne-Yort VA Complete 

~/ZOl~ 02:ll fM .,,..~c~..,. lOII< VA<ompll'le 
6/l/10120$:)Al'ft.1 ....... 111-fNlf'Wl,;,,lr VA.(gmplt'1, 

f;/1&,'2011<11.AI PM AAll!flc-t/New Yvl VA C.Omplete 

7/10/l!JU-0S"06 M'I -n<a,/NN lDilo VA<omplt,lc 
l/llJ101)(11~f'M .a.n.ff"io./NewYG'I VA.(gmplt'1, 

f;/1~201"01.41 PM Air'rorl<.i/Ntw Yowl VA.(.D«,pl,110 

7/10J20U<IS.1!6 M'I Mk!rlQ/NC!'• ,one VA Complete 
1)/'V>f>l~lMtAM-,:,n,;wllll'•Yoilo lif(l).Co.ett' 

ll/,4/l01!.(ll.13 PM Attrorl<ol/Ntw Yowl VA.COmplili 

6/26/20140t..O~PM l\mtrlU/NtW l'<ltl VA Complete 
6/M/l01'-~.17FM Amti'IW/Ntwl'<ltl VA<omplete 
f;/l6,'l014.<l' .. 11 PM AM•rlU/Ntw YOWl VA.C0mplil8 

6/26/201'-0U.2PM l\morl<:;i/NtWl'<ltl VA-Complete 

6/26,'W14~09PM Aml!ftw/Ntwl'<ltl VA<omplete 

6/1,s/1014.-1)4 \~PM lun"""'/t,ltwYQO"l VA.(omple!e 
6/26/201IOU.t PM l\morl<:~/NtW l'«l VA Complete 

6/26,'W1404.1JPM l\me-lW/Ntwl'<ltl VA<omplete 

6/)~101"-1)4 UPM lun"""'/t,ltwYQO"l VA.(omple!e 
6/l~lO:UOU.9 PM AA'l"'lu,-. YO"l VA-Compl,11~ 

6/2&,'20110t..01 PM AAll!fln/New Yvt VA Complete 

6/1,s/101"0416f'M 1un..-.... rntw r<l'l VA.(omple!e 
l/l~lOl7-0t.2-4 M'I -~(~ ... ~oflc VA-Complil1' 

9/1&/201110 .. U AM -nQJN..-.. Yone VA C.Omplete 

l/26JW170U5 M'I .,,..,n<a,/N..-• loilo v.a-c-11mpl"1c 
l/l/2018 Q,1,,49 PM MIO!k...,.,i-,.~00,: VA-CoMplf<li 

3/lV201.S6'.2&1'M "1ntr!U/NtW YUl V/1 C.Omplete 

J/JO/WUll::J9M'l-,.n<a,/Ne-•loilo v.a-compl..icb~tHor.rri 

l/)0Jl01~11·3PAM""""n,;wlll,..•Y~ilo lif(l).eo.ee~ 
12/,4/201.~<ll.29 PM Ar'r'rtrlU/NtW l'<lfl \'/I Complete 

10/2&/lol.5 01:0l PM "-rner<r:4/"1e•To,t V/I-C-11mP,.1e 

l/)CIJ)OJ10,~6 AM """"",;wllll'• Yoilo VA.(,;,mplt"!f 
ll/,V201!.<II.J5PM l\morl<.i/NtwY..,l 

2/l/2018o,t,"8PMA1,icr\u,/Nr•YD<k 
l/)CIJ>Ol11H,f,M Amff"io./NewYQO"l 

12/,4/201501.52PM l\m"'1<1,-. Y..,l 

2/l/2018 0,1,,19 PM Mlcrk;i./Nr• lD<k 

lOh0/2015 o;nsP~1 A<ner<r:4/NewYo,t 

VA.(omplel1' 

VA Complete 
VA.(,;,mplt"!f 

VA.Compl1'11' 

\IACompLeie 

Vll<ompll'le 
,V16Jl016(11.A6PM l\m"'1<1,-. Y«l VA.Complil1' 

9/15J2016 ll.OOl'M l\ml!fln/Ntw Yvl VA Complcie 

l/26/l01109"2)AMM'-en<a/Ne-•Yone 

1Ult/101604·l'tP~1"-'"",,a,'hlr•'l'O<l 
12/16/2016-0J:0) PM Amtrb/Ne-Y11f11 

9}21/20160J:16""1"1nerlca/NewYort; 

HV;l._r)016¢1·S2 PM A,,,..,.o:,,JNowr..-l 
10{21/20l&Ol.29 PM Amtrb/No!wYo,\ 

..,~20170J-51""1"1nenc~ewYort; 

t}61201710:MIAMAme,io.""""'r'"'I 
ll/.lll/l0171&.46M1Ml<iM'IClr/NR•~"'l 

\Woleader"lhlPlfllWf'rl~f)Olllllfl•t.\trZO'l.7foo-Sl5111"1110,t«--J 2/l/ZOHQ.l;J7Plli1"'""'nc~""Yl)!1( 

Vll<ompll'le 

\'A.Compl,.1e 
\IA Complete 

Vll<omioll'le 
\'A.Compl,.1e 

VA.CoMpliti 
Tl,.. («0,°'J.N,r, llAA, •nd Wh•~eb'l>"'"'r ~;prb •nd ~ lt,d-f'Diq SC...t""'"nll U1/l0l9 0,1,,j,j l'fl.1 """"n<-fNNY...tr 
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From: Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 
Sent: Thu, 20 May 202118:11:56 +0000 
To: 
Cc: 

llb)(6) I 
McVicker, Carrie A.Jb)(6J toAWP) 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Yes, I concur. Sorry, I meant l do not have an objection= concurrence. 

Thank you, 
Hansel 

Hansel J. Cordeiro I Acting Assistant Secret ary for Accountability and Whistleblower 
Protection U.S. De artment of Veterans Affairs 
Tel: CbK61 Fax: (202) 495-5601 I Email: l(b){a) @va.gov l Address: 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW, Mail Stop 70, Washington, DC 20420 
To make a disclosure: Complete the optional form found at 
bttps://www.va.gov/accountability I Contact us toll-free at: (855) 429-6669 ] Contact us 
by email at OAWP@va.gov. 

This e-mail (including any attachments) may contain information that is private, 
confidential, or protected by law. If you received this e-mail in error, you are notified 
that any disclosure, copying, distribution, or use of the information contained herein 
(including any reliance thereon) is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in 
error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the e-mail and any 
attachments. 

Fromf b)(aJ ~va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, May 20, 2021 2:11 PM 
To: Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP b)Wl va.gov> 
Cc: McVicker, Carrie A. (b~a) va.gov>;f,...b'!-)<5,..,..)------------.~ va.gov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Hi Hansel, 

Checking in to see if you w ill be able to concur today for OAWP. The front office is eager to get this 
package moving through the OSVA approval process and my last step is to incorporate any minor edits 
you may have and add OAWP's concurrence to the 0907 ( I already have OGC and OCLA's concurrence). 

From: Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP)fbiC6) ~ Va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 2:27 PM 
To (b)(6) va. ov> 
Cc: McVic er, Carrie A. (b)(6) ov>· (b)(fi) 

Farrisee, Gina S. ,,_,b_)(_6> ___ ........._.c.=..:.i:i=..,,. L-.....r,;:-;;.;-;------,,---...11 

(b)(6) va. ov>; (b}(61 ) (b)fa) va. 

(b)(6) va. ov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
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Hil(b)(6) 

I was unable to access the link to the documents andJ(bl(5J 
b)(5) 

Thank you, 
Hansel 

I 

Hansel J . Cordeiro I Acting Assistant Secretary for Accountability and Whistleblower 
Protection U.S. De artment of Veterans Affairs 
Tel: (bXB) I Fax: (202) 495-5601 I Email:fbK61 l@va.gov I Address: 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW, Mail Stop 70, Washington, DC 20420 
To make a disclosure: Complete the optional form found at 
https://www.va.gov/accountability I Contact us toll-free at: (855) 429-6669 I Contact us 
by email at OAWP@va.gov. 

This e-mail (including any attachments) may contain information that is private) 
confidential, or protected by law. If you received this e-mail in error, you are notified 
that any disclosure, copying, distribution, or use of the information contained herein 
(including any reliance thereon) is strictly prohibited. If you have received this e-mail in 
error, please notify the sender immediately and destroy the e-mail and any 
attachments. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)~b)(B) ~ Va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 2:08 PM 
Tq(b)(61 tpva.gov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWPf b)(B) ~ Va.gov>; 

(b}(6) 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 
fbl<6> trnrect) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
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right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OlG, OSC, and other entiaes and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

Fromf b}(fi) @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 

To: Hogan, Michael R. {OGC~ b)=(6_) ----=-===-=-"'-'--'=-==:.:..a::.L., 
(b}(6) @va.gov> (b)(5) > 

W. OAWP b)(6) 6) OAW 

f b)(6) @va.gov> (b)(6) ) rmn::-.:-rr-=--r~:irrr va. ov> 
Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL RE 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

(bl(5l 

• Incoming letter 
• Transmittal letter 
• Enclosure {rough draft) 
• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 

• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 
questions 4 and 8 { You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 

Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 20, 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 
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Executive Writer 
Offlce of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 

rb1(6) 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

(b )(5) 

Richard A. Sauber 
General Counsel 

Sauber, Richard A. (OGC) 
Thu, 20 May 202119:27:50 +0000 

Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC);Hipolit, Richard (OGC} 

RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
Q (b)(6) 

C-
Pnv1 ege onfidential 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)!(b)/6) ~va.gov> 

Se nt: Thursday, May 20, 2021 3:26 PM 
To: Sauber, Richard A. (OGcf b)t6) @)va.gov>; Hipofit, Richard (OGC) 
l(b)(6) l@va.gov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassfey 

Dick, 

rb){5} (b }(6} 

I can call at 4 pm (on the weekly COS call right now). If you'd like to speak sooner, I can drop from the 

call. 

Mike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washin ton, DC 20420 
b)C6l (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is aommitted to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 
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From: Sauber, Richard A. (OGC)l(b)f6) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, May 20, 2021 3:17 PM 

To: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC) l(b)(6) i@va.gov>; Hipolit, Richard (OGC._j(b_}r5_) ___ -"l@_va~.g~o_v> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

b)(5) 

Richard A. Sauber 
General Counsel 
Depatt ment of Veterans Affairs 

gt'(6} I 
Privileged and Confidentia l 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)~b)(6) lo/Va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 20214:13 PM 

To: Sauber, Richard A. (OGC) f bH6) ~ va.gov>; Hipolit, Richard (OGC) 
l(b}(6) l@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Dick, 

(b){5) 

I am available to discuss this if you'd like. 

M ike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Wasbiooton. Jc 20420 

rb)(6) _ (Direct) 
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Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleb/owers and creating workf ng 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entiUes and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From:llb)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)(b)(6) va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 

b)(6} va. ov>; b1(6J ov> 

W. (OAWP) (b)(o) L....,.....,,,......,.,,,......---..,__ _ __. OAWP) 
1Cb)(6) ~ va.gov;fbJ(6) JOAWP) (b)(6) va. ov> 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Hello All: 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

(b)(7}(C) 

• Incoming letter 
• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough draft) 
• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 

• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of r~leasable records requested under 
questions 4 and 8 ( You are recelvlng a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send vfa email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 
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Thank you in advance for completing the task by COB May 201 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 

rb)(61 
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Sent: Thu, 20 May 202119:56:14 +0000 

To: l(b)l6) 1.,,....,..,.,,.,....------------, 
Cc: Mc Vicker, Carrie A. f!-b-)f6_)--.-.....,....=.,...,.,.....,...,.~,,,...,....,...----' 
Subject: OSVA Approval Package for VIEWS 4890714 
Attachments: Tab 1 4890714 Grassley Transmrttal Letter.docx, Tab 2 4890714 Enclosure.docx, 
Tab 3 4890714 Information about Attachments.docx, Tab 4 04890714 - Incoming Letter.pdf, 4890714 VA 
Form 0907.pdf 
Importance: High 

l(b}(6) I 
Attached for your review is the OSVA approval package for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley which includes the 
following: 

• Tab 1 Transmittal Response 
• Tab 2 Enclosure 
• Tab 3 Information about Enclosure (this document will appended to the attachments. The 

language in this document was originally in the transmittal letter but COSVA thought this 
information should not be in the letter that SECVA signs. Per Gina's guidance, I made it a 
separate document) 

o The attachments are not included in th is email because of the size of the files. All the 
attachment s total about 600 pages. All of the documents have been printed out and 
were provided to you today in a folder. 

• Tab 4 -Incoming Letter 

• VA Form 0907 
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THE SECRETARY OF VETERANS AFFAIRS 
WASHINGTON 

The Honorable Charles Grassley 
Ranking Member 
Committee on the Judiciary 
United States Senate 
Washington, DC 20510 

Dear Senator Grassley: 

This is a follow~up to the April 6, 2021 , Department of Veterans Affairs (VA) 
interim response to your April 2, 2021 , letter about conflicts and ethical issues among 
senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). I appreciate this 
opportunity to respond. 

As stated in the interim response, VA takes this matter very seriously. The free 
flow of information, especially information that identifies malfeasance, 
underperformance or abuse is critical to strong agency performance and since arriving 
at VA, I have taken several opportunities to communicate that to all employees and 
underscore it to our accountability partners at VA. One such partner is the VA Office of 
Accountability and Whistleblower Protection (OAWP), which is charged to, among other 
responsibilities, investigate allegations of VA senior leader misconduct and poor 
performance. 

In this case, not only is this matter the subject of an active investigation by 
OAWP, it is also being investigated by the VA Office of Inspector General. As for the 
specific questions raised in your letter, enclosed are enumerated responses to each 
question, and attached thereto are copies of the documents you requested that are 
releasable to you under the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) 

Although the President's nominee for head of OAWP will have her hearing later 
this month, and we eagerly await her confirmation, I want to assure you that if there has 
been any misconduct by a VA senior official, OAWP and OIG will identify it and, if 
warranted, the VA senior official will be held appropriately accountable. 

In closing, thank you for your patience with the length of time it has taken to 
respond, and I trust this information is helpful to you. 

Sincerely, 
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Denis McDonough 

Enclosure 
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Enclosure 

Department of Veterans of Affairs (VA) Responses to Questions from 
Senator Charles Grassley 

Question 1: Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Re.sponse:Jb)<5) 
b)f5) 

Question 1 a: If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

VA Response: lfb)t5J 

Question 1b: Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: fblf5l 
b)(5J 

Question 2: Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: ftll{5) 

(b)(5> 

Question 2a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

VA Response:fbll5J 

Page 1 of 7 

I 

I 
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Enclosure 

(b)l5) 

Question 2b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: .... r b-)(5_) _____________ __, 

Question 3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: lfb){Sl 
(b)(5> 

Question 3a. If so, was IVlr. Manker ever suspended? 

VA Response: ~b)(S) 

tl1(5) 

Question 3b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: .... rb_)(s_, ___________ __, 

Question 4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums 
related to the suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie 
Manker, and Robert Reynolds. 

VA Response; r .... 01
_<

5
_> ---------------' 

Page 2 of 7 

I 
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Enclosure 

Question 5: What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response:~t>>(51 

(b)/5) 

Question Sa: Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what 
will VA do to prevent this from happen.ing again in the future? 

VA Response:l(bl(S) 

Question 6: If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially 
leaked, has the VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the 
report of investigation. 

VA Response: ru115~ 

Question 7: Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion 
with respect to Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's 
companies? 

VA Response:l!b)(S) 
(bJ(5) 

Page 3 of 7 

I 
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Enclosure 

Question 7a: Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself 
from any involvement with? If not, why not? 

VA Response: l(b)(S) 

Question 8: Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by 
VA attorneys regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal 
occurred, and all communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations 
with respect to her husband's companies. 

VA Response: ..... l'b-}l5_l _____________ _, 

Question 9:. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA 
business with her husband's business? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to 
participate? 

VA Resoonse:fb1151 

(b>(5) 
I 

Question 10: Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report 
financial information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, 
did Mrs. Bogue list her husband? 

VA Response: l'b1(
5
> 

u)/51 

Question 1.0a: If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

VA Response: fbHSl 

Page 4 of 7 
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Enclosure 

Question 10b: If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his 
work? If not, why not? 

VA Response: l!b)(S) 

Question 10c: Please provide Mrs. Bogue's financial reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

VA Response:'."" 

Question 11: If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if 
she participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation? If not, why not? 

VA Responsej(b)'5l 

Question 12: Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking 
information regarding these matters? 

Page 5 of 7 

I 
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Enclosure 

VA Response: ~01<5) I 
b)(5) 

Question 12a: Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely 
and reasonable manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 

VA Resoonse:llb)!61 

{bJ(61 

Department of Veterans Affairs 

Page 6 of 7 
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Enclosure 

May 2021 

Page 7 of 7 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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VA - UlillettlU'l'l°"'O ~ of ,~ru Nfam I SUMMARY AND .APPROVAL SHEET 
NAME OF ORIGINATOR rlEWSNO. IDATE IDATE DUE 

4890714 05/20/2021 
NAME OF EXECUTIVE SECRETARY STAFF SUBJECT 

Response to Incoming Letter from Senator Grassley 
(b)(6) I 

ROUTING INITIALS DATE COMMENTS 

f8J EXEC SEC 

□ DEPCOSVA 

[8;j DEfSCOSVA/WHL 

(8] COSVA 

□ DEPSECVA 

tRJ SECVA 

CONCURRENCE 

Cordeiro (OAWP) 05/20/2021 ; Hogan (OGC) 5/19/2021 j(bl(BJ I (OCLA) 5/18/2022 

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY I Executive Summary Instruction 
Purpose - Discussion - Recommendation 

Purpose: To obtain SECVA approval of a response (which includes an enclosure and attachments) 
to an incoming letter from Senator Grassley. 

Discussion: Senator Grassley's incoming letter alleges conflicts and ethical issues among senior 
officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA), and asks that VA respond to 12+ questions 
related to these conflicts as well as provided copies of certain documents. The response firmly 
affirms SECVA's position on the issue of senior leader identifies malfeasance, under performance, or 
abuse and advises that the matter that is the subject of the incoming letter is already under 
investigation by OAWP and OIG. The answers to Senator Grassley's 12+ questions are in the 
enclosure. 

Recommendation.:l'bH51 

VAFORM Q9Q7 
MAR 2021 

I 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subject: 

Mike, 

Farrisee, Gina S. 

Fri, 21 May 2021 21:57:30 +0000 
Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC) 
McVicker, Carrie A. 

FW: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Thank you very much, we will add him to the concurrence. 
Gina 

From: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC) ..,.l(b_JCB_) ___ ~ ~va.gov> 
Sent: Friday, May 21, 2021 3:15 PM 
To: Farrisee, Gina S. ICbJ(6l l@va.gov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Gina, 

.... l'b_X_5> ________________________ __.flease let me know if you need 
anything else on this matter. 

V/r, 

M ike 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 
~b)(61 l(Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From: Farrisee, Gina S. fb)ffi) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 5:38 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) j(bX6l l@va.gov> 

Subje ct: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Thank you Mike b)!5} 
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Thank you, 

Gina 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) f Lb,....)(6=->-=--=,....,.....----1'~---'-'va=.g=oc.-0.v> 
Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 4:04 PM 

To: Farrisee, Gina sfb)(6) ~ va.gov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE ROLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Gina, 

V/r, 

M ike 

From: Farrisee, Gina S. ~(b)(B) ~ va.gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 3:40 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) !(b)(6) @va.gov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Mike, 
Good afternoon and thanks for your quick turn on this.l(b)(S) 

(b)(5) 

Thanks, 

Gina 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)'-l<b_)(fi_) ___ _pkP_v_a~.g~o_v> 

Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 2:08 PM 
To {b)(6) va. av>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWPll(b)(B) 
b)(6) OV> 

~ va.gov>; 

Cc (b)(B) OGC b)(6) a. ov>; McVicker, Carrie A. (b)/6) va. ov>; 
b)fB) · Farrisee Gina S. (b}(6l va. ov b)(6) 

W. (OAWP (b)(6) ) (OAWP) ,__6_) ____ ____, 

l(b)(6) ~ va.gov>; (b)(6) P (b)(6) va. ov> 

Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

OGC concurs subject to the attached edits to #12. 

MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affa irs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 
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.... f b)_f6) ___ __.I (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From:l(b)(5) l@va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 PM 
==-----,_ To: Hogan, Micha · (61 va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 

) va. ov> 

W. (OAWP) fb)(6) va. ov>; (b)f6) (OAWP) 
fb)(6} @Va.gov b)(6) OAW_P_) ... b ... )(""'6)...-----....---va- _- o~v> 

Subject: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL RE 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 

Hello All : 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

(b)fl}( El 

• Incoming letter 
• Transmittal letter 
• Enclosure (rough draft) 
• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 
• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 

questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 
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Thank yoli ln advance for completing the task by COB May 201 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Writer 
Offlce of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 

l(b)(6) I 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Cc: 
~blf6) l{OGC} 

l(bl(6) l(OGC) 

Mon, 24 May 202116:09:53 +0000 

Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
Cromwell, Sonya (OGC..,-'l(b),..,.,,(6.,....> -----,l(OGC);l-(b_lm_1 _____ I (OGC)l(b1(61 

Subject: RE: 04890714 - Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Attachments: 1. Enclosure 4890714 template - PLG Final.docx, la. PLG Final (CATT-
338564) .pdf, 2f,_b,..,}161,.,...------.IResponses from VIEWS Task Response Notes.pdf 

Importance: High 

Good Morning Mr. Hogan, 

My apologies for the delay but I' ve been pulling all data together in order to be able to provide 
you with a reason for the ongoing inquiry and to obtain your assistance in answering the 
unanswered questions and where/who the answers should come from. 

b)(5l (b)(61 

Also, if you 'll provide me with a copy of the concunence that you provided the Chief of Staffs 
office T can upload it into the VTEWS case. 

Without a ful ly completed final and the concuITence in the VIEWS case, we are unable to 
completely close all of our tasks. 

Please advise. 
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V/r , 

lfb)ra) @va.gov 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
OGC Lead Correspondence Analyst 
Office of General Counsel (OGC) 
810 Vermont Ave NW, Suite I 030 
Washington DC 20420 
OGC Main: i<bl(B) 

Directf .... b_)r5_> ____ _, 

Fax: 202-273-9299 

Cell:r~bJ_(6_) ----~ 
b)(6) 

Proud to be a Disabled Veteran serving Veterans 

My Name Is-fb_H
5
_> __ -IAnd I Care! 

From: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC) l/b){6) ~va.gov> 
Sent: Monday, May 24, 2021 8:12 AM 
Toi(b){6) I ( OGC),.,,.(b.,....)t6,..,...)------, va.g_~ov~> ___ ~ 

Cc: Cromwell, Sonya (OGC) (b)(6) va.gov>;fb1(6} l(OGC) l~fb_)fB_l __ ~ ~va.gov> 
Subject: FW: 04890714 - Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
Importance: High 

Constance, 

Let me know if you need anything more on this matter. 
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MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washin ton DC 20420 

(b)(6) (Direct) 

Whistleblower Protections: The VA is committed to protecting whistleblowers and creating working 
environments where employees can voice complaints without fear of reprisal. All VA employees have the 
right to make protected disclosures to Congress, OA WP, OIG, OSC, and other entities and offices, 
without a threat of retaliation. You are not limited to your supervisory chain when making a protected 
disclosure. 

From: Cromwell, Sonya {OGC) ,1...,(b.,.,)(
6.....,) ....... --__.~ va.gov> 

Sent: Monday, May 24, 2021 8:09 AM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. {OGC (b)(6) va. ov> 
ci<b)(6) l(OGC (b)(5) va. ov> 

Subject: FW: 04890714 - Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
Importance: High 

Hello Mike,l(b)(5), (b)(6l 

Thanks, 

Sonya 

Sonya Marie Cromwell 

Chief Counsel 

OGC Information and Administrative Law Group (IALG) 

Department of Veterans Affairs 

810 Vermont Avenue, NW, 1156A 

Washington, DC 20020 
Office Phone: l(b)(5l 

VA cell :._l(b_l(5_> ____ _, 

Fax: 202-273-6388 
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Choosev'A 
Suicide Prevention is Everyone's Business - #Be There. 
TheVeterans Crisis Line is 1-800-273-8255 and Press 1 

VA Core Values: Integrity Commitment Advocacy Respect Excellence 

VA Core Characteristics: Trustworthy I Accessible I Quality I Innovative I Agile I Integrated 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail message, and any attachments, may 
contain information that is private, privileged, confidential and/or prohibited 
from disclosure or unauthorized use under applicable law, and is only intended 
for the use of the party, or parties, to who it is addressed as indicated above. If 
you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any use, 
dissemination, or copying of this message, or any attachments, or any information 
contained therein, is strictly prohibited by the sender. If you received this 
message in error, please return the material to the sender, and delete or destroy 
all copies. 

From: Cromwell, Sonya (OGC) 

Sent: Friday, May 21, 2021 4:02 PM 
fo(b)(6) (OGC) (b)(6) OGC (b)(6) 
Cc: (b)(6) (OGC) (b)(6) va. ov> (b)(6) 
~b)(6) @va.gov> .__ ______ __, 

SubJect: RE: 04890714 - Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Hell~~<b_lc5_l_~lincluding~ I was not a part of this concurrence. 
Thanks, 
Sonya 

Sonya Marie Cromwell 
Chief Counsel 
OGC Information and Administrative Law Group (IALG) 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW, 1156A 
Washington, DC 20020 
Office Phone .... fb_H5_l ____ __, 
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VA cell:~l(b)_c5_) ---~ 

Fax: 202-273-6388 

Choosev'A 
Suicide Prevention is Everyone's Business - #BeThere. 
TheVeterans Crisis Line is 1-800-273-8255 and Press 1 

VA Core Values: Integrity Commitment Advocacy Respect Excellence 

VA Core Characteristics: Trustworthy I Accessible I Quality I Innovative I Agile I Integrated 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail message, and any attachments, may 
contain information that is private, privileged, confidential and/or prohibited 
from disclosure or unauthorized use under applicable law, and is only intended 
for the use of the party, or parties, to who it is addressed as indicated above. If 
you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any use, 
dissemination, or copying of this message, or any attachments, or any information 
contained therein, is strictly prohibited by the sender. If you received this 
message in error, please return the material to the sender, and delete or destroy 
all copies. 

Fromf b)(6) l(OGC) ~(b)(5) @va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, M ay 21, 2021 3:32 PM 
i;:-:-;:::-;-------, 

To: Cromwell, Sonya (OGC) Lb.:...:)(6~).....,......,..... __ ..E==~ 
Ccllb}C6} !(OGC) b)(6) va. ov>f b)(6) pGC) 

l(b)(6) w va.gov> .__ ______ __. 

Subject: FW: 04890714 - Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Sonya, 

Hi, based onl(b)(6) !email below, I checked in VIEWS, I did not see a task t hat was made to M ike 

Hogan, should there be? Thanks. 

l(b)(6) 

Legal Assist ant 

Office of General Counsel (024), Room 1157A 

Information and Administrative Law Group 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
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Washington, DC 20420 
fb)(6) :_] 
_ b)(5) ~ a.gov 

From~b)f6) t oGcj(b)(6) ~ va.gov> 

Se nt: Friday, May 21, 2021 3:21 PM 

To:fbl(6J IOGC) Llfb_}i6_l __ ___p@_v~a,=.g:!ao=v'-> __________ __, 
Cc: OGC Information Law Group Supervisors fb)(6) ~ va.gov>; 

fb)(6) l OGC) 1 b)/6) ~ va.gov> 

Subject: Re: 04890714 - Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Hi l(b){6) 

b)(5) (b)(6) 

Get Outlook for iOS 

Fromfb)(6) I (OGC) rb)(6) @va.gov> 

Sent: Friday, May 21, 2021 3:10:48 PM 
Tol(b)(6) ~OGC""b""')(6:<'C)-------, va. ov> 

Cc: OGC Information Law Gromu~ S:'-"u=e-'-'rv .... is...,,o::.,..r.:::..s.,_b..,_)(6....,_)...,. ___________ _Jw;..== 
f b)f5) l oGC) (b)(6) va. ov> 

SubJect: FW: 04890714 - Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Hi. As noted below, would you please give us a status update on gel 154271, Chuck Greasley, 

thank you. 

Legal Assistant 

Office of General Counsel (024), Room 1157A 

Information and Administrative Law Group 

810 Vermont Avenue, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 
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b)(6) 

(b)(6) 

Fro~(b)(B) I (OGC~(b)(5) ~ Va.gov> 

Sent: Frida , Ma 21, 2021 3:05 PM 
To (b)(6) (OGC) !,.,,.(b.,...,.)(6,.,...)------,@ v '---r~ - ----.----' GC) 

(b)(6) va. ov> (b)(6) ) 
1-r-,-,-,---....._ .......... ...____, 

Cc b)(6} . (OGc (b)(6) 
L-c= .---"""T"'.----..:....=:-,e ;-;L---~ ---_J 

b)(6) va. ov> ; b)(6) ( 

Subject: 04890714 - Letter from Senator Grassley to S 

Importance: High 

Greetings IALG Team, 

I am inquiring on the status of this request for info1mation, the due date was 16 April 2021 and it r~ I 
For your convenience I've attached links for all of the associated/collaborated tasks, please 
complete the task as soon as possible or provide an expected completion date and reason for the 
delay. 

Thank you in advance for your assistance. 

Link to IALG Task: Original Task 
l(b )(7)( E) I 
Link t q~<b_><5_> ------~l{OGC 02EST Ethics Specialty Team} Task: 
Comments 

Link to Doris Gruntmeir's Task: Comments 
l(b)(l)(E) I 

Link to OGC 02EST Ethics Specialty Team) Task: Comments 
b)(l)(E) 

Link to New Task created by _l<b_J<5
_> ________ ~I For Review 

r )(7}(E) 1 - -

V/r, 
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l(b)(5) l@va.gov 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
OGC Lead Correspondence Analyst 
Office of General Counsel (OGC) 
810 Vermont Ave NW, Suite 1030 
Washington DC 20420 
OGC Main: (b)(6> 

Direct b)(5) 

Fax: 
Cell:r,.,..b=)(6,:-) -------, 

(b)(6) 

Proud to be a Disabled Veteran serving Veterans 

My Name l s~l(b_)(6_) _~1And I Care! 
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Enclosure 

Department of Veterans of Affairs (VA) Responses to Questions from 
Senator Charles Grassley 

Question 1: Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Resoonse: fb)
151 

b)(5) 

Question 1a: If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

VA Response:ftil{5l 

Question 1b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

(b){5) 

Question 2: Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

bl!5l 

Question Za. 1f so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b)f51 

Page 1 of 4 

I 
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(blj5) 

Enclosure 

Question 2b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: L..rb-)(5l _____________ ____, 

Question 3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

Question 3a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

VA Responseft>)<si 
(b)(5) 

Question 3 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Responsef .... b_l
15_l _____________ __. 

Question 4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums 
related to the suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie 
Manker, and Robert Reynolds. 

VA Response: 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: 

Question Sa. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what 
will VA do to prevent this from happening again in the future? 

Page 2 of 4 

I 
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Enclosure 

VA Response: 

Question 6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially 
leaked, has the VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the 
report of investigation. 

VA Response:fb)C5J 

Question 7: Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion 
with respect to Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's 
companies? 

VA Response: 
Question 7a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself 
from any involvement with ? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 8: Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by 
VA attorneys regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal , whether and when this recusal 
occurred, and all communications regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal obligations with 
respect to her husband's companies. 

VA Response: 

Question 9: Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA 
business with her? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

VA Response: 
Question 10: Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report 
financial information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, 
did Mrs. Bogue list her husband? 

VA Response: 

Question 10a. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s employer(s)? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s salary with respect to his 
work? If not, why not? 

Page 3 of 4 
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Enclosure 

VA Response: 

Question 10c: Please provide Mrs. Bogue's financial reports dating back 
ack five (5) years. 

VA Response: 

Question 11: If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if 
she participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 12: Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking 
information regarding these matters? 

VA Response: 

Question 12a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a t imely 
and reasonable manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 

VA Response: 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
April 2021 

Page4 of 4 
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b)(5) 

(bJ(5) 

(b){5) 

b)(5) Enclosure 
~I 

Department of Veterans of Affairs (VA) Responses to Questions from 
Senator Charles Grassley 

Question 1: Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Resoonse: l(b)(5) 
b)(5) 

(b)/5) 

Question 1a: If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

VA Re::;.naose- f b)<s) 

Question 1 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Resoonse: l'b)(S) 

Question 2: Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Resoonse: fb)l5l 
(b)(5) 

Question 2a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

VA ResponsefbH
5> 

b)(5) 

_,,,_ 
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Enclosure 

Question 2b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

V Response: r._b)_l
5
_> -------------' 

Question 3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Resoonsel(b)(s) 
(b)(5) 

Question 3a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

VA ResponseJbl(5) 
b)(5) 

Question 3 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response:~fb_)l5_> ____________ ~ ----~ Question Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums 
L__J re a e to the suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphv. Jamie 

Manker, and Robert Reynolds. 

1., 
VA Response: - --

Question 5. hat steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
sa eguar mg market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to .Publicly-traded companiea,? l(b)(S) I 
VA Response: - - -

'l CQuesti°£ sp 1s It possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what 
I will VA o o prevent this from happening again in the future? 

Page 2 of 4 
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(b)(5) 

(b)(5) 

Enclosure 

VA Response: - - --
Question 6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially 
leaked, has the VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the 
report of lnvestJgatJon. 

VA Responsefb)(Sl 

Question 7· Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion 
wit respect to Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husbl nd's 
companies? .(bl(

5
) 

VA R.e.~putlse.: - - - ._ ___ __, 

□ {'Ouesti§}a_;:pid the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself 
Trom any involvement with ? If not, why not? 

VA Response: - - -

uestion Please provide all records rela1ing to any written ethics opinion by 
a orneys regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal 

occurred, and all communications regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal obligations with 
respect to her husband's companies. 

VA Response: - - -

Question 9· id Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA 
us, with her? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

VA Res nse: - --
uestion 10: nder current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report 

financ1a mformation of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, 
,_______, did Mrs. Bogue list her husband? ' 

VA Response: - - -

□ 
(b)(5) 

e9uestion 10a)lf Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s employer(s)? If not, why not? 

VA Re~ponse: - - -

Question 10b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s salary with respect to his 
work? If not, why not? 

Page 3 of 4 
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Enclosure 

VA Response: - -- -

LJ uestlon 10c Please provide Mrs. Bogue's financial reports dating back 
years. 

VA Response: - --
b)(S) Question 11 · If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and If 

s e participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
.__ _ ____, interest as described by applicable law or regulation? If not, why not? ,,,.rb,.,.,)(5""") -------. 

VA Response: - - -
Question 12: Why has the VA attempted to blnjk FOIA rean,ts seeking 
in ormation regarding these matters? (b)C

5
) 

VA Response: - - -

Question 1 a Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely 
and reasonable manner in order to afford the public reater transparency? 

(b)(S) 

VA Response: --- - -

Department of Veterans Affairs 
April 2021 

Page 4 of 4 
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Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

b)(5) 

Thu, 27 May 202117:44:33 +0000 
Harper, Prevolia 
RE: Tab 1 4890714 Grassley Transmittal Letter Aa (004) 

Please contact me with any questions about this matter. 

Mike 
MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washin ton, DC 20420 

(b)(6l (Direct) 

Fromj{b)f6) ~va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, May 27, 20211:23 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)l(b)(6) ~va.gov> 

Subject: Tab 1 4890714 Grassley Transmittal Letter Aa (004) 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 

Subject: 
Attachments: 

Thu, 27 May 202118:10:18 +0000 
Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC) 
Tab 1 4890714 Grassley Transmittal Letter Final 1 
Tab 14890714 Grassley Transmrttal Letter Final l.docx 

Mike, sending you the clean final copy. Thanks 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 

Ok thanks 

l(b)(6) I 
Thu, 27 May 202118:12:56 +0000 
Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
RE: Tab 1 4890714 Grassley Transmittal letter Final 1 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) ~(b)f6l l@va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, May 27, 2021 2:13 PM 
Tof b)f6) ~va.gov> 
Subject: Re: Tab 1 4890714 Grassley Transmittal Letter Final 1 

I am waiting to brief Mr. Sauber before sending my email. 

Michael R. Hogan 

Get Outlook for [OS 

From:llb)[fi) @va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, May 27, 2021 2:10:18 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) f b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Subject: Tab 1 4890714 Grassley Transrnittal Letter Final 1 

Mike, sending you the clean final copy. Thanks 
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From: 
Sent: 
To: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 

b)(5) 

r b}(61 1 OGC) 

Thu, 27 May 202116:15:51 +0000 
Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
RE: Follow-up 
FW_VIE~l.pdf 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) ~b)(6) ~va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, May 27, 202111:56 AM 
To¥b)l6l ](OGC) l(b)(6) ~va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up 

Fromf bl\6) roGC)fb)IS) ~ Va .gov> 
Sent: Thursday, May 27, 202111:41 AM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC)~b1(6J pva.gov> 
Subject: RE: Follow-up 

b)(5) 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) l(Dl\6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, May 27, 202111:11 AM 
r ofb)(6l IOGC) l(bl(6) pva.gov> 
Subject: Follow-up 

Re: Senator's request 
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(0)15) 

Thank you, 

Mike 

Get Outlook for iOS 
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BES'l1 AV AltABLE (~01,y 

----•--.,.,--,--, .. ,.u1·,~·-·""" 

""-••1• ~ .. ,.. 
............ !11!! ....... ~,, .... ....... .,._ ...... ., .. __ 
·--•(' '"""'._..,.,.,,,.,.,_,.,.,.._,. ,,,.,,1_,_,,,_,d_ ,.i,,,..,..,.._,.,,_,..,_, •--••--1, ....... ,,.,....-. 11011•.,.,,c , ... ........ ,,.,..,,,._l _____ ,_,,.h•,,_+• .. •· .. ·••4-• ,.,_,,0 .. 1_,j .,,_,,_, .. t\lt-- ••-•..,••<1•""""••-• .. 
--•-""~w--'-•A•,..,_•4VAt""-"-- ........,..._, .. 

b)(7)(E) 
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RK;HMO ,j DUklllN, ll.UNC:>lli., t.ll~IM 

6~~~~\~1~:~t,;,,1:~~i~IA fi::~i: J ;::,~~U:~h9~,1 r.~•IOl!~ 
IU◄f ln(1N WHl1't tlf)4,l';I , t\l ltlllf' 1,1 Af',jtl .IOUN (l(illN'fN, n,A., 
~Mnl.Otli!Cttl\~. MINNU<n" Mtr~AII • LE( illAM 
UdUt. IOflttlA A. «)QNS, OE~WA.Ae H·U tmuz. It )(AS 
t<IUtARl:)MLUMf:NlHAl CONN£Cll lf.\J1 tJlN~~r1 ~u~,t~S..:I\ 
W\Jlfs !o! ,Hl~QNO, W\WAll JOSklJAO. HAWLEY. MISSOUN 
C:O"'IAUO(Jli'..Crt,Nl\'\"..ltRaE't' TOMCOTlt)N AfU~N~O 
Al_l:"I PAOILLA,('ALJFOON1A ,JQMN ~fNNf OV ll1UIStANI\ ,o~ouo,, cH·o-.olA 1140 .., t11 11,,Nrnc 1HcJARt>1 1NA 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 001949

1 

2 

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.16 Page 16 of 19 

a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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Enclosure 

Department of Veterans of Affairs(VA) Responses to Questions from 
Senator Charles Grassley 

Question 1: Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 1a: If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 1 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 2: Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 2a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 2b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 3a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 3 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Page 1 of 3 
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Enclosure 

Question 4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums 
related to the suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie 
Manker, and Robert Reynolds. 

VA Response: 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: 

Question Sa. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what 
will VA do to prevent this from happening again in the future? 

VA Response: 

Question 6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially 
leaked, has the VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the 
report of investigation. 

VA Response: 

Question 7: Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion 
with respect to Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's 
companies? 

VA Response: 
Question 7a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself 
from any involvement with ? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 8: Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by 
VA attorneys regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal , whether and when this recusal 
occurred, and all communications regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal obligations with 
respect to her husband's companies. 

VA Response: 

Question 9: Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA 
business with her ? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

VA Response: 

Page 2 of 3 
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Enclosure 

Question 10: Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report 
financial information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, 
did Mrs. Bogue list her husband? 

VA Response: 

Question 10a. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s employer(s)? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s salary with respect to his 
work? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10c: Please provide Mrs. Bogue's financial reports dating back 
ack five (5) years. 

VA Response: 

Question 11: If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if 
she participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 12: Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking 
information regarding these matters? 

VA Response: 

Question 12a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely 
and reasonable manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 

VA Response: 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
April 2021 

Page 3 of 3 
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From: 
Senti 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

Good afternoon Mike: 

bi(5J 

ltb)1tr1 I 
Fri, 9 Apr 2021 20:18:56 +0000 
Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC) 

jtti1[6j IMcVicker, Carrie A. 
Regarding VIEWS 4890714 {SME DATA REQUEST) 
4890714 Enclosure template .. docx, 2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 
High 
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Please let me know if you have any questions. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermoht Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

l(b1tR) I 
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Enclosure 

Department of Veterans of Affairs(VA) Responses to Questions from 
Senator Charles Grassley 

Question 1: Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 1a: If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 1 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 2: Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 2a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 2b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 3a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 3 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Page 1 of 3 
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Enclosure 

Question 4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums 
related to the suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie 
Manker, and Robert Reynolds. 

VA Response: 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: 

Question Sa. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what 
will VA do to prevent this from happening again in the future? 

VA Response: 

Question 6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially 
leaked, has the VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the 
report of investigation. 

VA Response: 

Question 7: Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion 
with respect to Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's 
companies? 

VA Response: 
Question 7a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself 
from any involvement with ? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 8: Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by 
VA attorneys regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal , whether and when this recusal 
occurred, and all communications regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal obligations with 
respect to her husband's companies. 

VA Response: 

Question 9: Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA 
business with her ? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

VA Response: 

Page 2 of 3 
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Enclosure 

Question 10: Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report 
financial information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, 
did Mrs. Bogue list her husband? 

VA Response: 

Question 10a. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s employer(s)? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s salary with respect to his 
work? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10c: Please provide Mrs. Bogue's financial reports dating back 
ack five (5) years. 

VA Response: 

Question 11: If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if 
she participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 12: Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking 
information regarding these matters? 

VA Response: 

Question 12a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely 
and reasonable manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 

VA Response: 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
April 2021 

Page 3 of 3 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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Secretary McDonough 
U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs 

April 2, 2021 

activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 Gary J. Aguirre (SBN 38927) 

2 
Aguirre Law, APC 
50 I W. Broadway, Ste. 800 

3 San Diego, CA 92101 

4 
Tel: 619-400-4960 
Fax: 619-501-7072 

5 Email: Gaiy@aguirrelawapc.com 

6 Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 

7 

8 

9 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA 

10 

11 

12 MARIA A. POMARES, 

13 Plaintiff, 

14 V . 

15 UNITED STATES DEPARTMENT OF 
VETERANS AFFAIRS, 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Defendant. 

1 

Case No.: '21 CV84 H MSB 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY 
AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 
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a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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Enclosure 

Department of Veterans of Affairs(VA) Responses to Questions from 
Senator Charles Grassley 

Question 1: Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 1a: If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 1 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 2: Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 2a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 2b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 3a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 3 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Page 1 of 3 



(21-08490-F) - 002027

Enclosure 

Question 4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums 
related to the suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie 
Manker, and Robert Reynolds. 

VA Response: 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: 

Question Sa. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what 
will VA do to prevent this from happening again in the future? 

VA Response: 

Question 6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially 
leaked, has the VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the 
report of investigation. 

VA Response: 

Question 7: Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion 
with respect to Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's 
companies? 

VA Response: 
Question 7a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself 
from any involvement with ? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 8: Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by 
VA attorneys regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal , whether and when this recusal 
occurred, and all communications regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal obligations with 
respect to her husband's companies. 

VA Response: 

Question 9: Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA 
business with her ? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

VA Response: 

Page 2 of 3 
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Question 10: Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report 
financial information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, 
did Mrs. Bogue list her husband? 

VA Response: 

Question 10a. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s employer(s)? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s salary with respect to his 
work? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10c: Please provide Mrs. Bogue's financial reports dating back 
ack five (5) years. 

VA Response: 

Question 11: If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if 
she participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 12: Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking 
information regarding these matters? 

VA Response: 

Question 12a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely 
and reasonable manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 

VA Response: 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
April 2021 

Page 3 of 3 
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From: 
Senti 
To: 

Cc: 
Subject: 
Attachments: 
Importance: 

Good afte rnoon Mike; 

l'b)f6) I 
Fn, 9 Apr 2021 20:18:56 +0000 

Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
l(bl[6l j'McVicker, Carrie A. 

Regarding VIEWS 4890714 {SME DATA REQUEST) 

4890714 Enclosure template .. docx, 2021-04-02 CEG to VA.pdf 

High 
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b)!lll 

Please let me know if you have any questiohs. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermoht Avenue NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

l'bl(61 I 
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Enclosure 

Department of Veterans of Affairs(VA) Responses to Questions from 
Senator Charles Grassley 

Question 1: Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 1a: If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 1 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 2: Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 2a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 2b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Question 3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been 
recommended for suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

VA Response: 

Question 3a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

VA Response: 

Question 3 b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If 
so, why and by who? 

VA Response: 

Page 1 of 3 
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Enclosure 

Question 4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums 
related to the suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie 
Manker, and Robert Reynolds. 

VA Response: 

Question 5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by 
safeguarding market sensitive information regarding potential enforcement 
announcements related to publicly-traded companies? 

VA Response: 

Question Sa. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what 
will VA do to prevent this from happening again in the future? 

VA Response: 

Question 6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially 
leaked, has the VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the 
report of investigation. 

VA Response: 

Question 7: Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion 
with respect to Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's 
companies? 

VA Response: 
Question 7a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself 
from any involvement with ? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 8: Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by 
VA attorneys regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal , whether and when this recusal 
occurred, and all communications regarding Ms. Bogue's recusal obligations with 
respect to her husband's companies. 

VA Response: 

Question 9: Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA 
business with her ? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

VA Response: 

Page 2 of 3 



(21-08490-F) - 002034

Enclosure 

Question 10: Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report 
financial information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, 
did Mrs. Bogue list her husband? 

VA Response: 

Question 10a. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s employer(s)? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial 
disclosure form, did she report Mr. Bogue s salary with respect to his 
work? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 10c: Please provide Mrs. Bogue's financial reports dating back 
ack five (5) years. 

VA Response: 

Question 11: If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if 
she participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation? If not, why not? 

VA Response: 

Question 12: Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking 
information regarding these matters? 

VA Response: 

Question 12a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely 
and reasonable manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 

VA Response: 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
April 2021 

Page 3 of 3 
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April 2, 2021 

VIA ELECTRONIC TRANSMISSION 
Dennis McDonough 
Secretary 
U.S. Department ofVeterans Affairs 

Dear Secretary McDonough: 

llmtcd ;otatcs iScnatc 
COMMITTEE ON TtlE JUDICIARY 

WM!IIIN!,T/lN, 01' 20~10-ij2I~ 

According to multiple whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff, the U.S. 
Deparh11ent of Veterans Affairs (VA) appears to be sweeping under the rug a history of conflicts 
and ethical issues among senior officials at the Veterans Benefits Administration (VBA). These 
concerns and allegations have been highljghted in both the media as well as in recent court filings, 
raising numerous challenges as you begin your temu·e leading the VA. 1 

After reviewing both witness statements and documents provided to my office, I write to 
you to express concern over allegations of improper contracting practices, whistle blower reprisal, 
and VA officials allegedly failing to protect internal deliberative information which may have led 
to individuals trading on non-public infmm.ation. I also understand that several whistleblowers 
have disclosed these concerns to the Office of Special Counsel (OSC), as well as the VA Inspector 
General (VA OIG). In November 2020, the National Legal and Policy Center (NLPC) reported 
on some of these very issues. 2 Of specific concern, whistleblowers have alleged that a VBA 
official has participated in VA business while her husband engaged in employment and consulting 
ainngements for companies with business before her, including Student Veterans of America 
(SVA) and Veterans Education Success (YES). In February of 2018, VA ethics lawyers allegedly 
determined that the VBA senior official, Charmain Bogue, should recuse herself from engaging in 

1 See NLPC Staff: Are For-Profit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks'!, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), hlt:ps://nlric.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profil-college-critics-up-to-Lheir-old-tricks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Nol Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
12, 2020), https://nlpc.org/2020/1 l/ 12/va-of.ficial-cham1ain-bogue-did-not-disclose-li.J:iks-to-outside-group/ ; NLPC 
Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Qfficial, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), Imps:/ /n lpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to-husband-of­
va.-official/; Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case # 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB 
(S.D. Cal., Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
1 See NLPC Staff, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up 10 Their Old Tricks?, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER 
(Nov. 4, 2020), https://nlpc.org/20?0/J l/ 04/are-for-pro6t-college-crirics-up-to-their-old-t1icks/; NLPC Staff, VA 
Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY CENTER (Nov. 
l 2, 2020), https://n lpc.org/2020/11 I 12/va-official-channain-bogue-did-not-disclose-links-to-outside-group/; NLPC 
Staff, On Ta;,; Return, Group Did Nol Disclose Payments to Husband of VA Official, NATIONAL LEGAL AND POLICY 
CENTER (Dec. 4, 2020), hllps://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-paymenls-to-h ushand-of­
va-official/. 
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activity involving her husband' s clients and employers, VES and SY A. Chairman Bogue serves 
as Executive Director of VBA's Education Service, and her husband, Banett Bogue, serves as a 
Senior Communication Adv isor for VES.3 Although this legal opinion was supposedly provided 
to Mrs. Bogue, as well as some other VA officials, it is unclear whether she ever d id recuse herself, 
and if she did, when. 

Mr. Bogue reportedly runs a consulting firm that has "a contract with VES ... generous 
enough to allow him to quit his day job and focus on his consulting business full time."4 It is 
further alleged that Mrs. Bogue failed to disclose her husband's place of work and his income on 
her mandatory ethics paperwork.5 Additionally, it appears that VES may have also failed to 
disclose payments it made to Mr. Bogue for his work. 6 

Whistleblowers further allege that the Bogues are inrucative of a broader culture of 
corruption and cronyism at the VBA, one which is hostile to enforcing basic ethical standards, and 
punishes those who bring concerns to the forefront. For example, Paul Lawrence, former 
Undersecretary of Benefits, allegedly recommended three senior officials for suspension who were 
reported to have improperly, and potentially illegally, accepted gifts from outside stakeholders. 
However, these suspensions were supposedly overturned by the previous Secretary of the VA. 
One of the officials, former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker, abrnptly retired, and another, 
Tom Murphy, is cunentl.y serving as Acting Undersecretary of Benefits. 

Of additional concern, according to allegations in a federal Freedom of Information Act 
(FOIA) lawsuit, is that the VA is currently fighting the release of documents that would further 
shed light on another controversy surrounding the Bogues. 7 According to the lawsuit, in January 
2020, Mr. Bogue's employer, VES, wrote a letter to Mrs. Bogue, ''which sought severe penalties 
against several for-profit educational institutions, [ and] began with this salutation, ' Dear 
Channain. "'8 Mr. Bogue's employer proposed that Mrs. Bogue and VBA "put four schools and a 
public company out of business," pushing her ' ' to choke off the schools' income flow'' by 
preventing veterans from using their GI Bill benefits at those institutions. 9 

In a March 3, 1 020 email provided to my office, obtained via FOlA, as tbe VA prepared to 
publicly annoimce its intent to grant VES's request, one individua.l is seen to have cautioned those 
on the email chain that the information, and pending actions surrounding various schools, needed 

3 Veterans Education Service, Who We.Are, Barret Bogue, https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/batTeU-bogue/. 
4 NLPC Staff, Are For-Prqfit College 'Critics' Up to Their Old Tricks?, NATlONALLEGAL AND POLICY CJ2NTER 

(Nov. 4, 2020), hrtps://nlpc.org/2020/ 11 /04/are-for-proiit-college-critics-up-to-their-old-tricks/. 
5 NLPC Staff, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links to Outside Group, NATlONAL L EGAL AND 
POLICY CeNruR (Nov. L2, 2020), https:tlnfoc.org/2020/ l l /12/va-official-channain-bogue-clid-not-disclose-links-to­
outside-group/. 
6 NLPC Staff, On Tax Return, Group Did Not Disclose Payments to l{usband of VA Official, NATlONAL LEGAL AND 

POLICY CENTER (Dec. 4 , 2020), https://nlpc.orl!/2020/12/04/on-tax-return-group-did-not-disclose-payments-to­
husband-of-va-official/. 
7 Complaint, Pomares v. United States Department of Veterans Affairs, Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB (S.D. Cal., 
Jan 15, 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
8 Td. at 3. 
9 Td. at 3-4. 
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to be safeguarded. 10 That official cautioned that the VA 's impending announcement needed to be 
kept,., close hold' in order to prevent misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading.'' 

-ff9:t Citllt. NllttJw•u l ut) :Jfl&I l1•!ideu.st1J•""bdl0,~1.1$01~tril•1~ U\tl"V.:!♦1UU:.1,J~ 
"IFOf--e,..p1.1111t;:1v,1"11~un~ ~~1.: ,.._ !-):ftt,.=.5(.~ \ ,L..,J:l! c-Jf..'•, 

t, Jr'b~si JlJ~ l 111! 111d CXlt. ""i t ~1l.i1d1u I,: n1~,;l J11.;{11t, ◄ntll >f I 
r1 \.=iE-tllf1_1tl, ... ,1t71,nalturt ~ •l\flO JfU~J\::•rtQfil• 11-nl 

wlb~o1 ilr«f tnsoJtH lfau,tl J 

Unfortunately, the VA appears to have failed to observe that advice, and as the lawsuit alleges, 
retail investors, without access to this privileged information, wese ha1med as a result. 

According to the complaint, " [ o ]n March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after tbe stock market had 
closed, the VA issued a press release announcing it was threatening to do exactly what VES had 
asked it to do ... to choke off the schools' income flow .. . '· 11 

However, someone appears to have released market sensitive information about the VA's 
impending announcement during the trading day and may have done so in the months between 
the January letter and the March 9 announcement as well. At least one recipient of the early 
heads-up was Mr. Bogue' s employer, VES. ·The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, 
including VES. During the trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the 
official VA announcement." 12 For that reason, the lawsuit: 

... seeks records ... relating to the VA' s selective release of nonpublic information 
during the period from Janua1y through March 2020 that adversely affected the 
stock price of ... a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 
price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7.96, a loss of 58 percent of its 
price and over $800 million in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had 
decided it would take no action against CEC but for many investors who sold 
during the near panic, their losses had alTeady been realized, and for the 

10 Attacl1ed as Ex.b.ibit B. 
11 Complaint, Pomares v. United S101es Department of Veterans A/fairs. Case# 2 l-cv-00084-H-MSB, at .5 (S.D. 
Cal., Jan 15. 2021) (Attached as Exhibit A). 
12 Id. at 6-7. 
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professional traders, who may have received those tips, their profits had already 
been banked. 13 

The Senate Judiciary Committee has jurisdiction over FOIA-related matters and an 
obligation to conduct oversight of FOIA compliance issues. Moreover, the allegations described 
by whistleblowers and witnesses interviewed by my staff raise broader, serious questions about 
potential ethics violations and whistleblower reprisal at the VA. 

To that end, I respectfully request that you answer the following questions no later than 
April 16, 2021. 

13 Id. at 1-2. 

1. Has Acting Undersecretary Tom Murphy ever been recommended for suspension 
for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Murphy ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

2. Had former Deputy Undersecretary Robert Reynolds ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Reynolds ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

3. Had former Principal Undersecretary Jamie Manker ever been recommended for 
suspension for accepting gifts as prohibited by law? 

a. If so, was Mr. Manker ever suspended? 

b. Was a recommendation for suspension ever overturned? If so, why and by 
who? 

4. Please provide all records, communications, and memorandums related to the 
suspensions, or proposed suspensions, of Tom Murphy, Jamie Manker, and Robert 
Reynolds. 

5. What steps does the VA take to protect retail investors by safeguarding market 
sensitive information regarding potential enforcement announcements related to 
publicly-traded companies? 
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a. Is it possible these steps failed in this instance? If so, what will VA do to 
prevent this from happening again in the future? 

6. If the VA is aware that market sensitive information was potentially leaked, has the 
VA investigated this leak of information? Please provide the report of 
investigation. 

7. Did the VA Office of General Counsel ever provide a legal opinion with respect to 
Mrs. Bogue and her involvement with any of her husband's companies? 

a. Did the legal opinion recommend Mrs. Bogue recuse herself from any 
involvement with her husband's companies? If not, why not? 

8. Please provide all records relating to any written ethics opinion by VA attorneys 
regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal, whether and when this recusal occurred, and all 
communications regarding Mrs. Bogue's recusal obligations with respect to her 
husband's companies. 

9. Did Mrs. Bogue engage in, participate in, or contribute to VA business with her 
husband's businesses? If so, why did VA allow Mrs. Bogue to participate? 

10. Under current law and regulation, is Mrs. Bogue required to report financial 
information of her spouse via a public financial disclosure report? If so, did Ms. 
Bogue list her husband? 

a. If Mrs. Bogue did repmt her husband on a public financial disclosure form, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's employer(s)? If not, why not? 

b. If Mrs. Bogue did report her husband on a public financial disclosure fmm, 
did she report Mr. Bogue's salary with respect to his work? If not, why not? 

c. Please provide Mrs. Bogue's public financial disclosure reports dating back 
five (5) years. 

11. If Mrs. Bogue did not report where Mr. Bogue currently works, and if she 
participated in VA business related to VES, would that constitute a conflict of 
interest as described by applicable law or regulation?14 If not, why not? 

12. Why has the VA attempted to block FOIA requests seeking information regarding 
these matters? 

14 18 u.s.c. § 208. 

a. Does the VA plan to comply with FOIA requests in a timely and reasonable 
manner in order to afford the public greater transparency? 
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Should you have questions, please contact my Committee staff at (202) 224-5225. Thank 
you for your attention to this important mater. 

Sincerely, 

Charles E. Grassley 

Rankling Member 

Committee on the Judiciary 
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1 1. Tbjs action is brought under the Freedom of Information Act ("FOIA"). 5 

2 U.S.C. § 552, as amended, for an order compelling Defendant United States Department 

3 of Veterans Affairs ("VA") to produce, provide access to, and make available certain 

4 records specified below that were requested by Plaintiff Maria Pomares. 

5 

6 2. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

This Court has jurisdiction and venue over this action pw·suant to 5 U.S.C. § 

7 552(a)(4)(B). 

8 

9 3. 

PARTIES 

Plaintiff is a citizen of the United States and a resident of the County of San 

10 Diego. 

11 4. Defendant is an agency of the United States Government and has possession 

12 and control of the records that are the subject of this action. 

13 

14 

15 5. 

THE RELEASE OF THE RECORDS SOUGHT 

WOULD SERVE THE HIGHEST PUBLIC INTEREST 

Plaintiff seeks records from the Department of Veterans Affairs ("VA") 

16 relating to the VA ' s selective release of nonpublic infom1ation during the period from 

17 January through March 2020 that adversely affected the stock price of Career Education 

18 Corporation ('(CEC"), 1 a U.S. publicly traded company. During this period, the stock 

19 price (ticker symbol: PRDO) fell from $18.83 to $7 .96, a loss of 58 percent of its price 

20 and over $800 nullion in market capitalization. By July 2020, the VA had decided it 

21 would take no action against CEC, 2 but for many investors who sold during the near 

22 

23 
1 The name of the company was changed from Career Education Corporation to Perdoceo 

24 
Education Corporation effective January 1, 2020. The company's fonner name is used in 

25 this complaint, because the records requests and released records primarily use that name. 
2 Danielle Douglas-Gabriel, VA Backs down from Plan to Suspend University of Phoenix 

26 
and Other Colleges from Accessing GI Bill Benefits, WASH. POST, July 2, 2020, 

27 h ttps://www.washingtonpost.com/ education/2020/07 /02/v a-backs-down-plan-suspend-
28 university-phoenix-other-colleges-accessing-gi-bill-benefits/, last visited Jan. 13, 202 1. 

2 
COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 
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1 panic, their losses had already been realized, and for the professional traders, who may 

2 have received those tips, their profits had already been banked. 

3 6. Plaintiff is informed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the agency 

4 decisions and the release of this nonpublic information involved a relationship between a 

5 high-level agency official and an individual in the private sector that should have 

6 required the agency official to recuse herself pursuant to agency regulations, which she 

7 did not do, and that she should have fully disclosed in her Public Financial Disclosure 

8 Report, which she also did not do. 

9 7. The VA took the action at the prompting of a nonprofit organization with 

10 prior and current relationships with market participants who may have profited by the 

11 price movement of the public company. 

12 8. Plaintiff seeks VA records containing information relating to (i) its decision 

13 to make selective releases of nonpublic information, (ii) the identity of those who 

14 received the selective releases of the nonpublic information, and (iii) the possible 

15 conduits through which this nonpublic information may have flowed to market 

16 participants who profited by its use . 

17 9. On January 21, 2020, the nonprofit organization Veterans Education Success 

18 (''YES") delivered a letter to Cham1ain Bogue, Executive Director of the Veterans 

19 Benefits Adrninistration ("VBA") Education Service in the VA. 3 The letter, which sought 

20 severe penalties against several for-profit educational institutions, began with this 

21 salutation, "Dear Charmain." From this first-name greeting, VES proposed that Director 

22 Bogue take action to put four schools and a public company out ofbusiness in the letter's 

23 first sentence: ''We are writing to bring information to your attention troubling 

24 complaints alleging misleading advertising and enrollment practices by schools, making 

25 
3 Letter from Aniela Szymanski, YES Sr. Dir. for Legal Affairs & Military Policy to VA 

26 
Exec. Dir. Charmain Bogue, Veterans Benefits Administration (Jan 21, 2020), 

27 https://vetsedsuccess.org/letter-to-va-regarding-gi-bill-feedback-tool-and-38-usc-3696-
28 compliance/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

3 
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1 those schools ineligible for educational benefits under 38 U.S.C. § 3696 (emphasis 

2 added)."4 

3 10. VES' s letter sought this extraordinary sanction based on evidence it bad 

4 helped prepare and deliver to the VA: "our staff bas gathered evidence that these schools 

5 aggressively recruit veterans and other GI Bill beneficiaries, making it especially 

6 important that VA take appropriate action to address their bebavior." 5 

7 11. Based on this evidence, VES 's letter pushed the VA to choke off the 

8 schools' income flow by declaring the schools were ineligible for educational benefits 

9 under 38 U .S.C. § 3696. 

10 12. The VES letter also pressed the VA to accept as its own all veterans ' 

11 purported complaints submitted by VES to the VA regarding for-profit educational 

12 institutions and forward all VES generated complaints to law enforcement. To these ends, 

13 the YES letter urged the VA to: 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 I I I 

26 4 Id. 
27 s Id. 

28 
6 Id. 

A. Modify its tracking system of veterans ' complaints, the GI Bill tool, so it 

would contain all complaints YES had collected from veterans and 

sub1nitted to the VA; 

B. Modify its GI Bill tool to reflect student disagreement with the school's 

response to a VA complaint, si1nilar to the way the U.S. Conswner Financial 

Protection Bureau reports that information; 

C. Upload all complaints delivered by VESS to the VA "into Consumer 

Sentinel, which law enforcement relies upon"6 in its investigations of for­

profit schools; and 

D. Explain why the VA bad not reported all 1,189 complaints YES had 

sub1nitted to it. 

4 
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1 13. On March 9, 2020, at 5:59 p.m., after the stock market had closed, the VA 

2 issued a press release am1ouncing it was threatening to do exactly what YES had asked it 

3 to do in its January 21, 2020, letter- to choke off the schools ' income flow- using similar 

4 language to the VES letter and citing the same federal statute. 7 

5 14. In particular, on March 9, the VA "notified the University of Phoenix [and] 

6 Career Education Corporation (Colorado Technical University and American 

7 lnterContinental University) of the agency's intent to disapprove the enrollment of new GI 

8 Bill students at these institutions." 8 In particular, the VA took the following actions: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

I I I 

A. "The U.S. Department of Veterans Affairs (VA), acting within its required 

approval authority under the law limiting certain advertising, sales, and 

enrollment practices, notified the University of Phoenix, Career Education 

Corporation (Colorado Technical University, American lnterContinental 

University), Bellevue University and Temple University, March 9, of the 

agency's intent to disapprove the emollment of new GI Bill students at these 

institutions. "9 

B. "After careful review and consideration of findings provided by the Federal 

Trade Commission and State Attorneys General Offices, VA has concluded 

there is sufficient evidence to support a finding that these schools have utilized 

advertising, sales, or enrollment practices that are erroneous, deceptive, or 

misleading either by actual statement, omission, or intimation against GI Bill 

beneficiaries, in violation of the law." 10 

7 Press Release, VA, VA intends to suspend enrollment of new GI Bill students at 
24 

University of Phoenix, Career Education Corporation, Bellevue University and Temple 
25 University (Mar 9, 2020), https://www.va.gov/opa/pressrel/pressre1ease.cfm?id=5399, 

last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
26 s Id. 
27 9 Id. 

,o Id. 
28 5 
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1 15. The VA issued its press release almost two hours after the markets had 

2 closed, but the press release was not news to those who sold CEC stock short that day. 11 

3 During tracling hours on March 9, 2020, the market traded 1.640 million shares of CEC 

4 stock, roughly 3 70 percent of its daily average volume since the beginning of the year. 

5 Traders also sold short 512,000 shares, roughly 350 percent of its average daily short sale 

6 volume since the beginning of the year. The price of CEC stock fell from $18.83 on 

7 January 21, 2020, to $7.96 on March 18, 2020, a fall of 58 percent of its value. 

8 16. The VA gave early notice of its decision to some, including VES. During the 

9 trading day at 2:26 p.m. E.T., VES tweeted its own press before the official VA 

10 a1mow1cement. The VES press release identified CEC and stated the VA had "notified 

11 military and veterans service organizations today" of its impending enforcement action. 12 

12 I/ I 

13 I I I 

14 I I I 

15 I I I 

16 

17 11 The Securities and Exchange Commission provides this concise description of a short 
sale: 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

A short sale is generally the sale of a stock you do not own ( or that you will 
botTow for delivery). Short sellers believe the price of the stock will fall, or 
are seeking to hedge against potential price volatility in securities that they 
own. 
If the price of the stock drops, short sellers buy the stock at the lower price 
and make a profit. If the price of the stock rises, short sellers will incur a loss. 
Short sales must be done in compliance with SEC Regulation SHO. 

23 https:l/www.sec.gov/investor/pubslregsho.htm. last visited Jan. 14, 2021. 
12 Press Release, VES, Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by the Department 

24 
of Veterans Affairs to Suspend New GI Bill Students from Enrolling at the University of 

25 Phoenix, Career Education Corporation Institutions, Bellevue University, and Temple 

26 
University (March 9, 2020), 
h ttps :/ I vetsedsuccess .org/press-release-veterans-educatio n-success-praiscs-decision-by-

27 the-department-of-veterans-affairs-to-suspend-new-gi-bi11-students-frorn-enrolling-at-the-
28 university-of-phoenix-career-education-corporati/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

6 
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~ Veterans Education Success 
~ §: Gl81I Rights 

o:,a 

BREAKING @DeptVetAffa,rs announced thei r 

intent to stop new #GIBil l enrolln1ents at the University 
of Phoenix, Colorado Technical University, American 
Intercontinental University, Bellevue University, and 
Temple University. Read our reaction~ 

(ETE 
~DUCATI< 

Press Release: Veterans Education Success Praises Decision by ... 
For u ,mediate Relea!;e C.:.rr:ac, Came Wofford I 
Presidem (202) 838-5050 Tanva Ang I VJce Pre-srdenr {20:!) 838. 

,9 vi:tsedsucce.s.s.oro 

11:26 A t , Mar 9 2020 , Twitter Web App 

17. The VA's selective release of nonpublic information during the trading day 

16 shows its lack of understanding how nonpublic information can dramatically move the 

17 market. It also suggests the possibility the VA may have released nonpublic information 

18 between the arrival of the VES letter on January 21, 2020, and the VA's press release on 

19 March 9, 2020. VES also has a history of prior connections with at least one hedge fund 

20 that engaged in short selling the stocks of for-profit educational companies. 13 

21 18. The chart below shows the fall of CEC stock from January 21 to March 18, 

22 2020, is consistent with the VA's selective release of nonpublic information of the 

23 impending enforcement proceeding against CEC that found its way to market participants 

24 during this period. As the chai1 illustrates, the price fell from $18.83 to $7.96: 

25 / / / 

26 13 National Legal and Policy Center, Are For-Profit College 'Critics ' Up to Their Old 
27 Tricks? Nov. 4, 2020, https://nlpc.org/2020/11 /04/are-for-profit-college-critics-up-to-
28 their-old-tricks/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

7 
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13 19. Barrett Bogue, Director Bogue's husband, is VES Senior Communications 

14 Advisor. 14 The full extent of his involve1nent in VES's effort to persuade the VA to 

15 implement VES's January 21 letter is unknown and may never be known, given the 

19.5 

100 
18 .5 

1S.O 
17.~ 

17~ 

1tl.6 

15.6 

1~.0 

, .. 
•• ,,,. 

13.0 

12.6 

12,0 

16 nature of his relationship with Director Bogue. He clearly supported VES's efforts to get 

17 the VA to crackdown on for-profit schools, as he demonstrated on December 18, 2019, 

18 when he tweeted an article focused on how the VA was failing to hold for-profit colleges 

19 accountable. 15 

20 20. Director Bogue's Public Financial Disclosure Report does not disclose her 

21 husband's financial relationships with VES. On the form, Director Bogue disclosed her 

22 husband is self-employed through a consulting firm, but did not identify the firm or 

23 answer questions about the value of his firm and the amount of his income. She merely 

24 

25 14 See: https://vetsedsuccess.org/who-we-are/barrett-bogue/ , last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
15 Jasper Craven, Scrutiny of Colleges that Get Billions in GI Bill Money Remains Mired 

26 
in Bureaucracy, THE H ECHJNGERREPORT, Dec. 11 , 2019, 

27 https://hechinge1Teport.org/scrutiny-of-colleges-that-get-bi1lions-in-gi-bill-money-
28 remains-mired-in-bureaucracy/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

8 
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1 disclosed that he is paid a salary and receives an unspecified amount in "consulting 

2 fees." 16 The public interest in the release of information and its implications are growing, 

3 as a recent series of posts by a national ethics watchdog confirms. 17 

4 21. Plaintiff is informed and believes and thereon alleges that Director Bogue 

s was obligated to recuse herself under 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101, but failed 

6 to do so. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that Defendant 

7 VA is withholding records relating to Director Bogue's failure to enforce 18 U.S.C. § 208 

s and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101. 

9 22. Plaintiff is further informed and believes and thereon alleges, that the VA 

10 Office of the Inspector General ("OIG") conducted an investigation of Director Bogue's 

11 failure to comply with 18 U.S.C. § 208 and 5 C.F.R. 2640.101 and is wrongfully 

12 withholding nonexempt agency records relating to that investigation. 

13 23. On January 15, 2021, Defendant VA 's OIG delivered a letter to Plaintiff in 

14 which it asserted a ''Glomar" response and, on that basis, neither admitted nor denied 

15 whether any of the following inquiries of investigative records exist: 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 / / / 

22 

1. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue was 
the subject. 

2. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit where Charmain Bogue a 
witness. 

3. Any OIG inquiry or investigation or audit relating to the handling or 
material nonpublic information. 

23 16 National Legal and Policy Center, VA Official Charmain Bogue Did Not Disclose Links 

24 
to Outside Group, Nov. 12, 2020, 
https://nlpc.org/2020/ l l / 12/va-official-chan11ain-bogue-djd-not-disclose-links-to-outside-

2s group/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 
17 id. , See also: supra, n. 13 and National Legal and Policy Center, On Tax Return, Group 

26 
Did Not Disclose Payments to Husband~( VA Official, Dec. 4, 2020, 

27 https://nlpc.org/2020/ 12/04/on-tax-retum-group-did~not-disclose-payments-to-husband-
28 of-va-official/, last visited Jan. 15, 2021. 

9 
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1 Plaintiff is infom1ed and believes, and thereon alleges, that the records requests that are 

2 the subject matter of this complaint also sought records which Defendant VA is 

3 withholding on the basis of its "Glomar" response. Defendant VA failed to assert a 

4 "Glomar)' response in any of its communications with Plaintiff in relation to the records 

5 sought by this complaint and therefore waived it. 

6 

7 

FACTS COMMON TO ALL CAUSES OF ACTION 

24. Plaintiff has submitted two FOIA requests to Defendant VA that are the 

8 subject of this complaint seeking records relating to the facts alleged in paragTaphs 5 

9 through 22. 18 Defendant VA in effect restructured Plaintiffs two FOIA requests into 12 

10 FOIA requests with separate tracking numbers, separate processing by different offices 

11 and administrations within the VA, separate appeal processes, and separate dates for 

12 exhausting administrative remedies. Plaintiff seeks declaratory and injunctive relief 

13 regarding two tracks of the VA 's restruchtred FOIA requests where the administrative 

14 remedies have been exhausted. Plaintiff will seek leave of this Court to amend this 

15 complaint as necessary to incorporate Plaintiffs claims relating to the other tracks of her 

16 FOIA requests as the administrative remedies are exhausted. 

17 

18 

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION 

25. On November 9, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

19 Plaintiff submitted a letter 19 to Defendant VA requesting access to and copies of specified 

20 docwnents as follows: 

21 

22 

23 

24 

I ) All emails sent by any of the Designated VA Persons 20 to one or more of 
the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 15, 
2020: 

a. Any email address ending with tbis domain: @eangus.org; 

25 18 Plaintiff's FOIA requests were sub1mtted on November 9 and 13, 2020.A tn1e and correct 

26 
copy of said FOlA requests is attached hereto and incorporated herein as Exhibits t , and 2. 
19 A copy of the request is attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference as Ex. I. 

27 20 The term "Designated VA Persons" was defined in the letter to include specific officials 

28 
and staff with the VA. Id., at 3. 
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b. Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c . Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e. Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address endjng with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

2) All emails received by any of the Designated VA Persons from one or more 
of the following email addresses between December 15, 2019, and March 
15, 2020: 

a. Any email address ending with this domain: @eangus.org; 
b . Any email address ending with this domain: @evocatillc.com; 
c. Any email address ending with this domain: @paaresearch.com; 
d. Any email address ending with this domain: @republicreport.org; 
e . Any email address ending with this domain: @stripes.com; 
f. Any email address ending with this domain: @tcf.org; 
g. Any email address ending with this domain: 

@veteranseducationsuccess.org; 
h. Any email address ending with this domain: @vetsedsuccess.org; 

and 
i. Any email address ending with this domain: @washpost.com. 

3) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names in the email address: 

a. Wafford( e.g., Wafford in 
can-ie.wofford@veteranseducationsuccess.org would make this 
email responsive), 

b. Ang, 
c. Beynon, 
d. Bogue, 
e. Douglas-Gabriel. 
f. Halperin, 
g. Saunders, 
h. Safalow, and 
i. Shireman. 

4) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following names anywhere in the email: 

11 
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a. Carrie Wofford. 
b . Tanya Ang, 
c. Barrett Bogue, 
d. David Halperin, 
e. Robert Norton, 
f. Michael Saunders, 
g. Bradley Safalow, and 
h. Robe1i Shireman. 

5) All e1nails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
December 15, 2019, and March 15, 2020, excluding VA internal emails, 
that contain any of the following terms anywhere in the email~ 

a. University of Phoenix, 
b. Perdoceo Education, 
c. PROO, 
d. Career Education, 
e. CECO, 
f. Bellevue University, 
g. Temple University, 
h. Colorado Technical, and 
i. American Intercontinental. 

6) All emails sent or received by any of the Designated VA Persons between 
March 8 and March l 0, 2020, including VA internal emails, that contain 
any of the following phrases in the subject line: 

a. VA intends to suspend enroU1nent, 
b. Any Background/TPs on this available? 
c. Talking Points on Suspension Actions, 
d. Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved Schools, and 
e. Talking Points on Suspension Action for Five GI Bill Approved 

Schools. 

26. On November 10, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter from the VA 

acknowledging the receipt of her FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the said 

acknowledgment letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 3. The 

VA's November 10 letter assigned five different FOIA Tracking numbers to Plaintiffs 

requests. 

27. On November 11 , 2020, Plaintiff's counsel contacted the VA FOIA Office 

offering to clarify any issues relating to the November 9 Plaintiff's FOIA request to 

facilitate its processing as follows: 
12 
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1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

First, the request was drafted so the searches cou1d be conducted 
electronically. I would estimate the electronic searches could be conducted in 
an hour or less. That will give you the number of hits. 

Second, the requests seek emails with various organizations which are 
unlikely to be subject to exemptions. In particular, they seek communications 
with the media and non-governmental organizations. 

Third, I wou1d like to discuss any problems you see that could delay the early 
release of the records sought. 

7 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

8 Exhibit 4. 

9 28. On November 13, 2020, Plaintiff's counse1 was contacted by a different 

10 FOIA specialist who was " taking the lead'' on Plaintiff's November 9 FOIA request, 

11 because it had "been assigned to multiple VA FOIA directorates.'' In this way, the lead 

12 FOIA specialist explained, if any of the FOIA officers processing the requests needed 

13 clarification, they "wi11 submit their request to me. I have requested they provide me a 

14 response by close of business on Monday, November 16, 2020 so that I may send you one 

15 request for clarification for the group on Tuesday, November 17, 2020." The lead FOIA 

16 specialist further explained that "each FOlA Officer will process the portion of the request 

17 pertaining to their directorate and will provide a response directly to you.'' A true and 

18 correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 5. 

19 29. On November 17, the lead FOIA specialist and Plaintiff's counsel 

20 exchanged emails for the purpose of clarifying Plaintiff's FOIA requests. After the 

21 requests were clarified to the satisfaction of the lead FOIA specialist, she forwarded the 

22 clarifications to the FOIA officers in the different administrations working on Plaintiffs 

23 FOIA request. The email also clarified the Veterans Benefits Administration r ·vBA") 

24 was "processing the request under FOIA tracking numbers 21-00931-F and 21-00956-F." 

25 A true and correct copy of this email chain is attached hereto and incorporated herein as 

26 Exhibit 6. 

27 / / / 

28 13 
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1 30. On November 17, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VBA, 

2 which once again acknowledged receipt of her FOlA request and assigned it tracking 

3 nwnber 21-00931-F. A true and correct copy of said letter is attached hereto and 

4 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 7. 

5 31. On November 27, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel received an email from the 

6 VBA's FOIA specialist extending the response time 20 business days and setting the date 

7 for the VBA FOlA Office to issue a response as January 6, 2021. A true and correct copy 

8 of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 30. 

9 32. On November 30, 2020, Plaintiff's counsel responded to the VBA's FOIA 

10 specialist November 27 email pointing out the extension failed "to comply with at least 

11 two terms of 5 USC § 552(a)(6)(B)." A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

12 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29-30. 

13 33. On the same day, November 30, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist replied 

14 reiterating Plaintiff would have a response by January 6, 2021, and offering to discuss 

15 with Plaintiff's counsel the extension. A true and correct copy of said email is attached 

16 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 8 at 29. 

17 34. After several email exchanges on November 30, the VBA FOIA specialist 

18 and Plaintiff's counsel held a conference call which Plaintiffs counsel confirmed in his 

19 email of December 1, 2020, as follows: the VBA FOIA specialist agreed to provide an 

20 update on December 2, 2020, regarding (l) when the VBA's Office of Information 

21 Technology ("OIT") would provide the search results to the FOIA specialist and (2) how 

22 many pages had to be reviewed. A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto 

23 and incorporated by reference as the bottom email in Exhibit 9 at 35-36. 

24 35. On December 2, 2020, the VBA FOIA specialist infonned Plaintiffs 

25 counsel the OIT was working on the ticket and "it should be resolved in a matt,er of a few 

26 days." A true and correct copy of said email is attached hereto and incorporated by 

27 reference as the second email from the bottom in Exhibit 9 at 35. 

28 14 
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1 36. On December 11 , 2020, Plaintiffs counsel confirmed with his email the 

2 conference call he held the day before with the VBA FOIA specialist. During the 

3 conversation, Plaintiff's counsel was informed the FOlA request had been transferred to 

4 "tier 3 ... because it involves upper or senior management, which will delay the release of 

5 these records." Plaintiffs counsel stated his position as follows: 

6 

7 

8 

9 

As you know, I disagreed with any extension of time for this request, since it 
involves an electronic search of records that did not appear to be subject to 
any exemption. I also understand you have nearly completed your review, so 
there should be little justification for delay, absent the late decision to transfer 
this matter to Tier 3. 

10 Plaintiffs counsel requested further inf01mation. Specifically: 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

1. Is there any mtemal rule or regulation (CFR) that defmes, states, or 
discusses the different tier? For example, what is the guidance for deciding 
what is tier 2 versus tier 3? 

2. Is there any intenial rule or regulation (CFR) that expand the period to 
respond to a FOIA request when the agency transfers a request to a new 
tier? 

3. What is the definition and rule or regulation applied in determining that 
Ms. Bogue is at a sufficient high level of management within the VBA that 
this request should now be transferred to Tier 3? 

18 A true and correct copy of this email is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 

19 Exhibit 9, at 34. 

20 37. On December 15, 2020, since the VBA FOIA specialist had not responded, 

21 Plaintiffs counsel followed up with an email. On the same date, December 15, the VBA 

22 FOIA specialist informed Plaintiffs counsel the request was being reviewed by the 

23 Office of General Counsel (OGC). The email continued: 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

Once I receive feedback from OGC, I'm hopeful that a disclosure will be made 
this week. Secondly, I have reviewed your questions below concerning IT 
processes. 1 have contacted the Chief of VBACO Deskiop Support Services 
for question # I .... This request is being reviewed by OGC because the subject 
matter is of interest of senior leadership and, as such, bas been designated as 

15 

COMPLAJNT FOR DECLARATORY AND INJUNCTIVE RELIEF 



(21-08490-F) - 002057

1 

2 

Case 3:21-cv-00084-H-MSB Document 1 Filed 01/15/21 PagelD.16 Page 16 of 19 

a Substantial Interest (SI) request. Prior to issuing a disclosure determination, 
OGC must review it before its release. This is an agency policy. 

A true and correct copy of this e1nail is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as 
3 

Exhibit 9, at 33. 
4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

38. Defendant VA' s time for responding to restructured FOIA request 2 1-

00931-F has expired for each of the following reasons: 

A. Defendant VA knew the grounds for its designation of this request as a 

Substantial Interest request from the date of its receipt of Plaintiff's November 

9, 2020, request and thus Defendant VA was dilatory in making said 

designation; 

B. Defendant VA failed to comply with 38 C.F.R. § 1.556 in its processing of this 

request; and 

C. All conceivable time periods have expired for Defendant VA to comply with 

this request under FOIA and 38 § C.F.R. § 1.556. 

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION 

39. On November 13, 2020, pursuant to the applicable provisions ofFOIA, 

Plaintiff submitted her FOIA request to Defendant VA' s ( 1) FOIA Office, (2) Office of 
17 

the General Counsel, (3) Veterans Benefits Administration and ( 4) Office of Infonnation 
18 

Technology by email and first-class mail. Plaintiff requested access to and copies of 
19 

specified documents as follows: 
20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

1) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain the following name: Charmain Bogue. 

2) All FOIA requests received by the VA or any of its Administrations, 
Offices, and Centers that contain any of the following terms; 

a) University of Phoenix, 
b) Perdoceo, 
c) Be1levue University, 
d) Temple University, 
e) Colorado Technical, 

16 
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t) American InterContinental, and 
g) Career Education. 

3) All records released in electronic fonnat in response to any of the FO IA 
requests identified in response to requests 1 and 2 above pursuant to 5 
uses§ 552(a)(2)(D)(i). 

A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs FOIA request is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 2. 

40. On November 18, the VA FOIA Service assigned Plaintiffs request to the 

appropriate offices for processing. Each office assigned a different tracking number to the 

request, but the letter did not specify what tracking number the OIG had assigned to the 

FOIA request. A true and correct copy of the November 18, 2020, letter is attached 

hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 10. 

41. On December 8, 2020, Plaintiff received a letter via email from the VA's 

Office of the Inspector General ("OIG"). The letter stated the VA OIG had assigned 

tracking number 21-00078-FOIA to Plaintiff's FOIA request and a search of VA OIG 

records had yielded no responsive results. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to 

appeal the detemunatfon to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of 

the VA OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 11. 

42. On December 10, 2020, Plaintiff, through her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

detennination. A true and correct copy of the Plaintiffs appeal is attached hereto and 

incorporated by reference as Exhibit 12. 

43. On December 17, 2020, the VA OIG responded to Plaintiffs appeal finding 

"the VA OIG FOIA Office did not conduct an adequate search and" remanded "the FOIA 

file to that office to conduct a new searcb'1 and provide a final response. A true and 

correct copy of the letter remanding Plaintiffs request to the VA OIG FOIA Office is 

attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 13. 

44. On December 23, 2020, the VA OIG infonned Plaintiff it had "conducted 

another search extending the search period from FY 2014 to" the present which had 

yielded 11 pages of records released with the letter. The released records were redacted 

17 
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1 under Exemption 6. The letter also informed Plaintiff of her right to appeal the 

2 dete1nunation to the OIG's Office of Counselor. A true and correct copy of the VA 

3 OIG's letter is attached hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 14. 

4 45. On December 24, 2020, Plaintiff, though her counsel, appealed the OIG's 

5 determination. A true and correct copy of Plaintiff's appeal is attached hereto and 

6 incorporated by reference as Exhibit 15. 

7 46. On December 28, 2020, the VA OIG denied the appeal finding the response 

8 was proper. The OIG's letter advised Plaintiff ofber right to file a complaint with the 

9 U.S. District Court. A true and correct copy of the OIG's appeal denial is attached 

10 hereto and incorporated by reference as Exhibit 16. 

11 

12 

13 

14 

PLAINTIFF'S CLAIM FOR RELIEF: VIOLATIONS OF FOIA 

4 7. Plaintiff re-alleges and incorporates by reference all preceding paragraphs. 

48. Plaintiff is entitled by law to access the records requested under the FOIA. 

49. Defendant VA is in violation of the FOIA, 5 U.S.C. § 552, by failing to 

15 fully and lawfully comply with Plaintiffs November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests 

16 for records (Exhibits l and 2), as specified in paragraphs 25 and 39 above. 

17 

18 

19 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff respectfully requests the Court: 

A. Declare that Defendant VA has violated the FOIA by failing to satisfy 

20 Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as specified in 

21 paragraphs 25 and 39 above; 

22 B. Order Defendant VA to immediately search for and release all records 

23 responsive to Plaintiff's November 9 and November 13, 2020, requests for records as 

24 specified in paragraphs 25 and 39above~ 

25 C. Award Plaintiff her costs and reasonable attorney's fees ahd litigation costs i11 

26 this action; and 

27 / / / 

28 18 
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1 D. Grant such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper. 

2 DATED: January 15, 2021 

3 
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Gary . Aguirre, CA Bar #38927 
Aguirre Law, A.P.C. 
501 W Broadway, Ste 800 
San Diego, CA 92101 
Telephone: 619-400-4960 
Facsimile: 619-501-7072 

Attorney for Plaintiff Maria A. Pomares 
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From: 
To: 
Cc: 
Subjt:e.."l: 

Date: 

Mallia, Donna P. 
1ix 

Wednesday, March 4, 2020 8:19:39 AM 

Good Morning-

While I understand the sensitivity of the matter, we need to ensure the folks who are 
to take action, based on this letter, are informed of the process. The letter notes the 
follow ing: 

Just want to ensure the RPOs are prepared to address the issue appropriately. 

Thanks-■ 

From: .gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 4:36 PM 

To: FF 
Cc: a.gov> 

Subject: RE: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

• 
The calls will be set up after the decisions and actions involving the various schools 
have been publicly announced. Since some of the schools are owned by publicly 
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traded corporations, and because the actions will potentially impact thousands of GI 
Bill beneficiaries, we're keeping the information "close hold" in order to prevent 
misinformed leaks, general panic, and insider trading. 

Deputy Director, Program Management 

Education Service 

From: @va.gov> 

Sent: Tuesday, March 3, 2020 9:42 AM 

To: VBAVACO ~ a.goV> 

Cc: Bogue, Charmain, VBAVACO @va.goV>; Mallia, Donna P. 

@va.gov> 

Subject: FW: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Morning- I understand that you are planning on establishing recurring 
calls with the field on this issue. Any idea when they will begin? We want to make 
sure we are prepared for school responses. 

Thanks! 

■ 
From: Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va,goV> 
Sent: Monday, March 2, 2020 3:48 PM 

To: VBABUFF @va.gov> 

Subject: 3696 Actions University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

FYSA 

From: VBAVACO a.gov> 

Sent: Monday, February 24, 2020 3:27 PM 

To: McClellan, Jason, VBAMUSK .i!..,gQY>; Marsh, Mitzi A. VBASTL 

- @va.gov>; Mallia, Donna P. ~ @va.goV> 

Cc: VBAVACO a.gov>; VBAVACO 

Y,a,.gOV> 

Subject: 3696 action(s) University of Phoenix 

Importance: High 

Good Aftemoon, 

The purpose of this message is to provide attached details regarding University of Phoenix. 
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Education Service has received evidence in support of allegations of false and misleading 
advertising or enrollment practices by University of Phoenix, in violation of 38 U.S.C. § 
3696. Based on current VA regulations (38 CFR § 21.4210(d)), the Director(s) of the 
Regional Processing Office(s) of jurisdiction provide formal notification of any decision(s) to 
suspend payments or disapprove all further enrollments or reenrollments of beneficiaries at 
schools believed to have employed such practices, and refer the case(s) to the committee(s) on 
educational allowances. 

VR 

Team Chief, Integrity & Protection Branch 
Oversight & Accountability 
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Sent: 
To: 

Fri, 28 May 202113:51:26 +0000 
l(b)(6) I 

Subject: RE: Tab 1 4890714 Grassley Transmittal Letter 

Fromf bJ(5) ~va.gov> 

Se nt: Friday, May 28, 2021 9:47 AM 
TofbJ(6) ~va.gov> 
Subje ct: FW: Tab 14890714 Grassley Transmittal Letter 

~ FYI only, I will let you know what additional guidance we receive. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC} ~(b)(6) t@va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, May 27, 2021 3:12 PM 
Tol(b)(6) t§>va .gov> 

Subject: RE: Tab 14890714 Grassley Transmittal Letter Aa {004) 

~ 
b)(5} 

Please contact me with any questions about this matter. 

Mike 
MICHAEL R. HOGAN 
Deputy General Counsel, General Law 
Office of General Counsel 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20420 

l(bJC6> !(Direct) 
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Fromfb)(B) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, May 27, 20211:23 PM 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGcfb)(G) @va.gov> 
Subject: Tab 1 4890714 Grassley Transmittal Letter Aa (004) 
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From: Cromwell, Sonya (OGC) 

Sent: Fri, 2 Jul 202112:13:27 +ooo"""o.,...,.,,.,... _____ _, 
To: l(b)(6) ~OGcf b)(6) l{oGC)rb)(6) 
(OGC)rb)(6) l(OGC) .___ ___ __. 

Cc: '-----~ i<b)(6) l(OGC)ICb)(6) loGC) 

Subject: RE: 04890714 Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Attachments: RE: VIEWS 4890714, RE: Pomares Litigation 

Thank~(bH5l lfor the history. Let me figure out where this is and why IALG is 
looking as if we have not completed our task. 

Sonya Marie Cromwell 
Chief Counsel 
OGC Information and Administrative Law Group (IALG) 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW, 1156A 
Washington, DC 20020 
Office Phone:<b)(5) 

VA cel l (b)(5) 
,....._ _____ _, 

Fax: 202-273-6388 

ChooseVA 
Suicide Prevention is Everyone's Business - #Be There. 
TheVeterans Crisis Line is 1-800-273-8255 and Press 1 

VA Core Values: Integrity Commitment Advocacy Respect Excellence 

VA Core Characteristics: Trustworthy I Accessible I Quality I Innovat ive I Agile I Integrated 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail message, and any attachments, may 
contain information that is private, privileged, confidential and/or prohibited 
from disclosure or unauthorized use under applicable law, and is only intended 
for the use of the party, or parties, to who it is addressed as indicated above. If 
you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any use, 
dissemination, or copying of this message, or any attachments, or any information 



(21-08490-F) - 002068

contained therein, is strictly prohibited by the sender. If you received this 
message in error, please return the material to the sender, and delete or destroy 
all copies. 

Froml(b)(6) loGC)~l(b_)<
5
_) -----~~va.gov> 

Sent: Thursday, July 1, 2021 9:27 PM 
To: Cromwell Son a OGC) .... b..-)(6_) ____ ,__ va.gov>·(b)(G) (OGC) 
b)(6) va .go._v_>...,.; .,..,b)=(6.,...) --~---, ( OG C~)...,.(""'b)"""(6""") ----.--v-a-.g~ov>;j~(b~)(6-) -----1( OGC) 

(b)C6) va. ov> 

C (b)(6) (OGC) ~(b}(6) @va.gov>; ~l(b_)(6_) ____ ~IOGC) .... fb_}(6_) ____ __,@va.gov> 

Subject: RE: 04890714 Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Good evening, 

(b)(S)- (b){6) 

Al of the above said, I would like to make sure that I don't have a Httle asterisk next to my name in views 
because someone somewhere thinks I'm holding it up. I don't know what more I can provide but if you 

want me to look into it further, I can do it on Tuesday upon my return to the office. 

Thanks. 

(b)(6) 

/Attorney// VA Office of General Counsel// Information & Administrative 
~-=---""7"1'!!"'!""!!'! ___ ......., 

Law Group/ (b)(6) 

From: Cromwell, Sonya (OGC)~b)(6) @va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, July 1, 2021 5:55- P_M ______ __, 
To: (b)(6) (OGC b)C5> laGC) 
(b)C6> (b)(6) oGc) Lb>_c6_> _ __,..-'-=~ .___ _____ ___.l (oGc) 
b)(6) va. ov> 

Hello (bl(5) 

b)(6) 

Thanks! 
Sonya 

Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

looks as if this is assigned to you. See the below question from Ms. 
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Sonya Marie Cromwell 
Chief Counsel 
OGC Information and Administrative Law Group (IALG) 

Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue, NW, 1156A 
Washington, DC 20020 
Office Phone:l(bl<5> 

VA cel l:~i<b_>(5_> ____ ~ 
Fax: 202-273-6388 

ChooseVA 
Suicide Prevention is Everyone's Business - #BeThere. 
TheVeterans Crisis Line is 1-800-273-8255 and Press 1 

VA Core Values: Integrity Commitment Advocacy Respect Excellence 

VA Core Character/st/cs: Trustworthy I Accessible I Quality I Innovative I Agile I Integrated 

CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE: This e-mail message, and any attachments, may 
contain information that is private, privileged, confidential and/or prohibited 
from disclosure or unauthorized use under applicable law, and is only intended 
for the use of the party, or parties, to who it is addressed as indicated above. If 
you are not the intended recipient, you are hereby notified that any use, 
dissemination, or copying of this message, or any attachments, or any information 
contained therein, is strictly prohibited by the sender. If you received this 
message in error, please return the material to the sender, and delete or destroy 
all copies. 

Cc: OGC Front Office Assistant* b)(6) l:@va.gov> 
Subject: RE: 04890714 Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
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Any update yet? 

Respectfully, 

Fromr l(6) f OGC)~ )(5) f va.gov> 
Sent: '-T~hu- r-sd~a-~~1~ 2~02~1.-l..~ :51 pl-,~~-----_Jr =~ 

To (b)f6) jOGC) f~b-)(6-)----~pva.gov>:fb):(6=> ========IOGC) 
b)(6 

Cc: OGC Front Office Assistanti (b)(B) ~va.gov> 
Subject: RE: 04890714 Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 

Checking on it. 

From: fbl(6) IIOGC)l(b)(6) ~ va.gov> 
Sent: Thursday, July 1, 20213:24 PM 
Tol(b)(6) UOGC)l~(b)-(6-) ----~@va.gov>[b)(5l ~OGC) 
~b)(6) @va.gov> ,__ ____ __. 

Cc OGC Front Office Assistantl(b)(
5
) ~ va.gov> 

Subject: 04890714 Letter from Senator Grassley to SECVA 
Importance: High 

H el Io .... f b_)(
5
_> ___ ___. 

I see that PLG and EST have completed their input for this task, can you 
provide an estimated complete date/time for IALG? Thank you in advance 
for your assistance. 

r b)(7)(E.) 

Respectfully, 



(21-08490-F) - 002071

From: fb)(GJ !(OGC) 

Sent: Wed, 19 May 202119:23:02 +0000 
To: f b)(G) t oGC)~~b-)(6-)-----~l(OGC);Cromwell, Sonya 

(OGCJl(b).(6) ~OGC) 
Cc: ..__ __ __, ~~b-)(6-)------~ 

Subject: RE: VIEWS 4890714 

Attachments: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

M ike Hogan is reviewing today-it was too big to fit in VIEWS. See attached. 

Thanks, 

Deputy Chief Counsel - FOIA/PA Appeals/Litigation 
Information and Administrative Law Group {024A) 
Office of General Counsel 
U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affa irs 
Office (b)(6> 

(b}(G) VA. ov 

ATTORNEY CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE - FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY. 
CAUTION. The information contained 111 this e-mail constitutes professional communications and any 
accompanying attachments may contain Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (HIPAA). 
Privacy Act, and/or Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) protected information including attorney-client or 
attorney work product privileged informi:ltton. This information may not be released or forwarded to 
anyone who ts not an authorized user/recipient without approprtate prtor authorization from the sender. If 
you are not the intended recipient of this information. any disclosure, copying. distribution, or the taking of 
any action in reliance on this information is prohibited. If you receive this e-mail in error. please notify this 
office immediately by return e-mail 

Fromf3iC6l l ( OGcf,_b_ic5_l ______ _,kwva .gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 2:45 PM ,----------, ~---~ 
To: (b)(6) (OGC) (b)(6) (6) (OGC) 
b)(6) va .gov>; CromweL,.,-,.....------.,,....,...,...,....,,,,...,..,,,,........i-----..!;;:::-v-a-.g---o-v-:->-r::(b~)(~6~) ---,( OGC) ,....._ ____ __,~ 

(b)(6) va.gov> 

Subject: FW: VIEWS 4890714 

This is over due and the front office need status. 

From:f bJ(6) ~ va .gov> 

Sent: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 2:41 PM..,,..,..,.,,.,....-----------, 
To: OGC Information Law Group Support (b)(G) oV>J bl(

6
) 

~b)(6J I ( OGC) l'ti )(6) l@~va=-.-=-go::-v-=->:_b:_1<~6_J-:_-:_-:_-:_-:_-:_-:_~,-;;( 0::-::G:::C::-;-) ~!(b~)(~6:;,.!,.)~==-==-~=:.i@:_'.":":v=--=a=:.. g:;,o~V>::-___. 

Subject: VIEWS 4890714 

Hello IALG! 
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Can the Front Office get an update on this case? 

Respectfully, 

l(b)(6) I 
Legal Assistant to the General Counsel 
Office of General Counsel Suite 1030 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Ave, NW 
Washington, DC 20240 
OGC Main: b)(6) 

Direct (b )(6) 

Cell (b)(6) 

"Serve 1he VA Mission ilnd se111e 1he Ve!erans in all tltat rm, do. /Jo rhe lwnler right thing. not the eo.,·ier 

wrong thing. '' 

- Roher! A. McD0110hl 
811' Unit,•d Stall!.\' Scc·r('II//'.)' ,if 1 ·,,,~,·,111< AJ}u11·, 

ATTENTION: For internal OGC use only and not for external transmission. This electronic document may contain 
attorney work-product or information protected under the attorney-client privilege, Do not release this information 
without prior authorization. If you received this message in error, please destroy it and all attachments immediately. 
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From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) 
Sent: Wed, 19 May 202118:08:29 +0000 
To: 

Subject: 
~b](6) l(OGC) 

RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Thank you very much for your guidance and assistance on this l(b)(6) 

Fromj(b)(B) ~OGC) fb)(B) ~va.gov> 

Se nt: Wednesday, May 19, 2021 10:38 AM 
To: Hogan, M ichael R. (OGC) fb)(6J l§)va.gov> 
Subject: RE: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 

Mike, 

Thanks, 

Deputy Chief Counsel - FOIA/PA Appeals/Litigation 
Information and Administrative Law Group (024A) 
Office of General Counsel 
U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affa irs 
(Office) b)(5) 

(b)f6) VA. ov 
ATTORNEY CONFIDENTIALITY NOTICE - FOR OFFICIAL USE ONLY 
CAUTION. The information contained in this e-mail constitutes professional communications and any 
accompanying attachments may contain Health Insurance Portability and Accountab1llty Act (HIPAA). 
Privacy Act, and/or Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) protected Information including attorney-client or 
attorney work product privileged information. This information may not be released or forwarded to 
anyone who 1s not an authorized user/recipient without appropriate prior authorization from the sender. If 
you are not the intended recipient of this Information, .iny disclosure, copying. distribution, or the taking of 
any action In reliance on this 1nformat1on is prohibited. If you receive this e-mail in error. please notify this 
office immediately by return e-mail. 

From: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) f b)(B) @?va.gov> 
Se nt: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:39 PM 
To~(b)f6) I (OGC) 4 bJ(6) @va.gov> 

Subject: FW: CLOSE HOLD FINAL APPROVAL REQUEST for VIEWS 4890714/Grassley 
Importance: High 
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Thank you. 

Mike 

From j{b)f6) ~p,,-:v=a=.g=o~v> 
Sent: Tuesday, May 18, 2021 2:15 f->M 
To: Hogan, Michael R. (OGC) (b)(6) 
(b){6) 

Importance: High 

Hello All: 

va. ov>; Cordeiro, Hansel (OAWP) 
ov> 

This is a request for OGC, OCLA, and OAWP final approval of the proposed response package for VIEWS 
4890714. This task is due COB, May, 20, 2021. Ordinarily this task would be made through VIEWS, but 
the size of one of the attachments make a VIEWS tasking unfeasible. 

The attached elements of this final approval task are as follows:. 

b)f?)(E) 

• Incoming letter 
• Transmittal letter 

• Enclosure (rough dr:aft) 
• 3 Xcel spread sheet attachments that respond to certain requests for documents. 
• And the link below which will take you to the 578 pages of releasable records requested under 

questions 4 and 8 ( You are receiving a link to these documents because the file is too large to 
send via email attachment) 

For tracking and version control purposes, please send any last comments you may have to me only. If 
the comments are significant you will have an opportunity to review again. 
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Thank yoli jn advance for completing the task by COB May 201 2021. If you have any questions, please 
do not hesitate to reach out to me. 

Executive Writer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Department of Veterans Affairs 
810 Vermont Avenue NW 
Washin on DC 
b)\6) 
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From: Parise, Ruthann 
Sent: Thu, 1 Jul 202115:25:42 +0000 
To: ~b)(6J !( OGC) 
Subject: 

You' re welcom~(b)(6) 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 

RE: Pomares Litigation 

OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs {OSVA) 
ruthann .parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 

This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from discfosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 

Fromfb)(6) !Catherine (OGC) ~ .... (b_)f6_l _____ _,@va.gov> 

Se nt: Thursday, July 1, 202111:17 AM 
To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Pomares Litigation 

Thanks for keeping t rack of this Ruthann. Much appreciated. 

Cathy 
Catherine Flatley Nachmann //Attorney// VA Office of General Counsel// Information & Administrative 
Law Group f 1(b)!6l I 
From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, June 30, 202111:08 AM 
To: (b)(61 OGC) 4(b)(6) ~ va.gov>; ~b)<G) l(OGC) 
00~ ~- ~ ~-------' 

Subject: Re: Pomares Litigation 

Thanks l<oJ(6) I 
Respectfully, 
Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept. of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
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ruthann .parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 

From, bH6) kOGC) <l(b)[B) ~ Va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesday, June 30, 2021 10:55:09 AM 
To: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov>;r.c!(b..,.,)ffi=)------,l(OGC) 

l!b){6) @va.gov> 
Subject: RE: Pomares Litigation 

Hi, Ruthann. Thanks for the update. I attached the email with the Grassley st ring. 

Attorney 
Office of General Counsel, Information & Administrative Law Group 
Washington, DC - outstationed in the Bay Area 

f b)(6) I 
From: Parise, Ruthann <Ruthann.Parise@va.gov> 
Sent: Wednesda June 30, 2021 7:09 AM 
To (b)(6) (OGC) ~.,,.b.,...,)(6=)-------.wva.gov> 

Cc:(b){6) . (OGC} { b)(6) @va.gov> 

Subject: Pomares Litigation 

Hi ~ 

Cheers! 

Respectfully, 

Ruthann Parise 
OSVA FOIA/Privacy Officer 
Office of the Executive Secretary 
Office of the Secretary, U.S. Dept . of Veterans Affairs (OSVA) 
ruthann.parise@va.gov 
Phone: (202) 461-4866 
iPhone: (202) 306-3112 
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This message and attachments, if any, are For Official Use Only, not to be shared outside intended 
parties, and may be exempt from disclosure pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 552. If you received this message and 
attachments, if any, in error, you must inform the FOIA Officer and destroy them immediately. 




